

Cleveland State University EngagedScholarship@CSU

Biological, Geological, and Environmental Faculty Publications

Biological, Geological, and Environmental Sciences Department

10-2023

### **Meiosis in Budding Yeast**

G. Valentin Borner

Andreas Hochwagen

Amy J. MacQueen

Follow this and additional works at: https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/scibges\_facpub Part of the Biology Commons, and the Cell Biology Commons How does access to this work benefit you? Let us know!

https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/iyad125 Advance Access Publication Date: 24 August 2023 Yeastbook

# OXFORD GENETICS

## Meiosis in budding yeast

G. Valentin Börner,<sup>1,\*,†</sup> Andreas Hochwagen,<sup>2,†</sup> Amy J. MacQueen<sup>3,†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Center for Gene Regulation in Health and Disease (GRHD), Department of Biological, Geological and Environmental Sciences, Cleveland State University, Cleveland, OH 44115, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biology, New York University, New York, NY 10003, USA

<sup>3</sup>Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry, Wesleyan University, Middletown, CT 06459, USA

\*Corresponding author: Email: g.boerner@csuohio.edu <sup>†</sup>These authors contributed equally to this work.

### Abstract

Meiosis is a specialized cell division program that is essential for sexual reproduction. The two meiotic divisions reduce chromosome number by half, typically generating haploid genomes that are packaged into gametes. To achieve this ploidy reduction, meiosis relies on highly unusual chromosomal processes including the pairing of homologous chromosomes, assembly of the synaptonemal complex, programmed formation of DNA breaks followed by their processing into crossovers, and the segregation of homologous chromosomes during the first meiotic division. These processes are embedded in a carefully orchestrated cell differentiation program with multiple interdependencies between DNA metabolism, chromosome morphogenesis, and waves of gene expression that together ensure the correct number of chromosomes is delivered to the next generation. Studies in the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* have established essentially all fundamental paradigms of meiosis-specific chromosome metabolism and have uncovered components and molecular mechanisms that underlie these conserved processes. Here, we provide an overview of all stages of meiosis in this key model system and highlight how basic mechanisms of genome stability, chromosome architecture, and cell cycle control have been adapted to achieve the unique outcome of meiosis.

Keywords: meiosis, budding yeast, review, recombination, synaptonemal complex, chromosome segregation, cell cycle control, checkpoint

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Meiotic entry and pre-meiotic S phase	2
Architecture and assembly of axial elements	3
Meiotic recombination	5
DSB formation	5
DSB resection	7
DSB strand exchange and recombination pathway choice	8
Roles of Dmc1 and Rad51 in DSB strand exchange	8
Suppression of recombination with the sister chromatid	9
Processing of crossover-designated recombination	
intermediates	9
Non-crossover formation via synthesis-dependent strand	
annealing (SDSA)	10
Processing of class II recombination events into crossovers	
and non-crossovers	10
Homolog pairing and reinforcement of chromosome	
alignment	10
Role of recombination in homolog pairing	10
Recombination-independent pairing mechanisms	12
Leptotene centromere coupling	12
Telomere bouquet	12

Rapid prophase movements (RPMs) The SC: an outcome of successful homolog pairing ZMM proteins link recombination to SC assembly The functional relationship between SC and recombination	12 12 13 13
Spatial and temporal control of recombination Recombination frequencies vary between genome regions Control of crossover distribution Crossover interference and crossover assurance Crossover homeostasis	13 13 14 14 14
Downregulation of interhomolog recombination in late prophase I The recombination checkpoint	15 15
Exit from prophase I Hallmark events of prophase I exit are triggered by polo-like kinase Cdc5 Control of Ndt80-mediated middle-gene expression Control of prophase I exit	15 15 16
Meiotic commitment Metaphase I	16 16
Metaphase I to anaphase I transition	18
Transitioning from meiosis I to meiosis II	18
Non-chromosomal genetic elements in meiosis	19
Outlook	19

© The Author(s) 2023. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of The Genetics Society of America.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

### Introduction

Meiosis is the specialized cell division program used by sexually reproducing organisms to reduce their chromosome number by half, generating haploid gametes. To achieve this unique reduction in chromosome number, meiotic cells replicate their genome and then undergo two consecutive nuclear divisions without an intervening S phase. Ploidy is reduced during the meiosis I division, when homologous parental chromosomes (homologs) segregate from one another. Meiosis II is a mitosis-like division that separates sister chromatids.

Meiosis and mitosis exhibit many commonalities, prompting the idea that meiosis could be evolutionarily derived from mitosis (Wilkins and Holliday 2009). Yet, several key features of meiosis are not part of the mitotic program. When compared to mitosis, the meiotic program has evolved at least four key modifications:

- (i) Homolog pairing and synapsis. As a prerequisite for their reductional segregation, homologous chromosomes physically pair during meiosis. Pairing is reinforced by the assembly of the synaptonemal complex (SC), a zipper-like structure that connects the proteinaceous axes of homologs along their entire length (Page and Hawley 2004).
- (ii) Recombination. During mitosis, cohesion between sister chromatids provides a counterforce to microtubules from opposite spindle poles, thereby generating the tension needed for bipolar attachment and accurate segregation of sister chromatids (Marston 2014). During meiosis I, functionally equivalent connections between homologs are provided by inter-homolog crossovers in combination with sister-chromatid cohesion. Crossovers arise from the programmed induction, and repair, via homologous recombination, of a large number of DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs). While primarily serving a critical mechanistic function in chromosome segregation, crossovers also have an important evolutionary role because the resulting new allele combinations increase genetic diversity in offspring.
- (iii) Stepwise loss of cohesion and kinetochore architecture. In mitotic cells at metaphase, the sister kinetochores of replicated chromosomes are bioriented, and inter-sister cohesion is lost along the entire length of chromosomes at the metaphase-anaphase transition. During the metaphaseanaphase transition of meiosis I, each pair of sister kinetochores is co-oriented, and cohesion along chromosome arms is selectively eliminated. Pericentromeric sister chromatid cohesion, by contrast, is protected during meiosis I, to be eliminated only during meiosis II. These modifications ensure that homologs segregate during meiosis I, whereas sisterchromatids segregate during meiosis II (Marston 2014).
- (iv) Replication suppression prior to meiosis II. During meiosis, one round of replication is followed by two rounds of chromosome segregation. To achieve this unusual cell cycle pattern, replication initiation must be suppressed between meiosis I and meiosis II (Benjamin et al. 2003; Phizicky et al. 2018).

All four meiosis-specific modifications are conserved among sexually reproducing eukaryotes (Ramesh *et al.* 2005). Meiosis furthermore is typically embedded within a larger program of gametogenesis that either packages the meiotic products for fertilization or prepares them for the haploid phase of the life cycle. In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, meiosis is integrated with a starvation response and a developmental process that encapsulates the

four gametes with stress-resistant cell walls to form a tetrad of spores inside an ascus (Neiman 2011).

The budding yeast S. cerevisiae has become a major model for meiosis research due to several key features. (i) Most budding yeast genes central to meiosis are conserved among sexually reproducing organisms, including animals, plants and fungi (Ramesh et al. 2005). (ii) Near synchronous meiosis can be induced in large cultures by simple manipulation of nutritional conditions (Börner and Cha 2015). (iii) The four haploid spore products of meiosis remain connected as a tetrad, allowing the investigator to isolate and analyze all products of a single meiosis. (iv) Spores resume haploid growth allowing ready analyses of genotypes and phenotypes. (v) Events of chromosome morphogenesis and the localization of chromosomal proteins can be observed using immunofluorescence microscopy of surface-spread or live cells (Sym et al. 1993; Koszul et al. 2008). (vi) Recombination intermediates and products can be directly monitored by physical analysis of DNA molecules containing recombination hotspots (Ahuja and Borner 2011). Importantly, these tools and features of the budding yeast experimental system allow one to assess, in the same cell population, transitions in global chromosome architecture as well as the molecular events that occur between DNA duplexes (Kim et al. 2010).

In describing our current understanding of the molecular processes that underpin meiosis, this review will largely follow the temporal order outlined in Fig. 1 while considering causal relationships between parallel processes in DNA metabolism and chromosome morphogenesis. We place particular emphasis on meiotic prophase I, the extended cell-cycle stage when many meiosisspecific patterns are established, and the two meiotic nuclear divisions, when functional outcomes of these patterns are realized.

### Meiotic entry and pre-meiotic S phase

The meiotic program is initiated by a major wave of gene expression mediated by the master transcriptional regulator Ime1 and its co-activator Ume6 (Kassir *et al.* 1988, 2003; Mandel *et al.* 1994; Rubin-Bejerano *et al.* 1996). IME1 activation involves a number of integrated intrinsic and extrinsic cues, including mating-type heterozygosity, low nutrient availability, and mitochondrial activity, to ensure that only respiration-competent diploid cells under severe nutrient limitation activate the meiotic program (Simchen and Kassir 1989; Treinin and Simchen 1993; Jambhekar and Amon 2008; Weidberg *et al.* 2016). Ime1/Ume6 induce starvation response genes and factors involved in pre-meiotic replication, recombination, and chromosome morphogenesis (Chu *et al.* 1998; Primig *et al.* 2000).

Several additional layers of regulation fine-tune meiotic entry. First, although rare in the yeast genome, introns can be found in multiple meiosis-specific genes (Juneau et al. 2007). While primary transcripts of these genes are detectable in premeiotic cells, splicing of their introns tends to be meiosis-specific and depends on the meiotic splicing activator Mer1, thereby ensuring that mature transcripts are restricted to meiosis (Engebrecht et al. 1991). Second, Ime1 induces the expression of numerous non-coding transcripts (Brar et al. 2012; Kim Guisbert et al. 2012). In several cases, production of these non-coding transcripts impedes the expression of overlapping genes, and thus allows Ime1 to also downregulate genes (Chen et al. 2017; Chia et al. 2017). Finally, the m<sup>6</sup>A methyltransferase Ime4 mediates large-scale methylation of meiotic mRNAs (Clancy et al. 2002; Schwartz et al. 2013). Methylation in the 3' untranslated region of IME1 mRNA counters binding of the meiotic repressor Rme1, which increases IME1 transcript levels and locks cells into the meiotic program (Shah and Clancy 1992; Agarwala et al. 2012; Bushkin et al. 2019).



**Fig. 1.** Timeline of meiosis. Top panels show changes in chromosome number and recombination as cells progress from premeiotic DNA replication, through meiotic prophase I into the two meiotic divisions. A diploid mother cell ultimately gives rise to an ascus-enclosed tetrad of four genetically distinct haploid spores. Lower panels schematically depict changes in a) chromosome alignment and compaction, b) intermediate stages of recombination, and c) chromosome positioning during the stages of meiotic prophase I.

In the fast sporulating "SK1" yeast strain background, premeiotic S phase initiates within about an hour of exposing diploids to severe starvation (Cha et al. 2000), whereas this transition is substantially slower and less synchronous in other strain backgrounds commonly used for meiosis research, such as "BR2495" (Sym et al. 1993). Pre-meiotic DNA replication is similar to vegetative replication in that it uses the general replication machinery, initiates largely at the same origins, and requires Dbf4-dependent kinase (DDK) (Collins and Newlon 1994; Valentin et al. 2006; Mori and Shirahige 2007; Blitzblau et al. 2012). However, the regulation of cyclindependent kinase (CDK) is altered in several ways during meiosis. Unlike in vegetative cells, the initiation of pre-meiotic DNA replication depends absolutely on the S-phase cyclins Clb5 and Clb6 (Stuart and Wittenberg 1998). Moreover, the CDK-like meiotic kinase Ime2 replaces the G1-CDKs (Cdc28-Cln1-3) in mediating the proteasomal degradation of the CDK inhibitor Sic1 (Dirick et al. 1998; Benjamin et al. 2003). This independence from G1 cyclins ensures that meiotic cells do not undergo bud formation (Colomina et al. 1999). The low nucleotide availability under starvation conditions and concurrent initiation of changes in chromosome morphology cause replication in meiotic cells to be slower and less synchronous compared to vegetative cells (Cha et al. 2000; Blitzblau et al. 2012; Hong et al. 2019). Perhaps to accommodate these delays and to prevent DSBs from blocking progression of the replication fork, several mechanisms restrict recombination initiation to replicated DNA (Borde et al. 2000; Hochwagen et al. 2005; Blitzblau and Hochwagen 2013; Murakami and Keeney 2014).

### Architecture and assembly of axial elements

Coincident with their replication, meiotic chromosomes initiate a program of chromatin loop formation and compaction, which changes their microscopic appearance from an amorphous chromatin "cloud" to distinct chromosomal bodies (Zickler and Kleckner 1998, 1999). The distinctive appearance of chromosomes helps to define five substages of the ensuing meiotic prophase and is also associated with key molecular events at the DNA level (Fig. 1) (Padmore et al. 1991; Zickler and Kleckner 1998, 1999). During the leptotene stage, as DNA replication is completed and programmed recombination is initiated, the chromatin of DAPI-stained, surface-spread nuclei appears diffuse like frayed cotton. During zygotene, individual chromosomes thicken and become more thread-like as they develop a meiosis-specific, proteinrich "core" called the axial element. At this stage, chromosome axes begin to align in pairs as DNA breaks identify homologous regions for processing into recombination products. At pachytene, homologous chromosomes are maximally thickened around a lengthwise-aligned pair of compacted axes, exhibiting a level of individualization that far exceeds that of yeast mitotic metaphase chromosomes. Aligned pachytene homologs feature an abundance of joint molecule (JM) inter-homolog recombination intermediates. Toward the end of pachytene or in diplotene, recombination intermediates are resolved, and chromosomes progressively lose their individualization, again appearing diffuse (J. S. Ahuja and G.V.B., unpublished) (Padmore et al. 1991; Klein et al. 1999; Zickler and Kleckner 1999).

In ultrastructural images, zygotene and pachytene chromosomes appear as linear arrays of chromatin loops, each array anchored to a protein-rich axis (Fig. 2, a and c) (Moens and Pearlman 1988; Zickler and Kleckner 1999). Chromatin loops have an estimated average size of 20 kb and their formation depends on the meiosis-specific cohesin complex in which Rec8 replaces the canonical kleisin Scc1 (a.k.a. Mcd1) (Klein *et al.* 1999; Muller *et al.* 2018; Schalbetter *et al.* 2019). Consistent with a foundational role for Rec8-cohesin in axial element formation, Rec8 binding sites coincide with chromatin loop boundaries identified in Hi-C



**Fig. 2.** Meiotic chromosome axis and SC development. a) Illustration of meiotic chromosome axis development. SMC ring complexes (condensin, grey; meiotic cohesin, green) promote the formation of ~20 kb chromatin loops, through embrace of discrete, non-contiguous regions of a single DNA molecule, and/or loop extrusion activity. Sister chromatid loops anchor to a shared, protein-rich axis. Red1 and Hop1 proteins (orange, yellow) localize along the length of chromosome axes during leptotene and promote the formation of Spo11-mediated DNA double strand breaks, initiating homologous recombination and pairing between homologous chromosomes. b) Schematic of synaptonemal complex (SC) in budding yeast, which generates a ~100 nm bridge between axes along the length of partner chromosomes. SC assembly involves the multimerization of several proteins, including the transverse filament protein Zip1 and central element proteins Ecm11 and Gmc2. Zip1 forms parallel dimers through an extended central coiled-coil region; two Zip1 dimers span the width of the SC with their C termini alongside chromosome axes and their N termini toward the SC midline. The Ecm11–Gmc2 complexes assemble at the midline of the SC. A subset of interhomolog recombination initiation and ZMM proteins, and initiates from such nascent crossover-fated recombination sic. SC assembly depends upon recombination initiation and ZMM proteins, and initiates from such nascent crossover-fated recombination sic (DAPI-stained DNA, white). Right panel: The ZMM protein Msh4 (green, far right panel) marks interhomolog crossover-designated recombination intermediates associated with the central element (Ecm11, magenta) of the SC. Bar, 1 µm.

experiments, suggesting that cohesin localizes at the base of chromatin loops (Muller et al. 2018; Schalbetter et al. 2019). Rec8-cohesin is preferentially enriched between convergent gene pairs, resulting in a quasi-regular binding pattern along the length of meiotic chromosomes (Glynn et al. 2004; Sun et al. 2015). Although looping patterns appear reproducible at a population level, modeling and experimental data indicate that Rec8-cohesin occupancy is variable between cells and even from chromatid to chromatid within a pair of homologs, possibly contributing to cell-specific usage of recombination sites (Schalbetter *et al.* 2019).

Analogous to the mechanism of cohesion in mitotically dividing cells, the meiotic cohesin complex associates with chromatin prior to premeiotic replication. Upon passage of the premeiotic replication fork, cohesin becomes cohesive through acetylation of the universal cohesin component Smc3 by acetyltransferase Eco1 (Marston 2014). How Rec8-cohesin promotes the formation of arrayed chromatin loops remains unclear, but this process may involve chromatin loop extrusion. Rec8-cohesin contains ATP-dependent DNA motors of the SMC-family, which in several related complexes can promote the extrusion of DNA, resulting in the formation of loops (Terakawa et al. 2017; Ganji et al. 2018; Davidson et al. 2019). Indeed, meiotic cells depleted for Pds5, a negative regulator of cohesin ATPase activity, display strikingly shortened axial elements. As shorter axes are expected to correspond to longer loops, this phenotype supports the importance of cohesin's DNA extrusion activity in the formation of chromatin loop-arrays (Jin et al. 2009; Petela et al. 2018; Song et al. 2021). In addition, another SMC complex, condensin, localizes to axial elements and imparts a certain degree of axial compaction, as well as chromosome individualization (Yu and Koshland 2003; Zhang et al. 2014).

When Rec8's vegetative paralog Scc1 is ectopically expressed during meiosis as the sole kleisin subunit, it fails to support proper recombination and SC assembly even though it localizes to the same chromosomal sites as Rec8 and promotes sister chromatid cohesion (Toth et al. 2000; Lee and Amon 2003; Brar et al. 2009; Sun et al. 2015). This indicates that Rec8 serves unique roles during meiosis beyond sister cohesion and loop extrusion. Such roles likely include the recruitment of the meiosis-specific axis proteins: Red1 and Hop1 are major regulators of meiotic recombination that localize to axial element structures in a manner that is largely dependent on Rec8-cohesin and possibly condensin (Hollingsworth et al. 1990; Smith and Roeder 1997; Klein et al. 1999; Yu and Koshland 2003; Panizza et al. 2011). Red1 and Hop1 do not share the foundational structural role of Rec8-cohesin in axis assembly because Rec8-cohesin localizes normally along chromosomes in the absence of Red1 (Sun et al. 2015). Moreover, proteinaceous chromosomal core structures detected by electron microscopy are morphologically intact in both red1 and hop1 mutants, suggesting the formation of at least a nascent axial element structure (Rockmill and Roeder 1990; Klein et al. 1999). At the same time, hop1 mutants display genome-wide shifts in loop structure (Schalbetter et al. 2019) and loss of either Red1 or Hop1 results in abnormally diffuse mid-meiotic prophase chromosome morphology, indicating a role for these proteins in chromosome compaction (Nag et al. 1995; Yu and Koshland 2003). Red1 and Hop1 may affect higher-order chromatin folding via their critical functions in meiotic DSB formation, as a DSB-deficient spo11 mutant displays chromosome individualization defects similar to red1 and hop1 mutants (Mao-Draayer et al. 1996; Smith and Roeder 1997; Klein et al. 1999; Macqueen and Roeder 2009; Yisehak and MacQueen 2018).

Recruitment of Red1 to chromosome axes likely depends on its interaction with Rec8, as suggested by co-immunoprecipitation as well as proximity labeling experiments (Sun *et al.* 2015). Hop1, in turn, binds to Red1 (De Los Santos and Hollingsworth 1999; Woltering *et al.* 2000; West *et al.* 2018) and depends on Red1 for its association with Rec8-associated axial elements (Smith and Roeder 1997; Sun *et al.* 2015). In addition, Red1 and Hop1 also bind independently of Rec8 in regions with elevated nucleosome density and dependent on Hop1's PHD-like domain (Heldrich *et al.* 2022). Finally, Hop1 and Red1 also exhibit in vitro DNA binding activity with a preference for non-duplex, branched DNA, raising the possibility that the axis-association of Hop1 and Red1 involves direct engagement with DNA (Kironmai *et al.* 1998; Kshirsagar et al. 2017). Both Red1 and Hop1 can form higher-order assemblies: Red1 forms homo-tetrameric bundles that can further oligomerize (Woltering et al. 2000; West et al. 2019), while the HORMA (Hop1-Rev7-Mad2) domain of Hop1 binds to so-called "closure" protein-protein interaction motifs in Red1's C terminus (West et al. 2018). Hop1 also binds a closure motif in its own C-terminus (West et al. 2018), potentially allowing for the formation of higher-order Hop1 assemblies, as demonstrated for several Hop1 orthologs in C. elegans (Kim et al. 2014).

Somewhat surprisingly, axial element assembly occurs independent of DNA replication even though the two processes normally happen contemporaneously. Double mutants missing the cyclins Clb5 and Clb6 fail to initiate pre-meiotic DNA synthesis but show normal enrichment patterns for Rec8, Red1, and Hop1 (Smith *et al.* 2001; Blitzblau *et al.* 2012). Furthermore, Red1 and Hop1 assemblies formed in the absence of replication support proper axial element function, as chromosomes in replicationdeficient *cdc6-mn* (meiotic null) mutants undergo homolog pairing, at least some SC assembly, and (interhomolog) recombination (Hochwagen *et al.* 2005; Brar *et al.* 2009; Blitzblau *et al.* 2012). Thus, meiotic cohesin mediates axis assembly even when it does not provide cohesion between sister chromatids.

### Meiotic recombination DSB formation

DSB formation and processing are an integral part of the meiotic program. Recombination is initiated by the formation of ~170 DSBs in every meiotic nucleus, distributed along most of the yeast genome (Nicolas *et al.* 1989; Padmore *et al.* 1991; Pan *et al.* 2011). Genome-wide analyses have identified ~3,600 meiotic DSB hotspots, a subset of which is used in different cells within a population (Gerton *et al.* 2000; Blitzblau *et al.* 2007; Buhler *et al.* 2007; Pan *et al.* 2011). DSBs form in a largely sequence non-specific manner and occur primarily in nucleosome-free promoter regions, within segments of 200–1,000 bp. At the most active hotspots, DSB formation is sufficiently common to be detectable by Southern blot analysis, with the engineered HIS4::LEU2 hotspot breaking in essentially every cell (Cao *et al.* 1990; Zhang *et al.* 2011).

DSB formation depends on three physically interconnected yet functionally distinct protein subcomplexes that together control the catalytic activity of the DSB-forming enzyme Spo11 (Fig. 3). Spo11 is a meiosis-specific transesterase that shares sequence similarity with the catalytic component of archaebacterial topoisomerase VI (Bergerat *et al.* 1997). Like other type II topoisomerases, two Spo11 molecules undergo nucleophilic attack of phosphates in both DNA strands via a highly conserved tyrosine, generating 2-nucleotide staggered 5' overhangs at the cleaved site (De Massy *et al.* 1995; Liu *et al.* 1995; Xu and Kleckner 1995; Keeney *et al.* 1997; Claeys Bouuaert *et al.* 2021). Unlike topoisomerase VI, however, Spo11 does not re-ligate the cleaved strands, but remains covalently attached to the DNA ends, producing a protein-capped DSB (Keeney *et al.* 1997).

Archeal topoisomerase VI is a heterotetramer comprising two A and two B subunits (Forterre *et al.* 2007). The A subunit is characterized by the "Toprim" domain also found in Spo11 (and other topoisomerases and primases), whereas Spo11 interaction partners Rec102 and Rec104 jointly exhibit a remote similarity with the B subunit of the type-II topoisomerase gate complex (Salem *et al.* 1999; Robert *et al.* 2016; Vrielynck *et al.* 2016; Claeys Bouuaert *et al.* 2021). Ski8 as the fourth protein in the catalytic DSB core complex lacks sequence similarity with topoisomerase VI but interacts with Spo11 directly as a presumed scaffolding



**Fig. 3.** Tethered loop-axis model of meiotic DSB formation. a) DSBs occur in chromatin loops devoid of axis proteins Red1, Hop1 and cohesin kleisin subunit Rec8, in nucleosome-free regions upstream of transcription start sites or between diverging transcription units (arrows). Sectored circles indicate nucleosomes, with histone H3 of the first histone of each transcription unit carrying a trimethylation at lysine K4. H3K4 trimethylation and H3K4 recognition are carried out by COMPASS complex components Set1 and Spp1, respectively. b) Loop DNA is recruited to the emerging chromosome axis via interaction between histone reader Spp1 with both H3K4<sup>me3</sup> and the axis-associated RMM complex. c) The RMM complex recruits the catalytic core comprising Spo11–Rec102–Rec104 together with Ski8 (not shown) to initiate DSB formation in loop sequences, but in association with chromosome axes. The DSB formation and resection MRX complex also localizes to DSB sites but is omitted for clarity.

component (Arora et al. 2004; Claeys Bouuaert et al. 2021). Whereas Spo11, Rec102, and Rec104 are meiosis-specific proteins, Ski8 also performs functions unrelated to recombination during vegetative growth in the cytoplasm but translocates to the nucleus during meiosis (Arora et al. 2004).

Spo11 activity requires two additional subcomplexes that couple DSB formation to the axial element and to DSB processing, respectively, thereby ensuring that Spo11-DSBs only form when they can readily be repaired. The meiosis-specific Rec114-Mer2-Mei4 (RMM) complex consists of Rec114, Mer2 (a.k.a. Rec107), and Mei4 (Fig. 3b). Mer2, which is capable of forming a phaseseparated condensate, interacts with Rec102/Rec104, assembles DNA-mediated nucleoprotein ensembles, and recruits Spo11 complexes (Menees and Roeder 1989; Malone et al. 1991; Rockmill, Engebrecht, et al. 1995; Li et al. 2006; Maleki et al. 2007; Claeys Bouuaert et al. 2021). Mer2 further couples DSB formation to replication, undergoing consecutive phosphorylation by CDK and DDK (Henderson et al. 2006; Sasanuma et al. 2008; Wan et al. 2008). Mer2 phosphorylation by replisome-associated kinase DDK ensures that DSBs form only after passage of the replication fork, although this coupling appears to be bypassed in cdc6-mn mutants (Blitzblau and Hochwagen 2013; Murakami and Keeney 2014).

A third protein subcomplex required for meiotic DSB formation, MRX, is shared with vegetative DNA damage response (DDR) pathways. MRX comprises the endo/exonuclease Mre11, Rad50, an SMC protein and ATPase that assembles into a large ring structure capable of embracing and/or bridging DNA molecules, as well as Xrs2, a protein required for the nuclear translocation of Mre11 and Rad50 (Oh *et al.* 2016). Whereas the role of MRX in vegetative cells is limited to DSB resection, during meiosis it is also indispensable for DSB formation. Like Spo11, chromosomal distribution of MRX is strongly correlated with DSB positions and frequencies (Borde *et al.* 2004; Pan *et al.* 2011). Functions of MRX in DSB formation and resection are separable, as *mre11S* and *rad50S* alleles are functional for DSB formation yet defective for resection (below) (Alani *et al.* 1990; Nairz and Klein 1997).

Unlike other Spo11-interacting proteins, the RMM complex is not enriched at DSB hotspots, but instead localizes to axial-element sites likely via interaction with Hop1 (Panizza *et al.* 2011). The positional anticorrelation between DSB sites and axis protein Red1 as well as the RMM complex led to the "tethered-loop-axis complex" model, where Spo11 cuts DSB sites located in non-axis associated loop DNA, thereby bringing the recombination site to the chromosome axis for subsequent processing steps (Fig. 3) (Blat et al. 2002; Panizza et al. 2011; Acquaviva et al. 2013; Sommermeyer et al. 2013). Notably, however, DSBs are less abundant but not abolished in mutants missing axial element proteins Rec8 or Red1, indicating that RMM complexes can activate DSB formation without an axial element (Mao-Draayer et al. 1996; Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Blat and Kleckner 1999; Klein et al. 1999; Carballo et al. 2008; Kugou et al. 2009; Sun et al. 2015).

The exact position of DSBs within chromatin loops is controlled epigenetically, via interaction of the DSB machinery with trimethylated histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4me3). This histone modification occurs predominantly at the first nucleosome within ORFs, both in meiotic and vegetative cells, accounting for frequent association of DSB hotspots with (divergent) promoters (Sollier et al. 2004; Blitzblau et al. 2007). Interaction between meiotic axes and looplocated H3K4me3 occurs via the RMM component Mer2, which interacts with the histone modifying COMPASS complex to form a physical bridge between DSB site and axial element (Pan et al. 2011; Acquaviva et al. 2013; Sommermeyer et al. 2013). The COMPASS complex carries out trimethylation of histone H3K4 via its catalytic component Set1 (Fig. 3a). Links between DSB sites and the RMM complex are directly stabilized by another COMPASS complex component, the histone reader Spp1, which can simultaneously interact with H3K4me3 via its PHD finger motif and with Mer2 (Acquaviva et al. 2013; Sommermeyer et al. 2013; Rousova et al. 2021). Importantly, targeting Spp1 to a region that lacks H3K4me3 suffices to induce Spo11-mediated DSB formation (Sommermeyer et al. 2013). H3K4 trimethylation further depends on mono-ubiquitylation of histone H2B by the E2/E3 ubiquitin ligase pair Rad6/Bre1 and on the PAF1C complex, explaining effects of these proteins on DSB formation (Sollier et al. 2004; Yamashita et al. 2004; Gothwal et al. 2016). At the same time, not all H3K4me3 sites are correlated with DSBs and vice versa, suggesting the involvement of other determinants (Borde et al. 2009; Bani Ismail et al. 2014).

Finally, the 26S proteasome is recruited to chromosomes in a meiosis-specific manner at the time of DSB formation and is required for efficient DSB formation, raising the possibility that DSB formation involves protein degradation in close proximity to the chromosome axis (Ahuja *et al.* 2017; Yang *et al.* 2022).



**Fig. 4.** Homologous recombination pathways during meiosis. The recombination model shows two allelic double stranded DNA molecules from homologous chromosomes in blue and red. Spo11, covalently attached to the 5' ends of the cleaved strand, is indicated by a filled circle. 3' ends and newly synthesized DNA are indicated by arrowheads and short arrows in blue or red, respectively, without consideration of ligation status. Recombination between sister chromatids likely involves equivalent intermediates as recombination between homologs, and only the names of the relevant molecules are provided (intersister single end invasion, IS-SEI; intersister double Holliday junction, IS-dHJ). Single end invasion (SEI) and double Holliday junction (dHJ), molecules are thought to exist in two conformations, as indicated by the dotted vertical line in black. Movements of Holliday junctions are indicated by open arrows. To generate crossovers from dHJs, the two tandem Holliday junctions need to be resolved with opposite directionalities, either by two single stranded nicks that flank each junction or via nicks of both crossing strands (see text for details).

#### DSB resection

DSB formation is rapidly followed by 5' resection, during which both Spo11-capped DNA strands are nicked endonucleolytically up to 300 nucleotides from the DSB site via the single-stranded nicking activities of the MRX complex in association with Mre11 activator Sae2 (a.k.a. Com1) (Fig. 4) (Neale et al. 2005; Garcia et al. 2011; Cannavo and Cejka 2014; Anand et al. 2016; Arora et al. 2017). Accordingly, unresected DSBs physically linked to Spo11

accumulate in *sae2D* [delta] as well as *mre11S* and *rad50S* meiotic cells. (Alani et al. 1990; Keeney et al. 1997; McKee and Kleckner 1997a; Nairz and Klein 1997; Prinz et al. 1997). Resection initiation depends on Sae2 phosphorylation by checkpoint kinases Tel1<sup>ATM</sup> and Mec1<sup>ATR</sup>, with the former playing a more critical role in resection during early meiosis when DSB abundance is low (Cartagena-Lirola et al. 2006; Joshi et al. 2015; Mimitou et al. 2017). Using the nick as an entry point for exonucleolytic resection, the MRX complex resects towards the DSB site in the 3' to 5' direction, releasing two Spo11-linked oligonucleotide species 23-37 and <12 nucleotides in length (Neale et al. 2005; Garcia et al. 2011). Exonuclease Exo1 resects away from the DSB site, extending the single stranded resection tract to ~800 nucleotides (Tsubouchi and Ogawa 2000; Zakharyevich et al. 2010; Mimitou et al. 2017). The resulting 3' single-stranded overhangs form the substrate for all subsequent homology search and strand exchange reactions.

## DSB strand exchange and recombination pathway choice

To initiate homology-directed DSB repair, the single-stranded 3' DNA overhang invades an intact double-stranded DNA template, either on the homologous chromosome (red; Fig. 4) or on the sister chromatid (blue), displacing an intact DNA strand with the same directionality and undergoing base pairing with the complementary strand giving rise to a D-loop intermediate. All interhomolog recombination events likely are initiated by nascent D-loops involving side-by-side (paranemic) interactions between singlestranded DNA segments, which are subsequently converted into a topologically interwound (plectonemic) interaction (Hunter and Kleckner 2001). A subset of these early intermediates eventually progresses into stable interhomolog single-end invasions (SEIs), the earliest detectable JM recombination intermediates associated with the crossover outcome (Allers and Lichten 2001a; Hunter and Kleckner 2001). By contrast, D-loop intermediates that give rise to non-crossovers have eluded detection by 2D gel Southern blot analysis likely because they are unstable (Börner et al. 2004). Single end invasions are converted into interhomolog double-Holliday junctions following DNA synthesis at both invading 3' ends, capture of the second DSB end, and re-ligation of DSBs (Schwacha and Kleckner 1995; Lao et al. 2008). Double-Holliday junctions entail fully-ligated DNA strands that are separated by ~260 bp of heteroduplex DNA between the two junctions, corresponding to ~90 nm of B-form duplex DNA (Bell and Byers 1983; Schwacha and Kleckner 1995; Cromie et al. 2006; Oh et al. 2008). Prior to DSB second end capture, the Holliday junction frequently branch migrates away from the DSB site, generating a double-Holliday junction positioned entirely on one side of the DSB (Allers and Lichten 2001b; Lao et al. 2008; Ahuja et al. 2021) (Fig. 4). Consistent with this model, heteroduplex DNA in crossover products is often detected only on one side of the DSB (Allers and Lichten 2001b; Ahuja et al. 2021).

Whereas DSB repair in mitotically dividing cells uses the sister chromatid as template (Kadyk and Hartwell 1992; Symington *et al.* 2014), during meiosis a non-sister chromatid belonging to the homolog is the preferred recombination partner, as the goal is to create crossover linkages that support homolog segregation (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997). Recombination intermediates between sister chromatids are formed at lower frequencies and are actively suppressed during meiosis (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Kim *et al.* 2010; Lao *et al.* 2013; Callender *et al.* 2016), although prior to stabilization of inter-homolog SEIs, invading 3' ssDNA ends frequently change recombination templates between homolog and sister chromatid (McMahill et al. 2007; Marsolier-Kergoat et al. 2018; Sandhu et al. 2020; Ahuja et al. 2021). It is also noteworthy that intersister repair is suppressed only transiently during meiosis, as indicated by frequent repair with the sister chromatid during early meiosis (Joshi et al. 2015), in absence of a matching DNA sequence on the homolog (Goldfarb and Lichten 2010) and during arrest in mid-to-late prophase I (Subramanian et al. 2016).

Like the crossover pathway between homologs, DSB repair between sister chromatids involves intersister SEIs and presumed intersister double-Holliday junctions (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Kim et al. 2010), although it has not been ruled out that single Holliday junctions are also formed (Fig. 4). Notably, single-Holliday junctions are the predominant recombination intermediate detectable in Schizosaccharomyces pombe (Cromie et al. 2006). They are also detectable by electron microscopy in S. cerevisiae and may contribute to intersister recombination but alternatively may represent JM resolution intermediates (Oh et al. 2008).

#### Roles of Dmc1 and Rad51 in DSB strand exchange

Strand exchange of the first DSB end with an intact template DNA is mediated by Dmc1 and Rad51, two orthologs of prokaryotic RecA recombinase (Bishop et al. 1992; Shinohara et al. 1992). Whereas Rad51 is also involved in homologous recombination in vegetative cells, Dmc1 is specifically expressed during meiotic prophase. Following 5' resection, Rad51 and Dmc1 form a nucleoprotein filament at 3' ssDNA overhangs, replacing the singlestrand binding protein RPA (Gasior et al. 1998; Shinohara et al. 1998; Plate et al. 2008). RPA replacement is promoted by a homoheptameric ring of Rad52, although functional Dmc1 filaments can also assemble without Rad52 (Gasior et al. 1998, 2001; Lao et al. 2008). The two recombinases form separate domains in the nucleoprotein filament; Dmc1 binds to the very 3' end of the DSB, while Rad51 localizes to the region of the single-stranded tail closest to duplex DNA (Shinohara et al. 2000; Brown et al. 2015; Crickard et al. 2018; Lan et al. 2020). Rad51 self-assembles via homotypic interactions, but also recruits Dmc1 into the filament (Shinohara et al. 2000; Brown et al. 2015; Crickard et al. 2018; Lan et al. 2020). Although both Rad51 and Dmc1 are present at meiotic DSBs, the bulk of strand exchange catalysis is carried out by Dmc1 (Bishop et al. 1992, Bishop 1994; Cloud et al. 2012). As a result, recombination occurs normally when Rad51's strand exchange activity is disrupted, whereas mutants lacking Dmc1 accumulate resected DSBs, though in some strain backgrounds, DSBs are eventually repaired with frequent use of the homolog as template (Rockmill and Roeder 1994; Cloud et al. 2012).

Why does meiosis in yeast and many other eukaryotes depend on two strand-exchange proteins with apparently overlapping features? For one, Dmc1 appears better suited for strand exchange in the presence of mismatches, which is a fundamental aspect of interhomolog recombination (Callender *et al.* 2016; Steinfeld *et al.* 2019). The combined presence of Rad51 and Dmc1 further ensures that the homolog rather than the sister chromatid is used as recombination partner, as indicated by frequent repair with the sister chromatid in absence of either RecA paralog (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Lao *et al.* 2013; Callender *et al.* 2016).

Proper function of Dmc1 and Rad51 during meiosis depends on many auxiliary factors. Mutants lacking these factors resemble *dmc1* or *rad51* deletion mutants, accumulating hyper-resected DSBs or undergoing strand exchange with the sister chromatid instead of the homolog, respectively (McKee and Kleckner 1997b; Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Leu *et al.* 1998; Hong *et al.* 2013). Assembly of the Dmc1 nucleoprotein filament depends on the heterodimeric Mei5–Sae3 complex, (Ferrari *et al.* 2009; Chan *et al.*  2019), whereas heterodimeric Hop2–Mnd1 mediates strand exchange by providing a bridge between the Dmc1-nucleoprotein filament on the invading strand and the template duplex DNA (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2003; Kang et al. 2015; Crickard et al. 2019).

Rad51 accessory proteins perform functions analogous to those in vegetative cells [reviewed in (Symington *et al.* 2014)]. The low abundance Rad51-paralogs Rad55 and Rad57 recruit or stabilize Rad51 during initiation of nucleofilament assembly, in part by countering the Rad51-removing activity of DNA helicase Srs2 (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Gasior *et al.* 1998; Liu *et al.* 2011). The hetero-tetrameric Shu complex, which is composed of two additional Rad51 paralogs (Psy3 and Csm2) as well as Shu1 and Shu2, is also involved in loading and/or stabilizing the Rad51 filament (Hong *et al.* 2013; Sasanuma *et al.* 2013).

Functionality of Dmc1 and Rad51 is further modulated by two paralogous DNA translocases that play roles not only in nucleoprotein filament assembly, but also in Rad51/Dmc1 removal following strand exchange. Rad54 and Tid1 (a.k.a. Rdh54) interact with Rad51 and Dmc1, respectively, and appear to perform partially overlapping functions in the formation and/or stabilization of D-loops (Dresser *et al.* 1997; Shinohara *et al.* 1997; Nimonkar *et al.* 2012). Notably, whereas Dmc1 is meiosis-specific, Tid1 is not, suggesting that it plays additional roles in DSB repair not connected to Dmc1 (Shah *et al.* 2020). Subsequent to D-loop formation, Rad54 and/or Tid1 also displace the RecA recombinases from ssDNA at recombination sites, possibly to provide a naked ssDNA strand capable of capturing the second DSB end, and allowing access for a DNA polymerase to perform repair synthesis (Fig. 4) (Li and Heyer 2009; Wright and Heyer 2014).

In addition to their functions in displacing RecA recombinases at DSB sites, Rad54 and Tid1 also remove the respective recombinases from intact double stranded DNA that lack DSBs, thereby preventing the formation of potentially toxic recombination intermediates (Holzen *et al.* 2006; Shah *et al.* 2010; Reitz *et al.* 2021). Thus, while Rad51 and Dmc1 normally colocalize at DSB sites, each recombinase also associates with additional sites along the genome that have not undergone DSB formation when Rad54 and/or Tid1 are absent (Shinohara *et al.* 2000).

## Suppression of recombination with the sister chromatid

Although Rad51's strand exchange activity is largely dispensable for recombination during wild-type meiosis, the protein is critical for directing Dmc1-mediated strand exchange to the homologous chromosome. When Rad51 is absent, not properly incorporated into nucleoprotein filaments or aberrantly degraded, strand exchange mediated by Dmc1 alone occurs preferentially with the sister chromatid (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Cloud et al. 2012; Hong et al. 2013; Woo et al. 2020). Rad51 must also be prevented from carrying out Dmc1-independent strand exchange which generates mostly inviable gametes due to increased intersister repair and/or insufficient interhomolog crossover formation (Rockmill and Roeder 1994; Lao et al. 2013; Callender et al. 2016). Rad51 inhibition is achieved via at least two mechanisms, both of which destabilize Rad51's interaction with its activator Rad54: First, Rad54 is outcompeted for binding to Rad51 by the small, meiosis-specific protein Hed1 (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2006; Busygina et al. 2008). Second, the Hop1-associated kinase Mek1 phosphorylates Rad54 to destabilize its interaction with Rad51, but not with Dmc1 (Niu et al. 2009; Ziesel et al. 2022). In addition, Hed1 is stabilized via phosphorylation by Mek1, again minimizing intersister recombination (Callender et al. 2016).

Mek1 appears to attenuate all DSB strand exchange but suppresses intersister exchange more effectively than interhomolog exchange perhaps because its inhibitory signaling remains associated with the chromosome axis that sustained the DSB (Niu *et al.* 2009; Subramanian *et al.* 2016). Activation of Mek1 kinase depends on the DSB-triggered phosphorylation of axis protein Hop1 by the ATM/ATR-related kinases Tel1/Mec1, which is thought to mediate Mek1 homodimerization and/or chromosomal recruitment (Schwacha and Kleckner 1997; Smith and Roeder 1997; Bailis and Roeder 1998; Niu *et al.* 2005; Carballo *et al.* 2008; Kim *et al.* 2010). Both Hop1 phosphorylation and its distribution along chromosome axes further mediate homolog bias, as suggested by the role in homolog bias of Hop1-chaperone Pch2 which carries out this function redundantly with Mec1<sup>ATR</sup> (Joshi *et al.* 2015).

Intersister recombination is prevented at three additional stages: First, intersister exchange of early, low abundance DSBs is minimized by DNA helicase Mph1<sup>FANCM</sup>, which channels DSBs towards interhomolog repair by dissolving pre-pairing intersister D-loops (Sandhu *et al.* 2020). Second, cohesin Rec8 mediates homolog bias during SEI formation thereby promoting progression to interhomolog rather than intersister double Holliday junctions (Kim *et al.* 2010; Hong *et al.* 2013). Third, at the step of DSB second end capture, DNA helicase Sgs1<sup>BLM</sup> prevents SEIs from reinvading a previously uninvolved chromatid (either the sister or the second homolog chromatid) (Oh *et al.* 2007).

## Processing of crossover-designated recombination intermediates

The predominant meiotic crossover pathway involves stable SEIs, DSB second end capture followed by repair synthesis of DNA previously removed during 5' resection, dHJ formation and crossoverspecific dHJ resolution (above; Fig. 4). Several steps along this pathway are carried out by meiotic paralogs of the mismatch repair machinery adapted to the meiotic process (Kunkel and Erie 2005). Following strand exchange, a heterodimer composed of the meiosis-specific MutS orthologs Msh4/5 (called MutSy to distinguish it from the MutSα and MutSβ dimers involved in mismatch repair) stabilizes SEI intermediates and likely dHJs (Ross-Macdonald and Roeder 1994; Hollingsworth et al. 1995; Novak et al. 2001; Börner et al. 2004; Snowden et al. 2004; Jessop et al. 2006; Oh et al. 2007). MutSy acts in collaboration with several meiosis-specific proteins collectively known as the "ZMM" group of proteins, which link recombination to assembly of the SC (Börner et al. 2004).

All ZMM proteins are cytologically associated with designated crossover sites where they mediate formation and/or stabilization of crossover-specific SEIs (Fig. 2, b and c) (Börner et al. 2004; Fung et al. 2004; Snowden et al. 2004). Besides MutSy, the ZMMs include the Zip3 E3 SUMO ligase (Agarwal and Roeder 2000; Cheng et al. 2006; Serrentino et al. 2013), a sub-complex consisting of Zip2, Zip4, and Spo16 (ZZS) (Perry et al. 2005; Shinohara et al. 2008; De Muyt et al. 2018) as well as the Mer3 DNA helicase (Nakagawa and Ogawa 1999). Within the ZZS subcomplex, Zip2 and Spo16 are structurally related to the nucleotide excision repair endonuclease XPF-ERCC1 and, like MutSy, bind branched DNA structures (Snowden et al. 2004; De Muyt et al. 2018). The presumed scaffolding factor Zip4 appears to provide a bridge between several ZMMs, such as Zip3, and axis protein Red1, as well as SC central element protein Ecm11 (De Muyt et al. 2018; Pyatnitskaya et al. 2022). Finally, the dually functioning transverse filament protein Zip1 mediates ZMM activity independent of its role as a structural component of the SC [for details see "The functional relationship between SC and recombination"].

While crossover-specific interhomolog SEIs are stabilized by ZMM proteins, these intermediates are dismantled by the DNA helicase Sgs1, which operates as a complex with Top3 and Rmi1 (STR complex) (Jessop *et al.* 2006; Jessop and Lichten 2008; De Muyt *et al.* 2012; Kaur *et al.* 2015; Tang *et al.* 2015). Competition between the ZMM and the STR complexes determines whether an interhomolog recombination intermediate is processed into a crossover or a non-crossover (Kaur *et al.* 2015; Tang *et al.* 2015).

ZMM-stabilized SEIs eventually are processed into interhomolog dHJs via the single-strand annealing activity of Rad52 which mediates capture of the second DSB end (Lao *et al.* 2008). For resolution of dHJs, MutS $\gamma$  is joined at recombination sites by a MutL-related heterodimer Mlh1/3 [referred to as MutL $\gamma$ , to distinguish it from the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  mismatch repair dimers], which also binds dHJs and exhibits resolvase activity that exclusively gives rise to crossovers (Zakharyevich *et al.* 2012; Ranjha *et al.* 2014; Cannavo *et al.* 2020; Kulkarni *et al.* 2020; Sanchez *et al.* 2020). MutL $\gamma$  is thought to resolve dHJs in a crossover-specific manner by nicking the DNA strands containing newly synthesized DNA in regions flanking the Holliday junctions (Fig. 4) (Kulkarni *et al.* 2020). Alternatively, a canonical Holliday junction resolution mechanism has been proposed that involves nicking of single-stranded regions at the two junction points (West *et al.* 2015; Cannavo *et al.* 2020).

Apart from MutSy and MutLy, dHJ resolution depends on several additional repurposed mismatch repair factors (Kunkel and Erie 2005). These include the sliding clamp PCNA (Pol30), which normally stabilizes DNA association of DNA polymerase, the heteropentameric PCNA-loader replication factor C (Rfc1-5), as well as exonuclease Exo1 (Kulkarni et al. 2020). The catalytic exonuclease activity of Exo1 is dispensable for stimulating MutLγ-mediated Holliday junction resolution (Zakharyevich et al. 2010, 2012; Kulkarni et al. 2020). Instead, Exo1 recruits the polo-like kinase Cdc5 to recombination sites, which activates dHJ resolution (Clyne et al. 2003; Sourirajan and Lichten 2008; Zakharyevich et al. 2012; Cannavo et al. 2020; Sanchez et al. 2020). The ZMM group of proteins may enforce a crossover outcome by mediating orientation-specific loading of PCNA during dHJ formation, thus directing the MutS $\gamma$ /MutL $\gamma$ /ExoI ensemble to nick specific DNA strands (Cannavo et al. 2020; Kulkarni et al. 2020).

### Non-crossover formation via synthesis-dependent strand annealing (SDSA)

The original model of DSB repair predicted that non-crossovers arise via nicking of the four crossing strands within the double Holliday junction (Szostak *et al.* 1983), yet several observations argue against this possibility for the bulk of meiotic non-crossovers. First, a majority of non-crossovers appear concurrently with, rather than after, dHJ formation, contradicting a precursor-product relationship (Allers and Lichten 2001a). Second, mutants with defects in the formation of SEIs and dHJs form non-crossovers normally, while crossovers are reduced or absent (Allers and Lichten 2001a; Börner *et al.* 2004). Third, crossovers and noncrossovers exhibit gene conversion tracts of different lengths, averaging 2 and 1.8 kb, respectively (Chen *et al.* 2008; Mancera *et al.* 2008; Ahuja *et al.* 2021), again suggesting that they are not derived from the same intermediate.

Non-crossovers are thought to arise by a process referred to as synthesis-dependent strand annealing (SDSA) involving interhomolog strand-exchange intermediates that are not stabilized by the ZMM complex (McMahill et al. 2007; De Muyt et al. 2012). During SDSA, these unstable D-loop intermediates undergo only limited repair synthesis with the homolog followed by displacement of the invading 3' overhang (Fig. 4). Strand displacement is carried out by the combined action of the BLM-related DNA helicase Sgs1 in collaboration with decatenation complex Top3/Rmi1 (Jessop et al. 2006; Oh et al. 2007; Jessop and Lichten 2008; De Muyt et al. 2012; Zakharyevich et al. 2012; Kaur et al. 2015; Tang et al. 2015). Following its displacement, the 3' extended single-stranded tail can anneal with the opposing DSB end giving rise to a non-crossover (Allers and Lichten 2001a; McMahill et al. 2007; Marsolier-Kergoat et al. 2018). Because only one of the two DSB ends engages in interhomolog strand exchange and repair synthesis, non-crossovers typically exhibit gene conversions towards one side of the DSB site (McMahill et al. 2007; Marsolier-Kergoat et al. 2018; Ahuja et al. 2021). Finally, a substantial fraction of non-crossovers (at least 25%) are generated via gap repair that fills in up to 200 bp between a pair of adjoining DSBs on the same DNA molecule (Johnson et al. 2021; Prieler et al. 2021).

#### Processing of class II recombination events into crossovers and non-crossovers

A small fraction of interhomolog dHJs may form independently of ZMM proteins in wild-type cells, and resolve via an alternative, socalled class II pathway; this pathway dominates in absence of Sgs1 or ZMM group proteins (above; Fig. 5) (De Muyt et al. 2012). The class I and class II recombination pathways are thought to deviate during or after the DSB first end strand exchange (Börner et al. 2004; De Muyt et al. 2012). D-loop intermediates not stabilized as SEIs by ZMM proteins are normally subject to dissociation by Sgs1. When dissociation fails, ZMM-independent SEIs progress to dHJs that are subsequently resolved by structure selective endonucleases (SSE; Mms4/Mus81, Slx1/4 as well as Yen1) and independently of the MutLy complex (de los Santos et al. 2003; Börner et al. 2004; Oh et al. 2008; De Muyt et al. 2012; Zakharvevich et al. 2012). Resolution of class II crossovers further depends on Smc5/6, a repair-specific SMC complex related to cohesin and condensin (Copsey et al. 2013; Lilienthal et al. 2013; Xaver et al. 2013).

Unlike ZMM-associated "class I" dHJ intermediates, which predominantly generate crossovers, dHJs formed by the class II pathway are resolved in an unbiased manner by SSEs, equally giving rise to crossovers and non-crossovers (De Los Santos et al. 2003; Börner et al. 2004; Oh et al. 2008; De Muyt et al. 2012; Zakharyevich et al. 2012). SSE normally become active only following exit from prophase I through phosphorylation by Cdc5 and CDK (Matos et al. 2011). Yen1 in particular is subject to inhibitory phosphorylation until meiosis II and, being dispensable during wild-type meiosis, is thought to serve as a resolvase of last resort (Matos et al. 2011). Whereas "class I" crossovers exhibit a patterned genome-wide distribution, as indicated by their maximum spacing (interference) and assurance that chromosomes independent of size undergo at least one crossover, crossovers formed along the alternative "class II" pathway lack both of these features (for details see "Spatial and temporal control of recombination") (Sym and Roeder 1994; Novak et al. 2001; de los Santos et al. 2003).

### Homolog pairing and reinforcement of chromosome alignment

### Role of recombination in homolog pairing

Alignment of homologous chromosomes in pairs occurs in close coordination with recombination progression. Although homologs associate at some levels in vegetative nuclei, they achieve exclusive and intimate alignment only during mid-meiotic prophase I (Scherthan *et al.* 1994; Weiner and Kleckner 1994; Nag *et al.* 1995; Burgess *et al.* 1999; Peoples *et al.* 2002; Sandhu *et al.* 2020). Both



**Fig. 5.** Quantitative contributions of distinct pathways to meiotic recombination. Diagram shows paired homologs in blue and red. Sister chromatids, shown here as a single unit, are equally likely to partake in the indicated recombination events. Steps in the diagram are functionally distinct but may occur contemporaneously or in a different order. Approximate contributions of four recombination outcomes are considered. Interhomolog and intersister recombination occurs at a ratio of 9:1. Interhomolog recombination events are divided between crossovers and non-crossovers at a ratio of 2:1. Class I and class II pathways contribute crossovers at a ratio of 2:1. a) ~170 DSBs (long white arrows) are locally dispersed along the length of the chromosome through action of Tel1<sup>ΔTM</sup> checkpoint kinase. b) A maximally spaced subset of early recombination intermediates, likely nascent strand exchange events, is designated as future interfering class I crossovers (green block arrows). Designation of class I crossover sites involves chromosome axis component Top2 while maintenance of their fate depends on the ZMM proteins. c) The interference-insensitive class II pathway contributes a subset of future crossovers (block arrows), which involves structurally indistinguishable recombination intermediates as the class I crossover pathway. d) The remaining DSBs are processed into non-crossovers (short arrows filled with color of opposite homolog) or into intersister exchanges (short open arrows). e) Resolution of class I events also give rise to non-crossovers (not shown).

genetic and cytological approaches indicate that stable homolog pairing strongly depends on early steps in meiotic recombination, i.e. DSB formation and strand exchange (Loidl *et al.* 1994; Weiner and Kleckner 1994; Peoples *et al.* 2002; Peoples-Holst and Burgess 2005; Lui *et al.* 2006). Yet, homolog recognition does not appear to be solely underpinned by strand exchange, as mutants lacking both Rad51 and Dmc1 exhibit a substantial level of homolog pairing compared to the low level observed in a *spo*11 mutant (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2003; Yisehak and Macqueen 2018).

Strand exchange only establishes homologous interactions at a local sequence level, suggesting that additional layers of regulation exist to minimize pairing between homologous regions on heterologous chromosomes. While recombination between such regions occurs at substantial frequencies, these interactions normally do not impede the stable alignment of homologs (Jinks-Robertson and Petes 1985; Lichten *et al.* 1987; Haber *et al.* 1991; Goldman and Lichten 1996, 2000; Jinks-Robertson *et al.* 1997). Interestingly, in the absence of Dmc1-accessory protein dimer Hop2–Mnd1, some pairing and SC assembly occur between heterologous chromosomes (Leu *et al.* 1998; Peoples *et al.* 2002; Tsubouchi and Roeder 2002), and this erroneous pairing is mediated by Rad51 or Dmc1 recombinases, at least in certain strain backgrounds (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2003; Zierhut *et al.* 2004). Hop2 and Mnd1 thus appear to facilitate recombinase discrimination between homologous and heterologous chromosomes.

#### Recombination-independent pairing mechanisms

Several recombination-independent processes modulate chromosome associations during prophase I. These include homology-independent centromere coupling, formation of a "bouquet" organization, and actin-mediated rapid chromosome movements. Such meiosis-specific chromosome redistribution mechanisms may improve the capacity of recombination pathways to align partner chromosomes.

#### Leptotene centromere coupling

Centromeric regions of leptotene chromosomes associate in pairwise fashion, independent of homology or Spo11 but dependent on Rec8-cohesin and the SC transverse filament protein Zip1 (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2005; Falk et al. 2010; Obeso and Dawson 2010). The function of this so-called centromere coupling is not understood, but centromere associations may be non-random, as chromosome conformation capture experiments suggest they are guided by chromosome size, and thus may presort chromosomes for homolog pairing (Lefrancois et al. 2016). Release from homology-independent centromere coupling depends on recombination initiation, N-terminal Zip1 phosphorylation mediated by Mec1<sup>ATR</sup>, and a fully functional proteasome (Tsubouchi and Roeder 2005; Falk et al. 2010; Obeso and Dawson 2010; Ahuja et al. 2017).

#### Telomere bouquet

In non-meiotic interphase cells, centromeres are clustered as a remnant of the preceding cell division in the so-called "Rabl" configuration (Scherthan *et al.* 1994; Zickler and Kleckner 1998). The meiotic bouquet refers to a transient reorganization within the zygotene nucleus where telomeres cluster at a limited region of the nuclear envelope near the spindle pole body (Jin *et al.* 1998; Trelles-Sticken *et al.* 1999). Bouquet formation requires a telomere-associated protein complex containing Ndj1, Csm4, and the SUN-domain protein Mps3, which form a bridge through the nuclear envelope that connects the ends of meiotic chromosomes with cytoplasmic actin cables (Conrad *et al.* 1997, 2007, 2008; Trelles-Sticken *et al.* 2000, 2005; Kosaka *et al.* 2008; Wanat *et al.* 2008).

#### Rapid prophase movements (RPMs)

The bouquet-promoting proteins Ndj1, Csm4, and Mps3 also facilitate rapid, actin-mediated chromosome movements starting early in meiotic prophase with average speeds of  $\sim$ 0.4  $\mu$ m per second in a nucleus measuring ~3 µm in diameter (Trelles-Sticken et al. 2005; Scherthan et al. 2007; Conrad et al. 2008; Koszul et al. 2008). ndj1, csm4, and mps3 mutants exhibit delays in homolog pairing and recombination (Conrad et al. 1997; Trelles-Sticken et al. 2000; Wu and Burgess 2006; Kosaka et al. 2008; Koszul et al. 2008; Wanat et al. 2008; Rao et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2012) and, in strains expressing non-null mps3 alleles, pairing outcomes correlate with RPMs but not bouquet formation (Lee et al. 2012). RPMs may actively promote chromosomal encounters, as encounter frequencies between both homologous and non-homologous chromosomes are substantially reduced in csm4 mutants (Lee et al. 2012). Alternatively, or in addition, RPMs could serve a homology stringency test function by pulling apart non-allelic interactions (Conrad et al. 2008; Koszul et al. 2008; Koszul and Kleckner 2009). That RPMs reach maximal speed in pachytene-arrested ndt80 mutant cells is consistent with a role in dismantling nonallelic interactions (Conrad et al. 2008; Kosaka et al. 2008; Koszul et al. 2008; Wanat et al. 2008). Finally, recombination also affects

chromosome movements, either directly or indirectly, as RPMs do not reach wild-type speed in the absence of recombination (Conrad *et al.* 2008; Kosaka *et al.* 2008; Koszul *et al.* 2008; Wanat *et al.* 2008).

### The SC: an outcome of successful homolog pairing

Meiotic chromosome structure is modified during the zygotene-to-pachytene transition through the process of synapsis, which entails the assembly of a macromolecular protein structure called the synaptonemal complex (SC) (Fig. 2, b and c). While the SC is dispensable for homolog pairing, it promotes an intimate physical association between partner chromosome axes along their entire length (Weiner and Kleckner 1994; Rockmill, Sym, et al. 1995). The SC forms a ~100 nm wide bridge between chromosome axes through the multimerization of SC central region proteins, which include rod-like transverse filament and central element proteins (Sym et al. 1993; Zickler and Kleckner 1999; Humphryes et al. 2013; Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2013).

Transverse filaments in yeast are composed of the Zip1 protein, which carries an extensive central coiled-coil region that allows the formation of dimers or tetramers. Parallel dimer or tetramer units of Zip1 arrange in mirror-image fashion between aligned homologous axes, with their N termini overlapping at the SC midline (Dong and Roeder 2000; Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2013). The length of Zip1 coiled-coil units determines the width of the SC (Sym and Roeder 1995; Tung and Roeder 1998; Dong and Roeder 2000). A central element protein complex, composed of Ecm11 and Gmc2, organizes transverse filaments at the midline of the SC, a function dependent on Ecm11 SUMOylation (Humphryes et al. 2013; Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2013). Although cytological images give the impression of a fixed zipper-like structure, the SC is dynamic in nature as suggested by the capacity of the central region to dissolve and reassemble upon transient exposure to aliphatic alcohols (Rog et al. 2017). Furthermore, SC central region building block proteins continuously accumulate between homolog axes during the pachytene stage, again indicating that the SC is not a static structure (Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2012, 2016).

Although SC-like structures can form between nonhomologous chromosomes or even between sister chromatids (Loidl et al. 1991; Leu et al. 1998; Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2012), SC normally assembles between homologs, downstream of recombination initiation and homolog pairing (Sym et al. 1993). Thus, the extent of SC assembly depends strongly on early recombination events and fails altogether in spo11 mutants (Giroux et al. 1989; Henderson and Keeney 2004; Macqueen and Roeder 2009). In recombinationdeficient cells, SC proteins instead self-assemble near the nucleolus into a singular aggregate called the polycomplex, which frequently appears to retain the tripartite structure of the SC (Klapholz et al. 1985; Sym and Roeder 1995). SC assembly is not restored to spo11 meiotic cells supplied with multiple DSBs generated by the HO endonuclease or arising from phleomycin exposure (Yisehak and Macqueen 2018), raising the possibility that Spo11-initiated recombination uniquely interfaces with the synapsis machinery.

Although most SC assembly events initiate at recombination sites (Fung et al. 2004; Henderson and Keeney 2004), the earliest SC assembly initiates at recombination-suppressed centromere regions (Tsubouchi et al. 2008). Synapsis initiation at centromeres is mechanistically distinct from the one operating at recombination sites. For example, while required for synapsis from recombination sites, the E3 ligase Zip3 is dispensable for SC assembly at centromeres. Conversely, in *sp*011 mutants, Zip3 together with the Fpr3 prolyl isomerase prevents unregulated SC assembly from centromeres (Macqueen and Roeder 2009).

#### ZMM proteins link recombination to SC assembly

ZMM proteins not only promote crossover recombination but also couple recombination physically and mechanistically to SC assembly (Agarwal and Roeder 2000; Börner et al. 2004; Tsubouchi et al. 2006; Shinohara et al. 2008). The E3 ligase Zip3, the endonuclease XPF-ERCC1-related ZZS subcomplex (Zip2, Zip4, Spo16), and the MutSy complex co-localize with one another and with SC central region proteins (Zip1, Ecm11, Gmc2) at recombination sites, constituting the synapsis initiation complex (Fung et al. 2004). Several components of the ZMM group link the recombination complex with the SC and/or chromosome axis. Zip4 creates a physical link between recombination, the axis and the SC central region, as it interacts with both axis protein Red1 and SC central element protein Ecm11 (Humphryes et al. 2013; De Muyt et al. 2018; Arora and Corbett 2019; Pyatnitskaya et al. 2022). In addition, Zip3 mediates SUMOylation of axis protein Red1, which contributes to timely synapsis (Cheng et al. 2006; Eichinger and Jentsch 2010). Zip1 and Zip3 also mediate phosphorylation of Msh4 at its N-terminal degron region by DDK, protecting Msh4 from proteasomal degradation, and both Zip1 and Zip3 promote SUMOylation of Msh4 (He et al. 2020, 2021).

While ZMM complex proteins colocalize, they appear to have somewhat different effects on SC assembly. SC formation is abolished in mutants missing the ZZS complex (Chua and Roeder 1998; Tsubouchi et al. 2006; Shinohara et al. 2008), yet synapsis is only diminished and delayed in MutSy mutants and in zip3 mutants, with some effects of strain background and incubation conditions (Agarwal and Roeder 2000; Börner et al. 2004). The relatively mild synapsis defect of zip3 mutants can largely be explained by Zip3's opposing roles in synapsis regulation at different chromosomal sites: whereas Zip3 promotes SC assembly from recombination sites, it prevents SC assembly from centromeres (Tsubouchi et al. 2008; Macqueen and Roeder 2009; Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2012). Finally, mutations in several additional factors, including the proteasome and protein phosphatase 4, share with zmm mutants defects in recombination, synapsis, and meiotic progression (Falk et al. 2010; Ahuja et al. 2017). These factors may act on ZMM proteins or contribute to additional pathways that coordinately affect recombination and synapsis.

## The functional relationship between SC and recombination

Although SC central region proteins from different species exhibit limited sequence similarity, they invariably align homolog axes at a distance of ~100 nm (Page and Hawley 2004). The SC's conserved width may be related to the tight functional relationship between SC proteins and recombination. In light of this possibility, it is intriguing that the average inter-junction distance of double Holliday junctions corresponds to ~90 nm of B-form DNA (Cromie et al. 2006; Oh et al. 2008).

When Zip1 from the closely related yeast *Kluyveromyces* lactis is expressed in place of Zip1 from S. *cerevisiae*, it fails to support SC assembly, but still mediates double Holliday junction stabilization and crossover formation (Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2015). Furthermore, the absence of SC structural proteins Ecm11 and Gmc2 leads to excess MutSγ-mediated crossovers (Voelkel-Meiman et al. 2016). Thus, the SC structure is dispensable for meiotic recombination in budding yeast, and instead is required for limiting crossover recombination (Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2013, 2016). The anti-recombination function of budding yeast SC is explained at least in part by the capacity of SC central region proteins (i.e. Zip1 and Ecm11–Gmc2) to prevent excess DSBs (Thacker *et al.* 2014; Subramanian *et al.* 2016; Mu *et al.* 2020; Lee *et al.* 2021).

Although SC is dispensable for crossover recombination, it nevertheless forms the physical context for crossover-fated recombination intermediates, as evidenced by the localization of ZMM as well as MutL $\gamma$  foci to the midline of SC structures (Agarwal and Roeder 2000; Novak *et al.* 2001; Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2019; Sanchez *et al.* 2020). While the function of the SC is presently unknown, it may serve a chaperone-like role in regulating interactions between proteins and/or DNA structures at recombination sites. Accordingly, SC central region proteins regulate aspects of recombination intermediate processing such as dHJ resolution, gene conversion tract length and continuity, as well as robust mismatch repair (Rockmill *et al.* 2013; Oke *et al.* 2014; Lee *et al.* 2021; Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2022).

Intriguingly, the SC transverse filament protein Zip1 serves a genetically-separable role in promoting MutSγ-mediated crossovers (Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2016; Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2019) and thus is itself classified as a ZMM factor (Börner *et al.* 2004). Adjacent regions within Zip1's N terminus independently promote either recombination or SC assembly, identifying this Zip1 domain as a regulatory hub that couples recombination and synapsis (Voelkel-Meiman *et al.* 2019). A role of Zip1 in linking recombination and synapsis is further suggested by coordinate effects on both processes of Cdc7-mediated, C-terminal Zip1 phosphorylation (Chen *et al.* 2015).

## Spatial and temporal control of recombination

## Recombination frequencies vary between genome regions

Around 90 crossovers are detected per meiotic nucleus in markerrich hybrid strains, corresponding to a frequency of ~7 crossovers per megabase (or ~350 cM/Mb, compared to an average genetic map distance of 1 cM/Mb in humans) (Chen *et al.* 2008; Mancera *et al.* 2008). The ~65 non-crossovers per meiotic nucleus occur in the same regions as crossovers, although there are regions with considerable biases towards either the crossover or the non-crossover outcome (Chen *et al.* 2008; Mancera *et al.* 2008). Finally, of the ~170 DSBs in a given yeast nucleus, an estimated 15 undergo repair with the sister chromatid, although these recombination events are difficult to quantify as they do not leave traces in gamete genomes (Fig. 5) (Chen *et al.* 2008; Mancera *et al.* 2008; Marsolier-Kergoat *et al.* 2018).

Crossover rates vary more than 100-fold along the yeast genome, defining "hot" and "cold" regions. Frequencies of interhomolog recombination events largely correlate with DSB frequencies (Marsolier-Kergoat *et al.* 2018). While DSB hotspots tend to be associated with open chromatin, divergent promoters, GC content, and specific histone modifications, the factors that make some hotspots hotter than others remain poorly understood (Blitzblau *et al.* 2007; Buhler *et al.* 2007; Pan *et al.* 2011; Zhu and Keeney 2015; Gothwal *et al.* 2016). At a regional scale, DSB levels are inversely correlated with axial element-associated proteins including Red1/Hop1 as well as RMM (Blat *et al.* 2002; Panizza *et al.* 2011; Sun *et al.* 2015). Accordingly, the larger chromosome context may influence DSB frequency of a given hotspot sequence (Borde *et al.* 1999). The three shortest yeast chromosomes exhibit notably higher DSB and crossover frequencies than the rest of the genome (Kaback et al. 1992; Blitzblau et al. 2007; Pan et al. 2011), a feature correlated with longer lasting recruitment of DSB formation factors such as Rec114 (Murakami et al. 2020). Increased DSB frequencies along shorter chromosomes are determined by intrinsic sequence elements as inferred from unchanged DSB frequencies when a smaller chromosome is fused to a larger one (Mu et al. 2020; Murakami et al. 2020). In addition, DSB formation in large (~100 kb) chromosome-end adjacent regions is enhanced via increased retention of axis protein Hop1 in these regions (Subramanian et al. 2019).

In subtelomeric and pericentromeric regions as well as within the rDNA repeat cluster on yeast chromosome XII and adjacent regions, DSB and/or crossover frequencies are below average (San-Segundo and Roeder 1999; Chen et al. 2008; Mancera et al. 2008; Pan et al. 2011; Vader et al. 2011; Subramanian et al. 2019). DSBs in pericentromeric regions are kept at low levels by kinetochore proteins (Vincenten et al. 2015). Pericentromeric crossovers are further suppressed by Rec8- and Zip1-mediated direction of DSB repair towards the sister chromatid instead of the homolog (Lambie and Roeder 1988; Chen et al. 2008). In the genome region containing the rDNA repeat cluster, DSB formation is repressed through the histone deacetylase Sir2 and the condensin complex (Gottlieb and Esposito 1989; San-Segundo and Roeder 1999; Li et al. 2014). Sir2 likely acts by excluding the axis protein Hop1 from the rDNA (Gottlieb and Esposito 1989; San-Segundo and Roeder 1999). Intriguingly, in regions adjacent to the rDNA cluster, Sir2 has a DSB-inducing effect that is counteracted by the AAA-ATPase Pch2 and the origin-recognition complex factor Orc1, which together help remove Hop1 from chromosome axes in these regions (Vader et al. 2011; De Ioannes et al. 2019).

#### Control of crossover distribution

Each homolog pair, independent of size, must acquire at least one crossover to ensure homolog disjunction toward opposite spindle poles during meiosis I. If crossover placement followed a Poisson distribution, smaller chromosomes would frequently fail to acquire a crossover resulting in homolog missegregation (Kaback et al. 1992; Sym and Roeder 1994). The molecular pathway(s) that ensure formation of at least one (obligatory) chiasma per homolog pair are referred to as "crossover assurance" (Pazhayam et al. 2021). They likely include enhancements of DSB formation along small chromosomes and of interhomolog bias (above). At least two additional mechanisms dictate the genomewide distribution pattern of crossovers. First, crossover interference, originally discovered when creating the first chromosome linkage maps in Drosophila (Sturtevant 1913), is a phenomenon whereby a given crossover reduces the likelihood of additional crossovers in nearby intervals, resulting in regular crossover spacing along homolog pairs (Pazhayam et al. 2021). Second, crossover homeostasis preferentially generates crossovers at the expense of non-crossovers when DSBs are limiting and/orhomolog bias is weak (Martini et al. 2006; Lao et al. 2013; Sandhu et al. 2020). The same mechanism appears to maintain the number of synapsis initiation sites at high levels (Henderson and Keeney 2004).

#### Crossover interference and crossover assurance

A first level of maximum spacing between recombination sites is established by mechanisms that prevent the clustered formation of DSBs along the same chromatid (Garcia *et al.* 2015). This DSB interference depends on activity of the ATM-like kinase Tel1 and extends over chromosome regions of at least 70 kb, but no more than 150 kb (Garcia *et al.* 2015). At a later step, though no later than DSB strand exchange, the interfering distribution of crossover-fated intermediates along chromosomes is established via a pathway that targets the catalytic activity of type-II topoisomerase Top2 via the SUMO and/or ubiquitin system (Zhang *et al.* 2014). Interference patterning of crossovers thus is controlled by proteins that constitute the meiotic chromosome axis, including Top2, which prominently localizes along the length of meiotic chromosomes and promotes a structural transition of chromosome axes (Klein *et al.* 1992; Borner *et al.* 2004; Heldrich *et al.* 2020). This pathway requires Sir2, though not its histone deacetylase activity, which recruits the heterodimeric SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligase Slx5/8. It also requires SUMOylation of Top2 and interaction with SUMO of the axis protein Red1 (Zhang *et al.* 2014).

Both cytological and genetic measurements suggest that interference in budding yeast extends across ~130 kb (corresponding to ~0.4 micron of pachytene chromosome length) (Zhang *et al.* 2014). One proposed mechanism for crossover interference involves the establishment of physical tension along the semielastic chromosome axis, which is alleviated by a discontinuity in the axis—the site of the flaw being the site of crossover commitment, followed by maturation into an actual crossover. According to this model, relief of tension prevents additional crossovers over a certain distance (Kleckner 2006).

Until crossover-specific resolution of Holliday junctions has been completed, the crossover fate of interference-distributed strand exchange intermediates needs to be maintained, a task performed by ZMM proteins Zip1, Msh4/5, and Mer3, but independent of ZZS subcomplex components Spo16 and Zip4 (above) (Borner et al. 2004; Shinohara et al. 2008). Zip3 focus distribution indicates that crossover interference is correctly established in zip1 and other zmm mutants, even though crossovers detected in the resulting gametes do not exhibit an interference distribution (Sym and Roeder 1994; Nakagawa and Ogawa 1999; Novak et al. 2001; Fung et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2014). Accordingly, ZMMs are dispensable for the establishment of interference, but critical for ensuring that crossover-designated ("class I") intermediates are successfully processed into crossovers (Fig. 5; Börner et al. 2004).

Non-interfering crossovers formed in absence of ZMM proteins are referred to as class II crossovers, to distinguish them from class I crossovers that exhibit interference (De Los Santos et al. 2003; Börner et al. 2004). Consistent with the idea that the class II recombination pathway is also active during wild-type meiosis, ~70 class I ZMM foci per nucleus are observable cytologically, but ~90 crossovers are detected genetically (Fung et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2008; Mancera et al. 2008; Joshi et al. 2009). Thus, the class II recombination pathway likely contributes about one fifth of crossovers, as further indicated by detection of ~15 foci of the class II pathway resolvase Mms4 (Copsey et al. 2013). While dHJs formed along the class I pathway are resolved by MutLy and its interaction partners, dHJs formed along the class II pathway are resolved by SSE Mms4/ Mus81 as well as Slx1/4 (see "Processing of class II recombination events into crossovers and non-crossovers") (De Muyt et al. 2012; Zakharyevich et al. 2012). Consistent with activity of Mms4/ Mus81 along the class II pathway, crossover interference remains intact in the *mms4* mutant, even though crossovers are substantially decreased, with additive effects of msh5 on crossover reduction (De Los Santos et al. 2003; Argueso et al. 2004). Consistent with a proposed role for the Sgs1 helicase in channeling recombination intermediates away from the class II and into the ZMM-dependent class I recombination pathway, crossover interference is impaired in the sgs1 mutant (Oh et al. 2007) and absence of Sgs1 results in increased crossover formation in  $zip1\Delta$  (Jessop et al. 2006). Impaired interference in mutants that lack Dmc1 or the Dmc1-activator Tid1 further highlights the importance of appropriate DSB strand exchange for crossover interference (Shinohara et al. 2003; Lao et al. 2013).

#### Crossover homeostasis

At low DSB abundance, for example during early meiosis, or when DSBs are reduced in a hypomorphic *spol1* mutant, a higher proportion of DSBs is repaired with the sister chromatid, likely because the homolog remains inaccessible due to incomplete recombination-dependent homolog pairing (Joshi *et al.* 2015; Sandhu *et al.* 2020). Among the remaining interhomolog recombination events, crossovers are enhanced at the expense of noncrossovers, a process referred to as crossover homeostasis (Martini *et al.* 2006; Sandhu *et al.* 2020). At the same time, high DSB levels are insufficient to ensure the obligate crossover, as certain *zmm* mutants frequently exhibit non-exchange chromosomes (E0 events) despite elevated DSB levels, likely because the class II recombination pathway lacks most aspects of crossover control, including crossover interference, assurance and homeostasis (Chen *et al.* 2008).

## Downregulation of interhomolog recombination in late prophase I

At late prophase I, recombination is gradually attenuated through downregulation of DSB formation, and shifts from strong homolog bias again back to increased intersister repair (Thacker *et al.* 2014; Subramanian *et al.* 2016). This process is chromosome-autonomous and is strongly linked to Zip1 protein function. The effect of Zip1 is mediated in part through the recruitment of Pch2 and subsequent Pch2-dependent removal of Hop1, which results in a drop in DSB activity and releases the inhibition of intersister strand exchange by protein kinase Mek1 (San-Segundo and Roeder 1999; Börner *et al.* 2008; Subramanian *et al.* 2016).

#### The recombination checkpoint

Throughout prophase I, cells monitor the presence of stalled recombination complexes and/or unsynapsed chromosome axes using a surveillance mechanism that is often referred to as the recombination checkpoint or pachytene checkpoint (Xu et al. 1997; Macqueen and Hochwagen 2011; Subramanian and Hochwagen 2014; Raina et al. 2023). Prophase I delay/arrest triggered by this checkpoint depends on signaling by the DNA damage sensor kinases Tel1 and Mec1, and thus shares fundamental features with the canonical DDR network (Lydall et al. 1996; Usui et al. 2001). Tel1 responds primarily to Spo11-linked DNA ends whereas Mec1 relies on accessory factors, including Ddc2 and the Rad17/ Mec3/Ddc1 complex, to sense ssDNA and ssDNA/dsDNA junctions, respectively (Usui et al. 2001; Hong and Roeder 2002; Refolio et al. 2011). Importantly, because unsynapsed regions continue to form DSBs, this checkpoint is also activated by defects in chromosome synapsis (San-Segundo and Roeder 1999; Hong and Roeder 2002; Thacker et al. 2014). Paradoxically, the absence of recombination intermediates (e.g. in spo11) does not trigger meiotic arrest, and indeed bypasses arrest in recombination defective mutants (McKee and Kleckner 1997a). Compared to the DDR, the substrate spectrum of Mec1 and Tel1 in the recombination checkpoint is greatly expanded to include numerous meiosisspecific proteins, presumably to help coordinate the progression of DSB repair with other meiotic processes (Kar et al. 2022). Recombination surveillance likely involves meiotic axis proteins, which, by a poorly understood mechanism dampen the activation of the canonical DDR effector kinase Rad53 and instead help activate the meiotic Rad53 paralogue Mek1, via the phosphorylation of HORMA domain protein Hop1, with possible involvement of a cytoplasmic component (Lydall et al. 1996; Carballo et al. 2008; Cartagena-Lirola et al. 2008; Herruzo et al. 2021). In addition to their monitoring function, checkpoint components also modulate the underlying recombination reaction, indicating that arrest bypass in checkpoint mutants may also involves changes in the monitored process (Grushcow et al. 1999; Börner et al. 2008). The recombination checkpoint is notably less sensitive to DSBs than the canonical DDR: Indeed, a single DSB fails to trigger a detectable response during meiotic prophase, and even dozens of persistent breaks in some cases fail to cause a terminal arrest (Malkova et al. 1996; Hochwagen et al. 2005).

### **Exit from prophase I**

At the mid to late pachytene stage, activation of the meiosisspecific transcription factor Ndt80 leads to the increased expression of ~150 "middle" genes. These middle genes encode factors that promote cellular events required for prophase exit, chromosome segregation, and spore morphogenesis (Xu *et al.* 1995; Chu *et al.* 1998; Primig *et al.* 2000).

## Hallmark events of prophase I exit are triggered by polo-like kinase Cdc5

Exit from prophase I comprises an eventful cell-cycle transition involving: i) disassembly of SC and axial element structures, ii) resolution of double-Holliday-junctions, and iii) spindle-polebody separation in preparation for formation of the meiosis I spindle (Fig. 6) (Shuster and Byers 1989; Xu et al. 1995). Induction of polo-like kinase Cdc5 by Ndt80 is sufficient to trigger several of these key prophase I exit events (Clyne et al. 2003; Sourirajan and Lichten 2008). Cdc5 likely stimulates SC disassembly at least in part by destabilizing the axial-element component Red1 (Clyne et al. 2003; Sourirajan and Lichten 2008; Prugar et al. 2017; Sanchez et al. 2020). Cdc5 further promotes Holliday junction resolution by associating with and activating MutLy (Sanchez et al. 2020) as well as Mus81–Mms4 resolvases (De Los Santos et al. 2003; Jessop and Lichten 2008; Matos et al. 2011). Furthermore, Cdc5-dependent hyper-phosphorylation inhibits the Sgs1 DNA helicase, which potentially shifts recombination outcomes (Grigaitis et al. 2020). On the other hand, Cdc5 is not sufficient to promote spindle pole body separation during prophase exit. This event is instead promoted by M-phase CDK (Sourirajan and Lichten 2008), whose regulatory B-type cyclin components (Clb1, Clb4) are encoded by Ndt80 target genes (Chu and Herskowitz 1998; Leu and Roeder 1999).

## Control of Ndt80-mediated middle-gene expression

Middle-gene (i.e. post-pachytene) expression is facilitated by an increase in Ndt80 activity (itself encoded by a middle gene) (Chu and Herskowitz 1998; Tung et al. 2000; Pak and Segall 2002) and the downregulation of the Sum1/Rfm1/Hst1 transcriptional repressor complex (Fig. 6) (Xie et al. 1999; Lindgren et al. 2000; Mccord et al. 2003). The Sum1/Rfm1/Hst1 repressor competes with Ndt80 for binding a DNA sequence element called the middle-sporulation element (MSE) in the promoters of middle genes (Winter 2012). Sum1 directly binds the MSE and is regulated



**Fig. 6.** Signaling pathways at the exit from prophase I. Multiple signals control prophase exit by altering the capacity of Sum1 and Ndt80 to bind the Middle Sporulation DNA sequence Element (MSE). Illustration depicts positive and negative signals that control Ndt80 transcription factor activity. The Sum1 transcriptional repressor complex competes with Ndt80 for binding the MSE DNA element in the promoter regions of ~150 genes. As meiotic prophase progresses, Ime2, Cdc28, and DDK kinase activities render Sum1 less capable of binding the MSE, while Ime2 activity stimulates Ndt80 binding the MSE. Proteins encoded by Ndt80 target genes (the "middle genes") include Ime2 and Ndt80, both of which bolster the prophase exit circuit, the Cdc5 polo-like kinase, which promotes dHJ resolution and SC disassembly, and M-Cdk kinase, which promotes spindle pole body (SPB) separation. The prophase exit pathway is modulated by checkpoint signals: Unrepaired meiotic DSBs activate Mec1<sup>ATR</sup>/Tel1<sup>ATM</sup> kinases, which in turn activate the Swe1 and Mek1 kinases. Swe1 stimulates Sum1 repressor activity, while Mek1 inhibits Ndt80 activity.

by multiple kinases including Ime2, whose activity increases toward mid-prophase (Primig *et al.* 2000; Benjamin *et al.* 2003; Ahmed *et al.* 2009). Cdc28 also targets Sum1, which primes Sum1's further phosphorylation by DDK (Sopko *et al.* 2002; Lo *et al.* 2008; Corbi *et al.* 2014). Accumulation of phosphates eventually renders the Sum1 complex unable to bind the MSE, resulting in an increase in NDT80 transcripts (Pierce *et al.* 2003; Corbi *et al.* 2014). Conversely, phosphorylation by Ime2 renders the Ndt80 protein more effective at binding DNA and stimulating gene expression (Sopko *et al.* 2002; Benjamin *et al.* 2003; Sopko and Stuart 2004). Finally, Ndt80 increases transcription of IME2 and CDC5, which further stimulates Ndt80 activity in a feed-forward loop (Fig. 6) (Benjamin *et al.* 2003; Acosta *et al.* 2011; Gonzalez-Arranz *et al.* 2021).

### Control of prophase I exit

Several mechanisms collaborate to ensure that cells do not exit prematurely from prophase I. Ama1, a meiosis-specific activator of the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C), targets key proteins for proteasomal degradation that may otherwise destabilize prophase chromosomal structures and promote entry into metaphase I, including the cell-cycle regulators Ndd1 and Cdc5 (Okaz et al. 2012). Ama1 thereby renders meiotic cells dependent on Ndt80 for progression beyond the pachytene stage and through prophase exit. Ndt80 activity is in turn attenuated by the recombination checkpoint, which prevents or delays exit from prophase I in response to unprocessed recombination intermediates (above). To activate this checkpoint, the canonical DNA-damage sensor kinases  $\mathrm{Mec1}^{\mathrm{ATR}}$  and  $\mathrm{Tel1}^{\mathrm{ATM}}$  activate Mek1 kinase by phosphorylating its binding partner Hop1 early during meiosis, with additional effects on recombination partner choice (above) (Niu et al. 2005, 2007; Carballo et al. 2008). Mek1 kinase subsequently phosphorylates Ndt80 to diminish its DNA binding activity thereby ensuring that Ndt80 target genes, some of which promote JM resolution and progression beyond the

pachytene stage, remain inactive until most DNA breaks are adequately processed (Chen *et al.* 2018). The recombination checkpoint also triggers Swe1 kinase activity, which indirectly stabilizes the Sum1 repressor complex via inhibitory phosphorylation of CDK (Shin *et al.* 2010). Finally, nuclear localization of Ndt80 is regulated by the recombination checkpoint, indicating that Ndt80 activity is also controlled by a spatial redistribution mechanism (Wang *et al.* 2011).

### Meiotic commitment

When yeast cells in prophase I are shifted to rich growth medium, meiosis is aborted and diploid cells return to vegetative growth. Cells accomplish this "return to growth" process by rapidly degrading meiotic chromosomal structures and repairing recombination intermediates with minimal crossover formation (Zenvirth et al. 1997; Dayani et al. 2011). However, following Ndt80 activation and a step known as commitment, cells will complete meiosis regardless of a change in external cues [reviewed in (Winter 2012)]. Interestingly, commitment is extremely sensitive to Ndt80 dosage: When the abundance of NDT80 transcript is cut in half, the meiotic commitment point shifts such that even cells undergoing the meiosis I division will exit the meiotic program and initiate mitotic cell cycling (Tsuchiya et al. 2014). CDK kinase Ime2, polo-like kinase Cdc5, and 14-3-3 proteins Bmh1 and Bmh2 are critical for establishing and/or maintaining meiotic commitment (Gavade et al. 2022). Meiotic commitment furthermore relies on the combined action of the Rad53-mediated DNA damage checkpoint and the Bub2-mediated spindle position checkpoint pathways (Ballew and Lacefield 2019).

### Metaphase I

Once cells have exited from prophase I, they initiate formation of the meiosis I spindle (Shirk et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2013; Newnham



**Fig. 7.** Chromosome disjunction during meiosis I and II. a) Following prophase I exit, the monopolin complex (Mam1, Lrs4, Csm1, Hrr25) is assembled at kinetochores to regulate the attachment of kinetochores from both sister chromatids to the same microtubule of the meiosis I spindle. b) Monopolin (depicted as a brown bar) fuses sister kinetochores during meiosis I to ensure monopolar attachment. Monopolin dissociates prior to meiosis II to allow bipolar attachment of sister kinetochores as also seen in mitosis. c) Stepwise loss of cohesion. At the metaphase I transition, cohesin is specifically cleaved along the chromosome arms resulting in dissolution of chiasmata and the disjunction of homologous chromosomes. Cohesin complexes in the pericentromeric regions (~25 kb to either side of the centromere) are protected from cleavage by separase and provide sister chromatid cohesion during metaphase II. Loss of centromeric cohesion at anaphase II allows separation of sister chromatids.

et al. 2013) and co-orient sister kinetochores to ensure that sister chromatids attach to the same spindle pole (Fig. 7, a-c). Monopolar attachment results from the meiosis I-specific fusion of sister kinetochores, such that the two kinetochores together present one attachment site for a single microtubule (Winey et al. 2005; Sarangapani et al. 2014). Fusion of sister kinetochores is brought about by monopolin, a protein complex composed of the meiosis-specific protein Mam1, the nucleolar factors Csm1 and Lrs4, and casein kinase Hrr25 (CK18/ $\epsilon$ ) (Fig. 7a) (Toth et al. 2000; Rabitsch et al. 2003; Petronczki et al. 2006). Upon prophase I exit, Csm1 and Lrs4 leave the nucleolus and join Mam1, Hrr25, condensin, and Zip1 at kinetochores (Rabitsch et al. 2003; Brito et al. 2010; Prajapati et al. 2018). Csm1 and Lrs4 form a heterotetrameric V-like structure that directly binds kinetochore components and is thought to physically clamp together sister kinetochores (Monje-Casas et al. 2007; Corbett et al. 2010; Corbett and Harrison 2012). Monopolin relocalization to kinetochores depends on the concerted action of DDK, Cdc5 (Lee and Amon 2003; Valentin et al. 2006; Monje-Casas et al. 2007; Lo et al. 2008; Matos et al. 2008), and the kinetochore-specific Cdc5-targeting factor "meikin" (meiosis-specific kinetochore factor) Spo13 (Klapholz

## and Esposito 1980; Katis, Matos, et al. 2004; Lee et al. 2004; Matos et al. 2008).

Even with co-oriented kinetochores, accurate meiosis I chromosome segregation requires that each sister pair only attaches to microtubules from one spindle pole and that the sisterpairs of the homologous partner chromosome attach to opposite poles (Fig. 7b) (Marston 2014). As in mitotic cells, proper orientation is continuously probed by the formation of kinetochoremicrotubules attachments and their subsequent severing induced by Ipl1 (Aurora B) kinase (Monje-Casas et al. 2007; Meyer et al. 2013, 2021; Cairo et al. 2020). When bipolar attachment is achieved, spindle forces are resisted by crossovers together with sister chromatid cohesion along chromosome arms that link recombinant homologous chromosomes (Buonomo et al. 2000). The resulting tension physically pulls kinetochores away from the central spindle where Aurora B is localized, thereby stabilizing microtubule attachments (Liu et al. 2009). The accuracy of this process strongly relies on the distance of crossover sites from centromeres. Homologous chromosomes whose only crossovers are positioned close to the telomere are more likely to missegregate (Ross et al. 1996), whereas chromosomes that fail to form a chiasma (the physical manifestation of an interhomolog crossover event) within ~180 kb of the centromere additionally require the spindle assembly checkpoint component Mad2 for faithful bipolar attachment (Shonn *et al.* 2003; Lacefield and Murray 2007).

Chromosomes that fail to form a crossover altogether (E0 or NEC -non-exchange chromosomes) present a particular problem for this system. Because even correct bipolar attachment does not lead to cohesion-dependent tension between NEC pairs, additional backup mechanisms are necessary to promote their segregation (Dawson et al. 1986). These mechanisms include the spindle assembly checkpoint as well as Zip1-dependent centromere associations. The spindle assembly checkpoint may provide additional time for proper NEC alignment (Shonn et al. 2003; Cheslock et al. 2005; Newnham et al. 2010). At the same time, the spindle checkpoint in yeast is quite weak in preventing the meiosis I division, as Mad2 delays meiosis I in mutants that entirely lack any crossover linkage between homologs (e.g. spo11) by only ~2 hours after which meiotic progression occurs even without bipolar homolog attachment (Shonn et al. 2000). Persisting Zip1 during metaphase I provides physical connections between homologous centromeres, substituting for the lack of chiasmata, in contrast to Zip1-mediated leptotene-coupling which involves homology-independent associations. Zip1-dependent linkages by physically connecting centromeres at metaphase I (Loidl et al. 1994; Guerra and Kaback 1999; Kemp et al. 2004; Tsubouchi and Roeder 2005; Gladstone et al. 2009; Bardhan et al. 2010; Newnham et al. 2010; Kurdzo et al. 2018; Previato De Almeida et al. 2019). Yet, the system of distributive segregation begins to break down once more than two NECs are present (Dawson et al. 1986).

### Metaphase I to anaphase I transition

Anaphase I initiates once all homologous chromosome pairs have formed bipolar attachments. As in mitosis, stable bipolar attachment is monitored by the spindle assembly checkpoint, which detects unattached kinetochores and blocks the APC/C by inhibiting its activator Cdc20 (Shonn et al. 2000, 2002, 2003; Tsuchiya et al. 2011). Following kinetochore attachment, Cdc20 is free to associate with the APC/C to form a multi-subunit E3 ubiquitin ligase, which targets the anaphase inhibitor securin (Pds1) for proteasome-mediated degradation (Salah and Nasmyth 2000; Shonn et al. 2000; Oelschlaegel et al. 2005; Penkner et al. 2005). Pds1 is an inhibitory chaperone for separase Esp1, and its destruction allows separase to eliminate cohesin along chromosome arms through proteolytic cleavage of its kleisin subunit Rec8 (Buonomo et al. 2000). Esp1 cleaves Rec8 at two redundant sites within the protein, which leads to cohesin's dissociation and homolog separation (Klein et al. 1999; Buonomo et al. 2000). Efficient Rec8 cleavage requires its phosphorylation by multiple kinases, including DDK, CK1 $\delta/\epsilon$ , and Cdc5 (Brar et al. 2006; Petronczki et al. 2006; Matos et al. 2008; Katis et al. 2010). The activity of these kinases is constrained to the metaphase/anaphase transition by meikin Spo13, which counters the activity of cohesin kinases (Galander et al. 2019).

Whereas cohesins along chromosome arms are cleaved and/or removed prior to anaphase I, centromeric cohesion is maintained through meiosis I to allow proper tension-mediated alignment of sister chromatids in metaphase II (Fig. 7c). Overall cohesin binding is enriched around centromeres (Glynn *et al.* 2004) and establishment of stable centromeric cohesion requires the helicase Chl1 and a specialized replication factor C complex (RF-C Ctf18/Dcc1/ Ctf8) (Petronczki et al. 2004). As cells enter anaphase I, centromeric cohesin is protected from separase-mediated cleavage by the shugoshin protein Sgo1 (Klein et al. 1999; Shonn et al. 2002; Katis, Galova, et al. 2004; Katis, Matos, et al. 2004; Kitajima et al. 2004; Marston et al. 2004; Kiburz et al. 2005). Sgo1, together with Aurora kinase Ipl1, recruits two alternative forms of phosphatase PP2A that act in parallel to prevent cohesin cleavage: PP2A associated with its regulatory subunit Rts1 (PP2A-Rts1) dephosphorylates Rec8, thereby protecting it from separase cleavage (Kitajima et al. 2006; Riedel et al. 2006; Tang et al. 2006; Yu and Koshland 2007; Xu et al. 2009), whereas PP2A-Cdc55 counters separase activation (Clift et al. 2009). Together, these mechanisms ensure that centromeric cohesion persists until metaphase II.

### Transitioning from meiosis I to meiosis II

The transition from meiosis I to meiosis II requires a transient drop in CDK activity to drive telophase I spindle disassembly and spindle pole body reduplication (Buonomo et al. 2003; Marston et al. 2003; Carlile and Amon 2008). A reduction in CDK activity is mediated by the temporary release of Cdc14 phosphatase from the nucleolus in anaphase I triggered by the FEAR signaling network (Kamieniecki et al. 2000; Buonomo et al. 2003; Marston et al. 2003; Sullivan et al. 2008). Once the spindle is disassembled, Cdc14 returns to the nucleolus and a rise in CDK activity (Cdc28 in association with cyclins Clb1 and Clb4) initiates the assembly of the two meiosis II spindles (Dahmann and Futcher 1995; Buonomo et al. 2003; Marston et al. 2003; Monje-Casas et al. 2007). Cells with an inactive FEAR network or hyperactive CDK fail to segregate their nucleolus and do not complete the meiotic spindle cycle. Instead, they undergo two rounds of chromosome segregation on a single spindle (Buonomo et al. 2003; Marston et al. 2003; Fuchs and Loidl 2004; Kerr et al. 2011), leading to the formation of diploid spores that exhibit a mix of reductional and equational segregation (Klapholz and Esposito 1980; Sharon and Simchen 1990; Hugerat and Simchen 1993; Kamieniecki et al. 2000; Zeng and Saunders 2000; Pfiz et al. 2002).

In mitotic cells, the telophase drop in CDK activity relicenses replication origins for another round of replication (Diffley 2010). During the meiosis I-to-meiosis II transition, this relicensing is prevented by the persistent activity of Ime2 (Benjamin *et al.* 2003; Phizicky *et al.* 2018), whose target sites are largely resistant to dephosphorylation by Cdc14 (Holt *et al.* 2007). Accordingly, deregulated Ime2 exhibits synthetic phenotypes with FEAR network mutants (Schindler and Winter 2006). Nevertheless, mutants that replicate their DNA between meiosis I and meiosis II have not been identified, although deregulation of CDK can cause multiple rounds of replication during prophase I (Strich *et al.* 2004; Rice *et al.* 2005; Sawarynski *et al.* 2009).

At the end of anaphase I, Spo13 and Mam1 are degraded, and Csm1 and Lrs4 return to the nucleolus, preparing chromosomes for meiosis II (Rabitsch et al. 2003; Katis, Matos, et al. 2004; Sullivan and Morgan 2007; Matos et al. 2008). The resulting loss of kinetochore mono-orientation allows Sgo1 along with Ipl1 to promote the bipolar attachment of sister kinetochores on the metaphase II spindle (Monje-Casas et al. 2007; Kiburz et al. 2008; Nerusheva et al. 2014). In addition, any remaining DSBs are repaired (Cartagena-Lirola et al. 2008) and leftover dHJs are removed by meiosis-II-specific activation of the Yen1 resolvase (Matos et al. 2011). Finally, anaphase II is triggered by a second round of Esp1 activation, Sgo1 degradation and pericentromeric Rec8 cleavage, which is sufficient to separate sister chromatids and yield the

four haploid products of meiosis (Buonomo et al. 2000; Salah and Nasmyth 2000; Mengoli et al. 2021).

# Non-chromosomal genetic elements in meiosis

Although the meiotic program is primarily geared toward ensuring the faithful inheritance of chromosomal DNA, meiosis is also a time of extraordinary activity for extra-chromosomal and extra-nuclear genetic elements. Mitochondria undergo a series of gross morphological changes during prophase I (Miyakawa et al. 1984; Gorsich and Shaw 2004) and ultimately detach from the cell cortex in an Ndt80-dependent manner to associate with meiotic nuclei during meiosis I and II (Miyakawa et al. 1984; Sawyer et al. 2019). This nuclear attachment is thought to promote mitochondrial inheritance (Gorsich and Shaw 2004; Suda et al. 2007), although only about 50% of mitochondrial genomes are ultimately packaged into spores (Brewer and Fangman 1980). Intriguingly, parasitic M and L double-stranded RNAs, which exist as virus-like particles in the cytoplasm, use poorly understood mechanisms to also promote their packaging into spores (Brewer and Fangman 1980). The ultimate abundance of these RNAs is constrained by Nuc1 endonuclease, which is released from mitochondria upon Ndt80 activation (Gao et al. 2019) and also degrades nuclei that failed to become encapsulated into spores (Eastwood et al. 2012). At the same time, retrotransposon RNAs become highly expressed at the end of prophase I by taking advantage of Ndt80-dependent regulation (Laureau et al. 2021), whereas aging-associated extra-chromosomal rDNA circles are preferentially eliminated (Unal et al. 2011; King et al. 2019). Meiosis, therefore, is a time of major reorganization of non-chromosomal and mobile genetic elements.

### Outlook

Budding yeast was established as a model organism for meiosis in the 1970s, and over 3,000 papers have since reported findings using this system. Yeast has provided increasingly detailed insights into the temporal and functional relationship between the molecular events of DNA metabolism and chromosome morphogenesis at the microscopic level. Studies in other organisms have demonstrated that the processes of meiosis and the meiotic machinery are evolutionarily conserved in higher eukaryotes. At the same time, many questions remain unresolved: How do homologous chromosomes identify each other during the pairing process? How are frequency and outcome of recombination events in different chromosome regions controlled? How are different pathways of meiotic DSB processing coordinated? And how are chromosomal events coordinated with the pathways operating under the control of the cytoplasmic machinery? Many of these open questions revolve around interactions between players that lack physical contacts, between chromosome loops and axes, between different regions along the same chromosome, and between different cellular compartments. These interactions imply signaling processes that remain to be discovered. Furthermore, many of the molecular pathways identified in meiosis involve components also expressed in vegetative cells, raising the possibility that the same processes also integrate mitotic cellular function. Future work may show that processes in DNA metabolism and chromosome morphogenesis previously thought to be limited to meiosis have equivalents in mitotically dividing cells (Kleckner et al. 2004). The experience from the first 50 years of molecular meiosis research suggests that studies in budding yeast could well be at the forefront of these discoveries.

### Acknowledgements

We appreciate the significant contributions of all members of the meiosis community and regret that not all primary investigations could be acknowledged directly.

### Funding

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute Of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under Award Numbers R01GM125800 (GVB), R35GM148223 (AH), and R15GM116109 (AJM). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

### **Conflicts of interest statement**

The author(s) declare no conflict of interest.

### Literature cited

- Acosta I, Ontoso D, San-Segundo PA. The budding yeast polo-like kinase Cdc5 regulates the Ndt80 branch of the meiotic recombination checkpoint pathway. Mol Biol Cell. 2011;22(18):3478–3490. doi:10.1091/mbc.e11-06-0482.
- Acquaviva L, Szekvolgyi L, Dichtl B, Dichtl BS, de La Roche Saint Andre C, Nicolas A, Géli V. The COMPASS subunit Spp1 links histone methylation to initiation of meiotic recombination. Science. 2013;339(6116):215–218. doi:10.1126/science.1225739.
- Agarwala SD, Blitzblau HG, Hochwagen A, Fink GR. RNA methylation by the MIS complex regulates a cell fate decision in yeast. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(6):e1002732. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002732.
- Agarwal S, Roeder GS. Zip3 provides a link between recombination enzymes and synaptonemal complex proteins. Cell. 2000;102(2): 245–255. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00029-5.
- Ahmed NT, Bungard D, Shin ME, Moore M, Winter E. The Ime2 protein kinase enhances the disassociation of the Sum1 repressor from middle meiotic promoters. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29(16): 4352–4362. doi:10.1128/MCB.00305-09.
- Ahuja JS, Borner GV. Analysis of meiotic recombination intermediates by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. In: Tsubouchi H, editor. DNA recombination: methods and protocols, Vol. 745. Humana Press; 2011. p. 99-116.
- Ahuja JS, Harvey CS, Wheeler DL, Lichten M. Repeated strand invasion and extensive branch migration are hallmarks of meiotic recombination. Mol Cell. 2021;81(20):4258–4270.e4. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2021.08.003.
- Ahuja JS, Sandhu R, Mainpal R, Lawson C, Henley H, Hunt PA, Yanowitz JL, Börner G. Control of meiotic pairing and recombination by chromosomally tethered 26S proteasome. Science. 2017;355(6323):408–411. doi:10.1126/science.aaf4778.
- Alani E, Padmore R, Kleckner N. Analysis of wild-type and rad50 mutants of yeast suggests an intimate relationship between meiotic chromosome synapsis and recombination. Cell. 1990;61(3): 419–436. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90524-I.
- Allers T, Lichten M. Differential timing and control of noncrossover and crossover recombination during meiosis. Cell. 2001a;106(1): 47–57. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00416-0.
- Allers T, Lichten M. Intermediates of yeast meiotic recombination contain heteroduplex DNA. Mol Cell. 2001b;8(1):225–231. doi:10. 1016/S1097-2765(01)00280-5.
- Anand R, Ranjha L, Cannavo E, Cejka P. Phosphorylated CtIP functions as a co-factor of the MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 endonuclease in

DNA end resection. Mol Cell. 2016;64(5):940-950. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2016.10.017.

- Argueso JL, Wanat J, Gemici Z, Alani E. Competing crossover pathways act during meiosis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 2004;168(4):1805–1816. doi:10.1534/genetics.104.032912.
- Arora K, Corbett KD. The conserved XPF:ERCC1-like Zip2:Spo16 complex controls meiotic crossover formation through structurespecific DNA binding. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(5):2365–2376. doi:10.1093/nar/gky1273.
- Arora S, Deshpande RA, Budd M, Campbell J, Revere A, Zhang X, Schmidt KH, Paull TT. Genetic separation of Sae2 nuclease activity from Mre11 nuclease functions in budding yeast. Mol Cell Biol. 2017;37(24):e00156-17. doi:10.1128/MCB.00156-17.
- Arora C, Kee K, Maleki S, Keeney S. Antiviral protein Ski8 is a direct partner of Spo11 in meiotic DNA break formation, independent of its cytoplasmic role in RNA metabolism. Mol Cell. 2004;13(4): 549–559. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00063-2.
- Bailis JM, Roeder GS. Synaptonemal complex morphogenesis and sister-chromatid cohesion require Mek1-dependent phosphorylation of a meiotic chromosomal protein. Genes Dev. 1998; 12(22):3551–3563. doi:10.1101/gad.12.22.3551.
- Ballew O, Lacefield S. The DNA damage checkpoint and the spindle position checkpoint maintain meiotic commitment in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Curr Biol. 2019;29(3):449–460.e2. doi:10. 1016/j.cub.2018.12.043.
- Bani Ismail M, Shinohara M, Shinohara A. Dot1-dependent histone H3K79 methylation promotes the formation of meiotic doublestrand breaks in the absence of histone H3K4 methylation in budding yeast. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e96648. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0096648.
- Bardhan A, Chuong H, Dawson DS. Meiotic cohesin promotes pairing of nonhomologous centromeres in early meiotic prophase. Mol Biol Cell. 2010;21(11):1799–1809. doi:10.1091/mbc. e09-05-0392.
- Bell LR, Byers B. Homologous association of chromosomal DNA during yeast meiosis. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1983; 47(Pt 2):829–840. doi:10.1101/SQB.1983.047.01.095.
- Benjamin KR, Zhang C, Shokat KM, Herskowitz I. Control of landmark events in meiosis by the CDK Cdc28 and the meiosisspecific kinase Ime2. Genes Dev. 2003;17(12):1524–1539. doi:10. 1101/gad.1101503.
- Bergerat A, de Massy B, Gadelle D, Varoutas PC, Nicolas A, Forterre P. An atypical topoisomerase II from Archaea with implications for meiotic recombination. Nature. 1997;386(6623):414–417. doi:10. 1038/386414a0.
- Bishop DK. RecA homologs Dmc1 and Rad51 interact to form multiple nuclear complexes prior to meiotic chromosome synapsis. Cell. 1994;79(6):1081–1092. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94) 90038-8.
- Bishop DK, Park D, Xu L, Kleckner N. DMC1: a meiosis-specific yeast homolog of E. coli RecA required for recombination, synaptonemal complex formation, and cell cycle progression. Cell. 1992;69(3):439–456. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90446-J.
- Blat Y, Kleckner N. Cohesins bind to preferential sites along yeast chromosome III, with differential regulation along arms versus the centric region. Cell. 1999;98(2):249–259. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81019-3.
- Blat Y, Protacio RU, Hunter N, Kleckner N. Physical and functional interactions among basic chromosome organizational features govern early steps of meiotic chiasma formation. Cell. 2002; 111(6):791–802. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01167-4.
- Blitzblau HG, Bell GW, Rodriguez J, Bell SP, Hochwagen A. Mapping of meiotic single-stranded DNA reveals double-stranded-break

hotspots near centromeres and telomeres. Curr Biol. 2007; 17(23):2003–2012. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2007.10.066.

- Blitzblau HG, Chan CS, Hochwagen A, Bell SP. Separation of DNA replication from the assembly of break-competent meiotic chromosomes. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(5):e1002643. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1002643.
- Blitzblau HG, Hochwagen A. ATR/Mec1 prevents lethal meiotic recombination initiation on partially replicated chromosomes in budding yeast. eLife. 2013;2:e00844. doi:10.7554/eLife.00844.
- Borde V, Goldman AS, Lichten M. Direct coupling between meiotic DNA replication and recombination initiation. Science. 2000; 290(5492):806–809. doi:10.1126/science.290.5492.806.
- Borde V, Lin W, Novikov E, Petrini JH, Lichten M, Nicolas A. Association of Mre11p with double-strand break sites during yeast meiosis. Mol Cell. 2004;13(3):389–401. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00034-6.
- Borde V, Robine N, Lin W, Bonfils S, Geli V, Nicolas A. Histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation marks meiotic recombination initiation sites. EMBO J. 2009;28(2):99–111. doi:10.1038/emboj.2008.257.
- Borde V, Wu TC, Lichten M. Use of a recombination reporter insert to define meiotic recombination domains on chromosome III of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1999;19(7):4832–4842. doi: 10.1128/MCB.19.7.4832.
- Börner GV, Barot A, Kleckner N. Yeast Pch2 promotes domainal axis organization, timely recombination progression, and arrest of defective recombinosomes during meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(9):3327–3332. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711864105.
- Börner GV, Cha RS. Induction and analysis of synchronous meiotic yeast cultures. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2015;2015(10):908–913. doi:10.1101/pdb.prot085035.
- Börner GV, Kleckner N, Hunter N. Crossover/noncrossover differentiation, synaptonemal complex formation, and regulatory surveillance at the leptotene/zygotene transition of meiosis. Cell. 2004;117(1):29–45. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00292-2.
- Brar GA, Hochwagen A, Ee LS, Amon A. The multiple roles of cohesin in meiotic chromosome morphogenesis and pairing. Mol Biol Cell. 2009;20(3):1030–1047. doi:10.1091/mbc.e08-06-0637.
- Brar GA, Kiburz BM, Zhang Y, Kim JE, White F, Amon A. Rec8 phosphorylation and recombination promote the step-wise loss of cohesins in meiosis. Nature. 2006;441(7092):532–536. doi:10.1038/ nature04794.
- Brar GA, Yassour M, Friedman N, Regev A, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS. High-resolution view of the yeast meiotic program revealed by ribosome profiling. Science. 2012;335(6068):552–557. doi:10. 1126/science.1215110.
- Brewer BJ, Fangman WL. Preferential inclusion of extrachromosomal genetic elements in yeast meiotic spores. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1980;77(9):5380–5384. doi:10.1073/pnas.77.9.5380.
- Brito IL, Yu H-G, Amon A. Condensins promote coorientation of sister chromatids during meiosis I in budding yeast. Genetics. 2010; 185(1):55–64. doi:10.1534/genetics.110.115139.
- Brown MS, Grubb J, Zhang A, Rust MJ, Bishop DK. Small Rad51 and Dmc1 complexes often co-occupy both ends of a meiotic DNA double strand break. PLoS Genet. 2015;11(12):e1005653. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1005653.
- Buhler C, Borde V, Lichten M. Mapping meiotic single-strand DNA reveals a new landscape of DNA double-strand breaks in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PLoS Biol. 2007;5(12):e324. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0050324.
- Buonomo SB, Clyne RK, Fuchs J, Loidl J, Uhlmann F, Nasmyth K. Disjunction of homologous chromosomes in meiosis I depends on proteolytic cleavage of the meiotic cohesin Rec8 by separin. Cell. 2000;103(3):387–398. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00131-8.

- Buonomo SB, Rabitsch KP, Fuchs J, Gruber S, Sullivan M, Uhlmann F, Petronczki M, Tóth A, Nasmyth K. Division of the nucleolus and its release of CDC14 during anaphase of meiosis I depends on separase, SPO12, and SLK19. Dev Cell. 2003;4(5):727–739. doi:10. 1016/S1534-5807(03)00129-1.
- Burgess SM, Kleckner N, Weiner BM. Somatic pairing of homologs in budding yeast: existence and modulation. Genes Dev. 1999; 13(12):1627–1641. doi:10.1101/gad.13.12.1627.
- Bushkin GG, Pincus D, Morgan JT, Richardson K, Lewis C, Chan SH, Bartel DP, Fink GR. M(6)A modification of a 3' UTR site reduces RME1 mRNA levels to promote meiosis. Nat Commun. 2019; 10(1):3414. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11232-7.
- Busygina V, Sehorn MG, Shi IY, Tsubouchi H, Roeder GS, Sung P. Hed1 regulates Rad51-mediated recombination via a novel mechanism. Genes Dev. 2008;22(6):786–795. doi:10.1101/gad.1638708.
- Cairo G, MacKenzie AM, Lacefield S. Differential requirement for Bub1 and Bub3 in regulation of meiotic versus mitotic chromosome segregation. J Cell Biol. 2020;219(4):e201909136. doi:10. 1083/jcb.201909136.
- Callender TL, Laureau R, Wan L, Chen X, Sandhu R, Laljee S, Zhou S, Suhandynata RT, Prugar E, Gaines WA, *et al.* Mek1 down regulates Rad51 activity during yeast meiosis by phosphorylation of Hed1. PLoS Genet. 2016;12(8):e1006226. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1006226.
- Cannavo E, Cejka P. Sae2 promotes dsDNA endonuclease activity within Mre11–Rad50–Xrs2 to resect DNA breaks. Nature. 2014; 514(7520):122–125. doi:10.1038/nature13771.
- Cannavo E, Sanchez A, Anand R, Ranjha L, Hugener J, Adam C, Acharya A, Weyland N, Aran-Guiu X, Charbonnier J-B, et al. Regulation of the MLH1–MLH3 endonuclease in meiosis. Nature. 2020;586(7830):618–622. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2592-2.
- Cao L, Alani E, Kleckner N. A pathway for generation and processing of double-strand breaks during meiotic recombination in *S. cerevisiae*. Cell. 1990;61(6):1089–1101. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90) 90072-M.
- Carballo JA, Johnson AL, Sedgwick SG, Cha RS. Phosphorylation of the axial element protein Hop1 by Mec1/Tel1 ensures meiotic interhomolog recombination. Cell. 2008;132(5):758–770. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2008.01.035.
- Carlile TM, Amon A. Meiosis I is established through division-specific translational control of a cyclin. Cell. 2008;133(2):280–291. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2008.02.032.
- Cartagena-Lirola H, Guerini I, Manfrini N, Lucchini G, Longhese MP. Role of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Rad53 checkpoint kinase in signaling double-strand breaks during the meiotic cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(14):4480–4493. doi:10.1128/MCB.00375-08.
- Cartagena-Lirola H, Guerini I, Viscardi V, Lucchini G, Longhese MP. Budding yeast Sae2 is an in vivo target of the Mec1 and Tel1 checkpoint kinases during meiosis. Cell Cycle. 2006;5(14): 1549–1559. doi:10.4161/cc.5.14.2916.
- Cha RS, Weiner BM, Keeney S, Dekker J, Kleckner N. Progression of meiotic DNA replication is modulated by interchromosomal interaction proteins, negatively by Spo11p and positively by Rec8p. Genes Dev. 2000;14(4):493–503. doi:10.1101/gad.14.4.493.
- Chan Y-L, Zhang A, Weissman BP, Bishop DK. RPA resolves conflicting activities of accessory proteins during reconstitution of Dmc1-mediated meiotic recombination. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(2):747–761. doi:10.1093/nar/gky1160.
- Chen X, Gaglione R, Leong T, Bednor L, de Los Santos T, Luk E, Airola M, Hollingsworth NM. Mek1 coordinates meiotic progression with DNA break repair by directly phosphorylating and inhibiting the yeast pachytene exit regulator Ndt80. PLoS Genet. 2018;14(11): e1007832. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1007832.

- Chen J, Tresenrider A, Chia M, McSwiggen DT, Spedale G, Jorgensen V, Liao H, van Werven FJ, Ünal E. Kinetochore inactivation by expression of a repressive mRNA. eLife. 2017;6:e27417. doi:10.7554/eLife.27417.
- Chen SY, Tsubouchi T, Rockmill B, Sandler JS, Richards DR, Vader G, Hochwagen A, Roeder GS, Fung JC. Global analysis of the meiotic crossover landscape. Dev Cell. 2008;15(3):401–415. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2008.07.006.
- Chen X, Suhandynata RT, Sandhu R, Rockmill B, Mohibullah N, Niu H, Liang J, Lo HC, Miller DE, Zhou H, *et al.* Phosphorylation of the synaptonemal complex protein Zip1 regulates the crossover/noncrossover decision during Yeast Meiosis. PLoS Biol. 2015;13(12): e1002329. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002329.
- Cheng C-H, Lo Y-H, Liang S-S, Ti S-C, Lin F-M, Yeh C-H, Huang H-Y, Wang T-F. SUMO modifications control assembly of synaptonemal complex and polycomplex in meiosis of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genes Dev. 2006;20(15):2067–2081. doi:10.1101/gad.1430406.
- Cheslock PS, Kemp BJ, Boumil RM, Dawson DS. The roles of MAD1, MAD2 and MAD3 in meiotic progression and the segregation of nonexchange chromosomes. Nat Genet. 2005;37(7):756–760. doi: 10.1038/ng1588.
- Chia M, Tresenrider A, Chen J, Spedale G, Jorgensen V, Ünal E, van Werven FJ. Transcription of a 5' extended mRNA isoform directs dynamic chromatin changes and interference of a downstream promoter. eLife. 2017;6:e27420. doi:10.7554/eLife.27420.
- Chu S, DeRisi J, Eisen M, Mulholland J, Botstein D, Brown PO, Herskowitz I. The transcriptional program of sporulation in budding yeast. Science. 1998;282(5389):699–705. doi:10.1126/science. 282.5389.699.
- Chu S, Herskowitz I. Gametogenesis in yeast is regulated by a transcriptional cascade dependent on Ndt80. Mol Cell. 1998;1(5): 685–696. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80068-4.
- Chua PR, Roeder GS. Zip2, a meiosis-specific protein required for the initiation of chromosome synapsis. Cell. 1998;93(3):349–359. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81164-2.
- Claeys Bouuaert C, Tischfield SE, Pu S, Mimitou EP, Arias-Palomo E, Berger JM, Keeney S. Structural and functional characterization of the Spo11 core complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2021;28(1): 92–102. doi:10.1038/s41594-020-00534-w.
- Clancy MJ, Shambaugh ME, Timpte CS, Bokar JA. Induction of sporulation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* leads to the formation of N6-methyladenosine in mRNA: a potential mechanism for the activity of the IME4 gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002;30(20): 4509–4518. doi:10.1093/nar/gkf573.
- Clift D, Bizzari F, Marston AL. Shugoshin prevents cohesin cleavage by PP2A(Cdc55)-dependent inhibition of separase. Genes Dev. 2009;23(6):766–780. doi:10.1101/gad.507509.
- Cloud V, Chan Y-L, Grubb J, Budke B, Bishop DK. Rad51 is an accessory factor for Dmc1-mediated joint molecule formation during meiosis. Science. 2012;337(6099):1222–1225. doi:10.1126/science. 1219379.
- Clyne RK, Katis VL, Jessop L, Benjamin KR, Herskowitz I, Lichten M, Nasmyth K. Polo-like kinase Cdc5 promotes chiasmata formation and cosegregation of sister centromeres at meiosis I. Nat Cell Biol. 2003;5(5):480–485. doi:10.1038/ncb977.
- Collins I, Newlon CS. Chromosomal DNA replication initiates at the same origins in meiosis and mitosis. Mol Cell Biol. 1994;14(5): 3524–3534. doi:10.1128/mcb.14.5.3524-3534.1994.
- Colomina N, Gari E, Gallego C, Herrero E, Aldea M. G1 cyclins block the ime1 pathway to make mitosis and meiosis incompatible in budding yeast. EMBO J. 1999;18(2):320–329. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.2.320.
- Conrad MN, Dominguez AM, Dresser ME. Ndj1p, a meiotic telomere protein required for normal chromosome synapsis and

segregation in yeast. Science. 1997;276(5316):1252–1255. doi:10. 1126/science.276.5316.1252.

- Conrad MN, Lee C-Y, Chao G, Shinohara M, Kosaka H, Shinohara A., Conchello J-A, Dresser ME. Rapid telomere movement in meiotic prophase is promoted by NDJ1, MPS3, and CSM4 and is modulated by recombination. Cell. 2008;133(7):1175–1187. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2008.04.047.
- Conrad MN, Lee C-Y, Wilkerson JL, Dresser ME. MPS3 mediates meiotic bouquet formation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(21):8863–8868. doi:10.1073/pnas.0606165104.
- Copsey A, Tang S, Jordan PW, Blitzblau HG, Newcombe S, Chan AC, Newnham L, Li Z, Gray S, Herbert AD, *et al.* Smc5/6 coordinates formation and resolution of joint molecules with chromosome morphology to ensure meiotic divisions. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(12): e1004071. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004071.
- Corbett KD, Harrison SC. Molecular architecture of the yeast monopolin complex. Cell Rep. 2012;1(6):583–589. doi:10.1016/j.celrep. 2012.05.012.
- Corbett KD, Yip CK, Ee L-S, Walz T, Amon A, Harrison SC. The monopolin complex crosslinks kinetochore components to regulate chromosome-microtubule attachments. Cell. 2010;142(4): 556–567. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.017.
- Corbi D, Sunder S, Weinreich M, Skokotas A, Johnson ES, Winter E. Multisite phosphorylation of the Sum1 transcriptional repressor by S-phase kinases controls exit from meiotic prophase in yeast. Mol Cell Biol. 2014;34(12):2249–2263. doi:10.1128/MCB.01413-13.
- Crickard JB, Kaniecki K, Kwon Y, Sung P, Greene EC. Spontaneous self-segregation of Rad51 and Dmc1 DNA recombinases within mixed recombinase filaments. J Biol Chem. 2018;293(11): 4191–4200. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA117.001143.
- Crickard JB, Kwon Y, Sung P, Greene EC. Dynamic interactions of the homologous pairing 2 (Hop2)-meiotic nuclear divisions 1 (Mnd1) protein complex with meiotic presynaptic filaments in budding yeast. J Biol Chem. 2019;294(2):490–501. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118. 006146.
- Cromie GA, Hyppa RW, Taylor AF, Zakharyevich K, Hunter N, Smith GR. Single Holliday junctions are intermediates of meiotic recombination. Cell. 2006;127(6):1167–1178. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.09. 050.
- Dahmann C, Futcher B. Specialization of B-type cyclins for mitosis or meiosis in S. cerevisiae. Genetics. 1995;140(3):957–963. doi:10. 1093/genetics/140.3.957.
- Davidson IF, Bauer B, Goetz D, Tang W, Wutz G, Peters J-M. DNA loop extrusion by human cohesin. Science. 2019;366(6471):1338–1345. doi:10.1126/science.aaz3418.
- Dawson DS, Murray AW, Szostak JW. An alternative pathway for meiotic chromosome segregation in yeast. Science. 1986; 234(4777):713–717. doi:10.1126/science.3535068.
- Dayani Y, Simchen G, Lichten M. Meiotic recombination intermediates are resolved with minimal crossover formation during return-to-growth, an analogue of the mitotic cell cycle. PLoS Genet. 2011;7(5):e1002083. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002083.
- De Ioannes P, Leon VA, Kuang Z, Wang M, Boeke JD, Hochwagen A, Armache K-J. Structure and function of the Orc1 BAH-nucleosome complex. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):2894. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10609-y.
- de los Santos T, Hollingsworth NM. Red1p, a MEK1-dependent phosphoprotein that physically interacts with Hop1p during meiosis in yeast. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(3):1783–1790. doi:10.1074/jbc. 274.3.1783.
- de los Santos T, Hunter N, Lee C, Larkin B, Loidl J, Hollingsworth NM. The Mus81/Mms4 endonuclease acts independently of double-Holliday junction resolution to promote a distinct subset

of crossovers during meiosis in budding yeast. Genetics. 2003; 164(1):81–94. doi:10.1093/genetics/164.1.81.

- de Massy B, Rocco V, Nicolas A. The nucleotide mapping of DNA double-strand breaks at the CYS3 initiation site of meiotic recombination in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J. 1995;14(18): 4589–4598. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00138.x.
- De Muyt A, Jessop L, Kolar E, Sourirajan A, Chen J, Dayani Y, Lichten M. BLM helicase ortholog Sgs1 is a central regulator of meiotic recombination intermediate metabolism. Mol Cell. 2012;46(1): 43–53. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.02.020.
- De Muyt A, Pyatnitskaya A, Andreani J, Ranjha L, Ramus C, Laureau R, Fernandez-Vega A, Holoch D, Girard E, Govin J, et al. A meiotic XPF–ERCC1-like complex recognizes joint molecule recombination intermediates to promote crossover formation. Genes Dev. 2018;32(3-4):283–296. doi:10.1101/gad.308510.117.
- Diffley JF. The many faces of redundancy in DNA replication control. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 2010;75(0):135–142. doi:10. 1101/sqb.2010.75.062.
- Dirick L, Goetsch L, Ammerer G, Byers B. Regulation of meiotic S phase by Ime2 and a Clb5,6-associated kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Science. 1998;281(5384):1854–1857. doi:10.1126/ science.281.5384.1854.
- Dong H, Roeder GS. Organization of the yeast Zip1 protein within the central region of the synaptonemal complex. J Cell Biol. 2000; 148(3):417–426. doi:10.1083/jcb.148.3.417.
- Dresser ME, Ewing DJ, Conrad MN, Dominguez AM, Barstead R, Jiang H, Kodadek T. DMC1 functions in a *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* meiotic pathway that is largely independent of the RAD51 pathway. Genetics. 1997;147(2):533–544. doi:10.1093/genetics/147.2.533.
- Eastwood MD, Cheung SW, Lee KY, Moffat J, Meneghini MD. Developmentally programmed nuclear destruction during yeast gametogenesis. Dev Cell. 2012;23(1):35–44. doi:10.1016/j.devcel. 2012.05.005.
- Eichinger CS, Jentsch S. Synaptonemal complex formation and meiotic checkpoint signaling are linked to the lateral element protein Red1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(25):11370–1135. doi:10. 1073/pnas.1004248107.
- Engebrecht JA, Voelkel-Meiman K, Roeder GS. Meiosis-specific RNA splicing in yeast. Cell. 1991;66(6):1257–1268. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91)90047-3.
- Falk JE, Chan AC, Hoffmann E, Hochwagen A. A Mec1- and PP4-dependent checkpoint couples centromere pairing to meiotic recombination. Dev Cell. 2010;19(4):599–611. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2010.09.006.
- Ferrari SR, Grubb J, Bishop DK. The Mei5–Sae3 protein complex mediates Dmc1 activity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2009; 284(18):11766–11770. doi:10.1074/jbc.C900023200.
- Forterre P, Gribaldo S, Gadelle D, Serre M-C. Origin and evolution of DNA topoisomerases. Biochimie. 2007;89(4):427–446. doi:10. 1016/j.biochi.2006.12.009.
- Fuchs J, Loidl J. Behaviour of nucleolus organizing regions (NORs) and nucleoli during mitotic and meiotic divisions in budding yeast. Chromosome Res. 2004;12(5):427–438. doi:10.1023/B:CHRO. 0000034726.05374.db.
- Fung JC, Rockmill B, Odell M, Roeder GS. Imposition of crossover interference through the nonrandom distribution of synapsis initiation complexes. Cell. 2004;116(6):795–802. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00249-1.
- Galander S, Barton RE, Borek WE, Spanos C, Kelly DA, Robertson D, Rappsilber J, Marston AL. Reductional meiosis I chromosome segregation is established by coordination of key meiotic kinases. Dev Cell. 2019;49(4):526–541.e5. doi:10.1016/j.devcel. 2019.04.003.

- Ganji M, Shaltiel IA, Bisht S, Kim E, Kalichava A, Haering CH, Dekker C. Real-time imaging of DNA loop extrusion by condensin. Science. 2018;360(6384):102–105. doi:10.1126/science.aar7831.
- Gao J, Chau S, Chowdhury F, Zhou T, Hossain S, McQuibban GA, Meneghini MD. Meiotic viral attenuation through an ancestral apoptotic pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116(33):16454– 16462. doi:10.1073/pnas.1900751116.
- Garcia V, Gray S, Allison RM, Cooper TJ, Neale MJ. Tel1(ATM)-mediated interference suppresses clustered meiotic double-strand-break formation. Nature. 2015;520(7545): 114–118. doi:10.1038/nature13993.
- Garcia V, Phelps SE, Gray S, Neale MJ. Bidirectional resection of DNA double-strand breaks by Mre11 and Exo1. Nature. 2011;479(7372): 241–244. doi:10.1038/nature10515.
- Gasior SL, Olivares H, Ear U, Hari DM, Weichselbaum R, Bishop DK. Assembly of RecA-like recombinases: distinct roles for mediator proteins in mitosis and meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98(15):8411–8418. doi:10.1073/pnas.121046198.
- Gasior SL, Wong AK, Kora Y, Shinohara A, Bishop DK. Rad52 associates with RPA and functions with rad55 and rad57 to assemble meiotic recombination complexes. Genes Dev. 1998;12(14): 2208–2221. doi:10.1101/gad.12.14.2208.
- Gavade JN, Puccia CM, Herod SG, Trinidad JC, Berchowitz LE, Lacefield S. Identification of 14-3-3 proteins, polo kinase, and RNA-binding protein Pes4 as key regulators of meiotic commitment in budding yeast. Curr Biol. 2022;32(7):1534–1547.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2022.02.022.
- Gerton JL, DeRisi J, Shroff R, Lichten M, Brown PO, Petes TD. Global mapping of meiotic recombination hotspots and coldspots in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(21):11383–11390. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.21.11383.
- Giroux CN, Dresser ME, Tiano HF. Genetic control of chromosome synapsis in yeast meiosis. Genome. 1989;31(1):88–94. doi:10. 1139/g89-017.
- Gladstone MN, Obeso D, Chuong H, Dawson DS. The synaptonemal complex protein Zip1 promotes bi-orientation of centromeres at meiosis I. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(12):e1000771. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1000771.
- Glynn EF, Megee PC, Yu HG, Mistrot C, Unal E, Koshland DE, DeRisi JL, Gerton JL. Genome-wide mapping of the cohesin complex in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PLoS Biol. 2004;2(9):E259. doi:10. 1371/journal.pbio.0020259.
- Goldfarb T, Lichten M. Frequent and efficient use of the sister chromatid for DNA double-strand break repair during budding yeast meiosis. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(10):e1000520. doi:10.1371/journal. pbio.1000520.
- Goldman AS, Lichten M. The efficiency of meiotic recombination between dispersed sequences in Saccharomyces cerevisiae depends upon their chromosomal location. Genetics. 1996;144(1):43–55. doi:10.1093/genetics/144.1.43.
- Goldman AS, Lichten M. Restriction of ectopic recombination by interhomolog interactions during Saccharomyces cerevisiae meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(17):9537–9542. doi:10.1073/ pnas.97.17.9537.
- Gonzalez-Arranz S, Acosta I, Carballo JA, Santos B, San-Segundo PA. The N-terminal region of the polo kinase Cdc5 is required for downregulation of the meiotic recombination checkpoint. Cells. 2021;10(10):2561. doi:10.3390/cells10102561.
- Gorsich SW, Shaw JM. Importance of mitochondrial dynamics during meiosis and sporulation. Mol Biol Cell. 2004;15(10):4369–4381. doi:10.1091/mbc.e03-12-0875.
- Gothwal SK, Patel NJ, Colletti MM, Sasanuma H, Shinohara M, Hochwagen A, Shinohara A. The double-strand break landscape

of meiotic chromosomes is shaped by the Paf1 transcription elongation complex in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics. 2016; 202(2):497–512. doi:10.1534/genetics.115.177287.

- Gottlieb S, Esposito RE. A new role for a yeast transcriptional silencer gene, SIR2, in regulation of recombination in ribosomal DNA. Cell. 1989;56(5):771–776. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90681-8.
- Grigaitis R, Ranjha L, Wild P, Kasaciunaite K, Ceppi I, Kissling V, Henggeler A, Susperregui A, Peter M, Seidel R, et al. Phosphorylation of the RecQ helicase Sgs1/BLM controls its DNA unwinding activity during meiosis and mitosis. Dev Cell. 2020;53(6):706–723.e5. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2020.05.016.
- Grushcow JM, Holzen TM, Park KJ, Weinert T, Lichten M, Bishop DK. Saccharomyces cerevisiae checkpoint genes MEC1, RAD17 and RAD24 are required for normal meiotic recombination partner choice. Genetics. 1999;153(2):607–620. doi:10.1093/genetics/153.2.607.
- Guerra CE, Kaback DB. The role of centromere alignment in meiosis I segregation of homologous chromosomes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics. 1999;153(4):1547–1560. doi:10.1093/genetics/153.4. 1547.
- Haber JE, Leung WY, Borts RH, Lichten M. The frequency of meiotic recombination in yeast is independent of the number and position of homologous donor sequences: implications for chromosome pairing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88(4):1120–1124. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.4.1120.
- He W, Rao H, Tang S, Bhagwat N, Kulkarni DS, Ma Y, Chang MAW, Hall C, Bragg JW, Manasca HS, et al. Regulated proteolysis of MutSγ controls meiotic crossing over. Mol Cell. 2020;78(1):168– 183.e5. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2020.02.001.
- He W, Verhees GF, Bhagwat N, Yang Y, Kulkarni DS, Lombardo Z, Lahiri S, Roy P, Zhuo J, Dang B, *et al.* SUMO fosters assembly and functionality of the MutS $\gamma$  complex to facilitate meiotic crossing over. Dev Cell. 2021;56(14):2073–2088.e3. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2021.06.012.
- Heldrich J, Milano CR, Markowitz TE, Ur SN, Vale-Silva LA, Corbett KD, Hochwagen A. Two pathways drive meiotic chromosome axis assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nucleic Acids Res. 2022;50(8):4545–4556. doi:10.1093/nar/gkac227.
- Heldrich J, Sun X, Vale-Silva LA, Markowitz TE, Hochwagen A. Topoisomerases modulate the timing of meiotic DNA breakage and chromosome morphogenesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics. 2020;215(1):59–73. doi:10.1534/genetics.120.303060.
- Henderson KA, Kee K, Maleki S, Santini PA, Keeney S. Cyclin-dependent kinase directly regulates initiation of meiotic recombination. Cell. 2006;125(7):1321–1332. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.039.
- Henderson KA, Keeney S. Tying synaptonemal complex initiation to the formation and programmed repair of DNA double-strand breaks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(13):4519–4524. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400843101.
- Herruzo E, Lago-Maciel A, Baztan S, Santos B, Carballo JA, San-Segundo PA. Pch2 orchestrates the meiotic recombination checkpoint from the cytoplasm. PLoS Genet. 2021;17(7): e1009560. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1009560.
- Hochwagen A, Tham WH, Brar GA, Amon A. The FK506 binding protein Fpr3 counteracts protein phosphatase 1 to maintain meiotic recombination checkpoint activity. Cell. 2005;122(6):861–873. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.07.010.
- Hollingsworth NM, Goetsch L, Byers B. The HOP1 gene encodes a meiosis-specific component of yeast chromosomes. Cell. 1990; 61(1):73–84. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90216-2.
- Hollingsworth NM, Ponte L, Halsey C. MSH5, a novel MutS homolog, facilitates meiotic reciprocal recombination between homologs in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* but not mismatch repair. Genes Dev. 1995;9(14):1728–1739. doi:10.1101/gad.9.14.1728.

- Holt LJ, Hutti JE, Cantley LC, Morgan DO. Evolution of Ime2 phosphorylation sites on Cdk1 substrates provides a mechanism to limit the effects of the phosphatase Cdc14 in meiosis. Mol Cell. 2007; 25(5):689–702. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.02.012.
- Holzen TM, Shah PP, Olivares HA, Bishop DK. Tid1/Rdh54 promotes dissociation of Dmc1 from nonrecombinogenic sites on meiotic chromatin. Genes Dev. 2006;20(18):2593–2604. doi:10.1101/gad. 1447106.
- Hong S, Joo JH, Yun H, Kleckner N, Kim KP. Recruitment of Rec8, Pds5 and Rad61/Wapl to meiotic homolog pairing, recombination, axis formation and S-phase. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(22):11691–-11708. doi:10.1093/nar/gkz903.
- Hong EJ, Roeder GS. A role for Ddc1 in signaling meiotic doublestrand breaks at the pachytene checkpoint. Genes Dev. 2002; 16(3):363–376. doi:10.1101/gad.938102.
- Hong S, Sung Y, Yu M, Lee M, Kleckner N, Kim KP. The logic and mechanism of homologous recombination partner choice. Mol Cell. 2013;51(4):440–453. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.08.008.
- Hugerat Y, Simchen G. Mixed segregation and recombination of chromosomes and YACs during single-division meiosis in spo13 strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1993;135(2):297–308. doi:10.1093/genetics/135.2.297.
- Humphryes N, Leung WK, Argunhan B, Terentyev Y, Dvorackova M, Tsubouchi H. The Ecm11-Gmc2 complex promotes synaptonemal complex formation through assembly of transverse filaments in budding yeast. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(1):e1003194. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1003194.
- Hunter N, Kleckner N. The single-end invasion: an asymmetric intermediate at the double-strand break to double-Holliday junction transition of meiotic recombination. Cell. 2001;106(1):59–70. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00430-5.
- Jambhekar A, Amon A. Control of meiosis by respiration. Curr Biol. 2008;18(13):969–975. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.047.
- Jessop L, Lichten M. Mus81/Mms4 endonuclease and Sgs1 helicase collaborate to ensure proper recombination intermediate metabolism during meiosis. Mol Cell. 2008;31(3):313–323. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2008.05.021.
- Jessop L, Rockmill B, Roeder GS, Lichten M. Meiotic chromosome synapsis-promoting proteins antagonize the anti-crossover activity of sgs1. PLoS Genet. 2006;2(9):e155. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.0020155.
- Jin H, Guacci V, Yu H-G. Pds5 is required for homologue pairing and inhibits synapsis of sister chromatids during yeast meiosis. J Cell Biol. 2009;186(5):713–725. doi:10.1083/jcb.200810107.
- Jin Q, Trelles-Sticken E, Scherthan H, Loidl J. Yeast nuclei display prominent centromere clustering that is reduced in nondividing cells and in meiotic prophase. J Cell Biol. 1998;141(1):21–29. doi: 10.1083/jcb.141.1.21.
- Jinks-Robertson S, Petes TD. High-frequency meiotic gene conversion between repeated genes on nonhomologous chromosomes in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1985;82(10):3350–3354. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.10.3350.
- Jinks-Robertson S, Sayeed S, Murphy T. Meiotic crossing over between nonhomologous chromosomes affects chromosome segregation in yeast. Genetics. 1997;146(1):69–78. doi:10.1093/genetics/146.1.69.
- Johnson D, Crawford M, Cooper T, Claeys Bouuaert C, Keeney S, Llorente B, Garcia V, Neale MJ. Concerted cutting by Spo11 illuminates meiotic DNA break mechanics. Nature. 2021;594(7864): 572–576. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03389-3.
- Joshi N, Barot A, Jamison C, Börner GV. Pch2 links chromosome axis remodeling at future crossover sites and crossover distribution during yeast meiosis. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(7):e1000557. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1000557.

- Joshi N, Brown MS, Bishop DK, Börner GV. Gradual implementation of the meiotic recombination program via checkpoint pathways controlled by global DSB levels. Mol Cell. 2015;57(5):797–811. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.12.027.
- Juneau K, Palm C, Miranda M, Davis RW. High-density yeast-tiling array reveals previously undiscovered introns and extensive regulation of meiotic splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(5): 1522–1527. doi:10.1073/pnas.0610354104.
- Kaback DB, Guacci V, Barber D, Mahon JW. Chromosome sizedependent control of meiotic recombination. Science. 1992; 256(5054):228–232. doi:10.1126/science.1566070.
- Kadyk LC, Hartwell LH. Sister chromatids are preferred over homologs as substrates for recombinational repair in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1992;132(2):387–402. doi:10.1093/genetics/132.2. 387.
- Kamieniecki RJ, Shanks RM, Dawson DS. Slk19p is necessary to prevent separation of sister chromatids in meiosis I. Curr Biol. 2000; 10(19):1182–1190. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00723-5.
- Kang H-A, Shin H-C, Kalantzi A-S, Toseland CP, Kim H-M, Gruber S, Peraro MD, Oh B-H. Crystal structure of Hop2–Mnd1 and mechanistic insights into its role in meiotic recombination. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;43(7):3841–3856. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv172.
- Kar FM, Vogel C, Hochwagen A. Meiotic DNA breaks activate a streamlined phospho-signaling response that largely avoids protein-level changes. Life Sci Alliance. 2022;5(10):e202201454. doi:10.26508/lsa.202201454.
- Kassir Y, Adir N, Boger-Nadjar E, Raviv NG, Rubin-Bejerano I, Sagee S, Shenhar G. Transcriptional regulation of meiosis in budding yeast. Int Rev Cytol. 2003;224:111–171. doi:10.1016/S0074-7696(05)24004-4.
- Kassir Y, Granot D, Simchen G. IME1, a positive regulator gene of meiosis in S. cerevisiae. Cell. 1988;52(6):853–862. doi:10.1016/ 0092-8674(88)90427-8.
- Katis VL, Galova M, Rabitsch KP, Gregan J, Nasmyth K. Maintenance of cohesin at centromeres after meiosis I in budding yeast requires a kinetochore-associated protein related to MEI-S332. Curr Biol. 2004;14(7):560–572. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.03.001.
- Katis VL, Lipp JJ, Imre R, Bogdanova A, Okaz E, Habermann B, Mechtler K, Nasmyth K, Zachariae W. Rec8 phosphorylation by casein kinase 1 and Cdc7-Dbf4 kinase regulates cohesin cleavage by separase during meiosis. Dev Cell. 2010;18(3):397–409. doi:10. 1016/j.devcel.2010.01.014.
- Katis VL, Matos J, Mori S, Shirahige K, Zachariae W, Nasmyth K. Spo13 facilitates monopolin recruitment to kinetochores and regulates maintenance of centromeric cohesion during yeast meiosis. Curr Biol. 2004;14(24):2183–2196. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.12. 020.
- Kaur H, De Muyt A, Lichten M. Top3-Rmi1 DNA single-strand decatenase is integral to the formation and resolution of meiotic recombination intermediates. Mol Cell. 2015;57(4):583–594. doi:10.1016/ j.molcel.2015.01.020.
- Keeney S, Giroux CN, Kleckner N. Meiosis-specific DNA doublestrand breaks are catalyzed by Spo11, a member of a widely conserved protein family. Cell. 1997;88(3):375–384. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81876-0.
- Kemp B, Boumil RM, Stewart MN, Dawson DS. A role for centromere pairing in meiotic chromosome segregation. Genes Dev. 2004; 18(16):1946–1951. doi:10.1101/gad.1227304.
- Kerr GW, Sarkar S, Tibbles KL, Petronczki M, Millar JBA, Arumugam P. Meiotic nuclear divisions in budding yeast require PP2A(Cdc55)-mediated antagonism of Net1 phosphorylation by Cdk. J Cell Biol. 2011;193(7):1157–1166. doi:10.1083/jcb. 201103019.

- Kiburz BM, Amon A, Marston AL. Shugoshin promotes sister kinetochore biorientation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Biol Cell. 2008; 19(3):1199–1209. doi:10.1091/mbc.e07-06-0584.
- Kiburz BM, Reynolds DB, Megee PC, Marston AL, Lee BH, Lee TI, Levine SS, Young RA, Amon A. The core centromere and Sgo1 establish a 50-kb cohesin-protected domain around centromeres during meiosis I. Genes Dev. 2005;19(24):3017–3030. doi:10.1101/ gad.1373005.
- Kim S, Meyer R, Chuong H, Dawson DS. Dual mechanisms prevent premature chromosome segregation during meiosis. Genes Dev. 2013;27(19):2139–2146. doi:10.1101/gad.227454.113.
- Kim Y, Rosenberg SC, Kugel CL, Kostow N, Rog O, Davydov V, Su TY, Dernburg AF, Corbett KD. The chromosome axis controls meiotic events through a hierarchical assembly of HORMA domain proteins. Dev Cell. 2014;31(4):487–502. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2014.09. 013.
- Kim KP, Weiner BM, Zhang L, Jordan A, Dekker J, Kleckner N. Sister cohesion and structural axis components mediate homolog bias of meiotic recombination. Cell. 2010;143(6):924–937. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2010.11.015.
- Kim Guisbert KS, Zhang Y, Flatow J, Hurtado S, Staley JP, Lin S, Sontheimer EJ. Meiosis-induced alterations in transcript architecture and noncoding RNA expression in S. cerevisiae. RNA. 2012;18(6):1142–1153. doi:10.1261/ma.030510.111.
- King GA, Goodman JS, Schick JG, Chetlapalli K, Jorgens DM, McDonald KL, Ünal E. Meiotic cellular rejuvenation is coupled to nuclear remodeling in budding yeast. eLife. 2019;8:e47156. doi:10.7554/eLife.47156.
- Kironmai KM, Muniyappa K, Friedman DB, Hollingsworth NM, Byers B. DNA-binding activities of Hop1 protein, a synaptonemal complex component from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1998; 18(3):1424–1435. doi:10.1128/MCB.18.3.1424.
- Kitajima TS, Kawashima SA, Watanabe Y. The conserved kinetochore protein shugoshin protects centromeric cohesion during meiosis. Nature. 2004;427(6974):510–517. doi:10.1038/nature02312.
- Kitajima TS, Sakuno T, Ishiguro K, Iemura S, Natsume T, Kawashima SA, Watanabe Y. Shugoshin collaborates with protein phosphatase 2A to protect cohesin. Nature. 2006;441(7089):46–52. doi:10. 1038/nature04663.
- Klapholz S, Esposito RE. Recombination and chromosome segregation during the single division meiosis in SPO12-1 and SPO13-1 diploids. Genetics. 1980;96(3):589–611. doi:10.1093/genetics/96.3.589.
- Klapholz S, Waddell CS, Esposito RE. The role of the SPO11 gene in meiotic recombination in yeast. Genetics. 1985;110(2):187–216. doi:10.1093/genetics/110.2.187.
- Kleckner N. Chiasma formation: chromatin/axis interplay and the role(s) of the synaptonemal complex. Chromosoma. 2006; 115(3):175–194. doi:10.1007/s00412-006-0055-7.
- Kleckner N, Zickler D, Jones GH, Dekker J, Padmore R, Henle J, Hutchinson J. A mechanical basis for chromosome function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(34):12592–12597. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0402724101.
- Klein F, Laroche T, Cardenas ME, Hofmann JF, Schweizer D, Gasser SM. Localization of RAP1 and topoisomerase II in nuclei and meiotic chromosomes of yeast. J Cell Biol. 1992;117(5):935–948. doi: 10.1083/jcb.117.5.935.
- Klein F, Mahr P, Galova M, Buonomo SBC, Michaelis C, Nairz K, Nasmyth K. A central role for cohesins in sister chromatid cohesion, formation of axial elements and recombination during yeast meiosis. Cell. 1999;98(1):91–103. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80609-1.
- Kosaka H, Shinohara M, Shinohara A. Csm4-dependent telomere movement on nuclear envelope promotes meiotic

recombination. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(9):e1000196. doi:10.1371/ journal.pgen.1000196.

- Koszul R, Kim KP, Prentiss M, Kleckner N, Kameoka S. Meiotic chromosomes move by linkage to dynamic actin cables with transduction of force through the nuclear envelope. Cell. 2008;133(7): 1188–1201. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.04.050.
- Koszul R, Kleckner N. Dynamic chromosome movements during meiosis: a way to eliminate unwanted connections? Trends Cell Biol. 2009;19(12):716–724. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.09.007.
- Kshirsagar R, Ghodke I, Muniyappa K. Saccharomyces cerevisiae Red1 protein exhibits nonhomologous DNA end-joining activity and potentiates Hop1-promoted pairing of double-stranded DNA. J Biol Chem. 2017;292(33):13853–13866. doi:10.1074/jbc.M117. 796425.
- Kugou K, Fukuda T, Yamada S, Ito M, Sasanuma H, Mori S, Katou Y, Itoh T, Matsumoto K, Shibata T, et al. Rec8 guides canonical Spo11 distribution along yeast meiotic chromosomes. Mol Biol Cell. 2009;20(13):3064–3076. doi:10.1091/mbc.e08-12-1223.
- Kulkarni DS, Owens SN, Honda M, Ito M, Yang Y, Corrigan MW, Chen L, Quan AL, Hunter N. PCNA activates the MutLγ endonuclease to promote meiotic crossing over. Nature. 2020;586(7830):623–627. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2645-6.
- Kunkel TA, Erie DA. DNA mismatch repair. Annu Rev Biochem. 2005; 74(1):681–710. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.082803.133243.
- Kurdzo EL, Chuong HH, Evatt JM, Dawson DS. A ZIP1 separation-of-function allele reveals that centromere pairing drives meiotic segregation of achiasmate chromosomes in budding yeast. PLoS Genet. 2018;14(8):e1007513. doi:10.1371/ journal.pgen.1007513.
- Lacefield S, Murray AW. The spindle checkpoint rescues the meiotic segregation of chromosomes whose crossovers are far from the centromere. Nat Genet. 2007;39(10):1273–1277. doi:10.1038/ng2120.
- Lambie EJ, Roeder GS. A yeast centromere acts in cis to inhibit meiotic gene conversion of adjacent sequences. Cell. 1988;52(6): 863–873. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90428-X.
- Lan W-H, Lin S-Y, Kao C-Y, Chang W-H, Yeh H-Y, Chang H-Y, Chi P, Li H-W. Rad51 facilitates filament assembly of meiosis-specific Dmc1 recombinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020;117(21): 11257–11264. doi:10.1073/pnas.1920368117.
- Lao JP, Cloud V, Huang C-C, Grubb J, Thacker D, Lee C-Y, Dresser ME, Hunter N, Bishop DK. Meiotic crossover control by concerted action of Rad51-Dmc1 in homolog template bias and robust homeostatic regulation. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(12):e1003978. doi:10.1371/ journal.pgen.1003978.
- Lao JP, Oh SD, Shinohara M, Shinohara A, Hunter N. Rad52 promotes postinvasion steps of meiotic double-strand-break repair. Mol Cell. 2008;29(4):517–524. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.12.014.
- Laureau R, Dyatel A, Dursuk G, Brown S, Adeoye H, Yue J-X, De Chiara M, Harris A, Ünal E, Liti G, *et al.* Meiotic cells counteract programmed retrotransposon activation via RNA-binding translational repressor assemblies. Dev Cell. 2021;56(1):22–35.7. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2020.11.008.
- Lee BH, Amon A. Role of polo-like kinase CDC5 in programming meiosis I chromosome segregation. Science. 2003;300(5618):482–486. doi:10.1126/science.1081846.
- Lee C-Y, Conrad MN, Dresser ME. Meiotic chromosome pairing is promoted by telomere-led chromosome movements independent of bouquet formation. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(5):e1002730. doi:10.1371/ journal.pgen.1002730.
- Lee MS, Higashide MT, Choi H, Li K, Hong S, Lee K, Shinohara A, Shinohara M, Kim KP. The synaptonemal complex central region modulates crossover pathways and feedback control of meiotic

double-strand break formation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2021;49(13): 7537–7553. doi:10.1093/nar/gkab566.

- Lee BH, Kiburz BM, Amon A. Spo13 maintains centromeric cohesion and kinetochore coorientation during meiosis I. Curr Biol. 2004; 14(24):2168–2182. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.12.033.
- Lefrancois P, Rockmill B, Xie P, Roeder GS, Snyder M. Multiple pairwise analysis of non-homologous centromere coupling reveals preferential chromosome size-dependent interactions and a role for bouquet formation in establishing the interaction pattern. PLoS Genet. 2016;12(10):e1006347. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1006347.
- Leu J-Y, Chua PR, Roeder GS. The meiosis-specific Hop2 protein of S. *cerevisiae* ensures synapsis between homologous chromosomes. Cell. 1998;94(3):375–386. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81480-4.
- Leu JY, Roeder GS. The pachytene checkpoint in S. cerevisiae depends on Swe1-mediated phosphorylation of the cyclin-dependent kinase Cdc28. Mol Cell. 1999;4(5):805–814. doi:10.1016/s1097-2765(00)80390-1.
- Li X, Heyer WD. RAD54 controls access to the invading 3'-OH end after RAD51-mediated DNA strand invasion in homologous recombination in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009; 37(2):638–646. doi:10.1093/nar/gkn980.
- Li J, Hooker GW, Roeder GS. Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mer2, Mei4 and Rec114 form a complex required for meiotic double-strand break formation. Genetics. 2006;173(4):1969–1981. doi:10.1534/ genetics.106.058768.
- Li P, Jin H, Yu H-G. Condensin suppresses recombination and regulates double-strand break processing at the repetitive ribosomal DNA array to ensure proper chromosome segregation during meiosis in budding yeast. Mol Biol Cell. 2014;25(19):2934–2947. doi:10.1091/mbc.e14-05-0957.
- Lichten M, Borts RH, Haber JE. Meiotic gene conversion and crossing over between dispersed homologous sequences occurs frequently in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1987;115(2):233–246. doi: 10.1093/genetics/115.2.233.
- Lilienthal I, Kanno T, Sjogren C. Inhibition of the Smc5/6 complex during meiosis perturbs joint molecule formation and resolution without significantly changing crossover or non-crossover levels. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(11):e1003898. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1003898.
- Lindgren A, Bungard D, Pierce M, Xie J, Vershon A, Winter E. The pachytene checkpoint in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* requires the Sum1 transcriptional repressor. EMBO J. 2000;19(23):6489–6497. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.23.6489.
- Liu J, Renault L, Veaute X, Fabre F, Stahlberg H, Heyer W-D. Rad51 paralogues Rad55–Rad57 balance the antirecombinase Srs2 in Rad51 filament formation. Nature. 2011;479(7372):245–248. doi: 10.1038/nature10522.
- Liu D, Vader G, Vromans MJ, Lampson MA, Lens SM. Sensing chromosome bi-orientation by spatial separation of aurora B kinase from kinetochore substrates. Science. 2009;323(5919):1350–1353. doi: 10.1126/science.1167000.
- Liu J, Wu TC, Lichten M. The location and structure of double-strand DNA breaks induced during yeast meiosis: evidence for a covalently linked DNA-protein intermediate. EMBO J. 1995;14(18): 4599–4608. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00139.x.
- Lo HC, Wan L, Rosebrock A, Futcher B, Hollingsworth NM. Cdc7-Dbf4 regulates NDT80 transcription as well as reductional segregation during budding yeast meiosis. Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(11): 4956–4967. doi:10.1091/mbc.e08-07-0755.
- Loidl J, Klein F, Scherthan H. Homologous pairing is reduced but not abolished in asynaptic mutants of yeast. J Cell Biol. 1994;125(6): 1191–1200. doi:10.1083/jcb.125.6.1191.

- Loidl J, Nairz K, Klein F. Meiotic chromosome synapsis in a haploid yeast. Chromosoma. 1991;100(4):221–228. doi:10.1007/ BF00344155.
- Lui DY, Peoples-Holst TL, Mell JC, Wu H-Y, Dean EW, Burgess SM. Analysis of close stable homolog juxtaposition during meiosis in mutants of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics. 2006;173(3): 1207–1222. doi:10.1534/genetics.105.050658.
- Lydall D, Nikolsky Y, Bishop DK, Weinert T. A meiotic recombination checkpoint controlled by mitotic checkpoint genes. Nature. 1996; 383(6603):840–843. doi:10.1038/383840a0.
- MacQueen AJ, Hochwagen A. Checkpoint mechanisms: the puppet masters of meiotic prophase. Trends Cell Biol. 2011;21(7): 393–400. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2011.03.004.
- MacQueen AJ, Roeder GS. Fpr3 and Zip3 ensure that initiation of meiotic recombination precedes chromosome synapsis in budding yeast. Curr Biol. 2009;19(18):1519–1526. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2009. 08.048.
- Maleki S, Neale MJ, Arora C, Henderson KA, Keeney S. Interactions between Mei4, Rec114, and other proteins required for meiotic DNA double-strand break formation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Chromosoma. 2007;116(5):471–486. doi:10.1007/s00412-007-0111-y.
- Malkova A, Ross L, Dawson D, Hoekstra MF, Haber JE. Meiotic recombination initiated by a double-strand break in rad50 delta yeast cells otherwise unable to initiate meiotic recombination. Genetics. 1996;143(2):741–754. doi:10.1093/genetics/143.2.741.
- Malone RE, Bullard S, Hermiston M, Rieger R, Cool M, Galbraith A. Isolation of mutants defective in early steps of meiotic recombination in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1991;128(1): 79–88. doi:10.1093/genetics/128.1.79.
- Mancera E, Bourgon R, Brozzi A, Huber W, Steinmetz LM. High-resolution mapping of meiotic crossovers and noncrossovers in yeast. Nature. 2008;454(7203):479–485. doi:10. 1038/nature07135.
- Mandel S, Robzyk K, Kassir Y. IME1 gene encodes a transcription factor which is required to induce meiosis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Dev Genet. 1994;15(2):139–147. doi:10.1002/dvg.1020150204.
- Mao-Draayer Y, Galbraith AM, Pittman DL, Cool M, Malone RE. Analysis of meiotic recombination pathways in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1996;144(1):71–86. doi:10. 1093/genetics/144.1.71.
- Marsolier-Kergoat MC, Khan MM, Schott J, Zhu X, Llorente B. Mechanistic view and genetic control of DNA recombination during meiosis. Mol Cell. 2018;70(1):9–20.e6. doi:10.1016/j.molcel. 2018.02.032.
- Marston AL. Chromosome segregation in budding yeast: sister chromatid cohesion and related mechanisms. Genetics. 2014;196(1): 31–63. doi:10.1534/genetics.112.145144.
- Marston AL, Lee BH, Amon A. The Cdc14 phosphatase and the FEAR network control meiotic spindle disassembly and chromosome segregation. Dev Cell. 2003;4(5):711–726. doi:10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00130-8.
- Marston AL, Tham WH, Shah H, Amon A. A genome-wide screen identifies genes required for centromeric cohesion. Science. 2004;303(5662):1367–1370. doi:10.1126/science.1094220.
- Martini E, Diaz RL, Hunter N, Keeney S. Crossover homeostasis in yeast meiosis. Cell. 2006;126(2):285–295. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006. 05.044.
- Matos J, Blanco MG, Maslen S, Skehel JM, West SC. Regulatory control of the resolution of DNA recombination intermediates during meiosis and mitosis. Cell. 2011;147(1):158–172. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2011.08.032.
- Matos J, Lipp JJ, Bogdanova A, Guillot S, Okaz E, Junqueira M, Shevchenko A, Zachariae W. Dbf4-dependent CDC7 kinase links

DNA replication to the segregation of homologous chromosomes in meiosis I. Cell. 2008;135(4):662–678. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.10. 026.

- McCord R, Pierce M, Xie J, Wonkatal S, Mickel C, Vershon AK. Rfm1, a novel tethering factor required to recruit the Hst1 histone deace-tylase for repression of middle sporulation genes. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23(6):2009–2016. doi:10.1128/MCB.23.6.2009-2016.2003.
- McKee AH, Kleckner N. A general method for identifying recessive diploid-specific mutations in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, its application to the isolation of mutants blocked at intermediate stages of meiotic prophase and characterization of a new gene SAE2. Genetics. 1997a;146(3):797–816. doi:10.1093/genetics/146.3.797.
- McKee AH, Kleckner N. Mutations in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* that block meiotic prophase chromosome metabolism and confer cell cycle arrest at pachytene identify two new meiosis-specific genes SAE1 and SAE3. Genetics. 1997b;146(3):817–834. doi:10. 1093/genetics/146.3.817.
- McMahill MS, Sham CW, Bishop DK. Synthesis-dependent strand annealing in meiosis. PLoS Biol. 2007;5(11):e299. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0050299.
- Menees TM, Roeder GS. MEI4, a yeast gene required for meiotic recombination. Genetics. 1989;123(4):675–682. doi:10.1093/ genetics/123.4.675.
- Mengoli V, Jonak K, Lyzak O, Lamb M, Lister LM, Lodge C, Rojas J, Zagoriy I, Herbert M, Zachariae W. Deprotection of centromeric cohesin at meiosis II requires APC/C activity but not kinetochore tension. EMBO J. 2021;40(7):e106812. doi:10.15252/embj.2020106812.
- Meyer RE, Kim S, Obeso D, Straight PD, Winey M, Dawson DS. Mps1 and Ipl1/Aurora B act sequentially to correctly orient chromosomes on the meiotic spindle of budding yeast. Science. 2013; 339(6123):1071–1074. doi:10.1126/science.1232518.
- Meyer RE, Tipton AR, LaVictoire R, Gorbsky GJ, Dawson DS. Mps1 promotes poleward chromosome movements in meiotic prometaphase. Mol Biol Cell. 2021;32(10):1020–1032. doi:10.1091/mbc. E20-08-0525-T.
- Mimitou EP, Yamada S, Keeney S. A global view of meiotic doublestrand break end resection. Science. 2017;355(6320):40–45. doi: 10.1126/science.aak9704.
- Miyakawa I, Aoi H, Sando N, Kuroiwa T. Fluorescence microscopic studies of mitochondrial nucleoids during meiosis and sporulation in the yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Cell Sci. 1984;66(1): 21–38. doi:10.1242/jcs.66.1.21.
- Moens PB, Pearlman RE. Chromatin organization at meiosis. Bioessays. 1988;9(5):151–153. doi:10.1002/bies.950090503.
- Monje-Casas F, Prabhu VR, Lee BH, Boselli M, Amon A. Kinetochore orientation during meiosis is controlled by Aurora B and the monopolin complex. Cell. 2007;128(3):477–490. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2006.12.040.
- Mori S, Shirahige K. Perturbation of the activity of replication origin by meiosis-specific transcription. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(7): 4447–4452. doi:10.1074/jbc.M609671200.
- Mu X, Murakami H, Mohibullah N, Keeney S. Chromosomeautonomous feedback down-regulates meiotic DNA break competence upon synaptonemal complex formation. Genes Dev. 2020;34(23-24):1605–1618. doi:10.1101/gad.342873.120.
- Muller H, Scolari VF, Agier N, Piazza A, Thierry A, Mercy G, Descorps-Declere S, Lazar-Stefanita L, Espeli O, Llorente B, *et al.* Characterizing meiotic chromosomes' structure and pairing using a designer sequence optimized for Hi-C. Mol Syst Biol. 2018;14(7):e8293. doi:10.15252/msb.20188293.
- Murakami H, Keeney S. Temporospatial coordination of meiotic DNA replication and recombination via DDK recruitment to replisomes. Cell. 2014;158(4):861–873. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.028.

- Murakami H, Lam I, Huang PC, Song J, van Overbeek M, Keeney S. Multilayered mechanisms ensure that short chromosomes recombine in meiosis. Nature. 2020;582(7810):124–128. doi:10. 1038/s41586-020-2248-2.
- Nag DK, Scherthan H, Rockmill B, Bhargava J, Roeder GS. Heteroduplex DNA formation and homolog pairing in yeast meiotic mutants. Genetics. 1995;141(1):75–86. doi:10.1093/genetics/ 141.1.75.
- Nairz K, Klein F. mre11s-a yeast mutation that blocks double-strand-break processing and permits nonhomologous synapsis in meiosis. Genes Dev. 1997;11(17):2272-2290. doi:10. 1101/gad.11.17.2272.
- Nakagawa T, Ogawa H. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae MER3 gene, encoding a novel helicase-like protein, is required for crossover control in meiosis. EMBO J. 1999;18(20):5714–5723. doi:10.1093/ emboj/18.20.5714.
- Neale MJ, Pan J, Keeney S. Endonucleolytic processing of covalent protein-linked DNA double-strand breaks. Nature. 2005; 436(7053):1053–1057. doi:10.1038/nature03872.
- Neiman AM. Sporulation in the budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 2011;189(3):737–765. doi:10.1534/genetics.111.127126.
- Nerusheva OO, Galander S, Fernius J, Kelly D, Marston AL. Tension-dependent removal of pericentromeric shugoshin is an indicator of sister chromosome biorientation. Genes Dev. 2014; 28(12):1291–1309. doi:10.1101/gad.240291.114.
- Newnham L, Jordan PW, Carballo JA, Newcombe S, Hoffmann E. Ipl1/ Aurora kinase suppresses S-CDK-driven spindle formation during prophase I to ensure chromosome integrity during meiosis. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e83982. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083982.
- Newnham L, Jordan P, Rockmill B, Roeder GS, Hoffmann E. The synaptonemal complex protein Zip1 promotes the segregation of nonexchange chromosomes at meiosis I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(2):781–785. doi:10.1073/pnas.0913435107.
- Nicolas A, Treco D, Schultes NP, Szostak JW. An initiation site for meiotic gene conversion in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nature. 1989;338(6210):35–39. doi:10.1038/338035a0.
- Nimonkar AV, Dombrowski CC, Siino JS, Stasiak AZ, Stasiak A, Stasiak A, Kowalczykowski SC. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Dmc1 and Rad51 proteins preferentially function with Tid1 and Rad54 proteins, respectively, to promote DNA strand invasion during genetic recombination. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(34):28727–28737. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.373290.
- Niu H, Li X, Job E, Park C, Moazed D, Gygi SP, Hollingsworth NM. Mek1 kinase is regulated to suppress double-strand break repair between sister chromatids during budding yeast meiosis. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27(15):5456–5467. doi:10.1128/MCB.00416-07.
- Niu H, Wan L, Baumgartner B, Schaefer D, Loidl J, Hollingsworth NM. Partner choice during meiosis is regulated by Hop1-promoted dimerization of Mek1. Mol Biol Cell. 2005;16(12):5804–5818. doi:10. 1091/mbc.e05-05-0465.
- Niu H, Wan L, Busygina V, Kwon Y, Allen JA, Li X, Kunz RC, Kubota K, Wang B, Sung P, et al. Regulation of meiotic recombination via Mek1-mediated Rad54 phosphorylation. Mol Cell. 2009;36(3): 393–404. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2009.09.029.
- Novak JE, Ross-Macdonald PB, Roeder GS. The budding yeast Msh4 protein functions in chromosome synapsis and the regulation of crossover distribution. Genetics. 2001;158(3):1013–1025. doi: 10.1093/genetics/158.3.1013.
- Obeso D, Dawson DS. Temporal characterization of homologyindependent centromere coupling in meiotic prophase. PLoS One. 2010;5(4):e10336. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010336.
- Oelschlaegel T, Schwickart M, Matos J, Bogdanova A, Camasses A, Havlis J, Shevchenko A, Zachariae W. The yeast APC/C subunit

Mnd2 prevents premature sister chromatid separation triggered by the meiosis-specific APC/C-Ama1. Cell. 2005;120(6):773–788. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.01.032.

- Oh J, Al-Zain A, Cannavo E, Cejka P, Symington LS. Xrs2 dependent and independent functions of the Mre11-Rad50 complex. Mol Cell. 2016;64(2):405–415. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2016.09.011.
- Oh SD, Lao JP, Hwang PY-H, Taylor AF, Smith GR, Hunter N. BLM ortholog, Sgs1, prevents aberrant crossing-over by suppressing formation of multichromatid joint molecules. Cell. 2007;130(2): 259–272. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.035.
- Oh SD, Lao JP, Taylor AF, Smith GR, Hunter N. RecQ helicase, Sgs1, and XPF family endonuclease, Mus81-Mms4, resolve aberrant joint molecules during meiotic recombination. Mol Cell. 2008; 31(3):324–336. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.07.006.
- Okaz E, Arguello-Miranda O, Bogdanova A, Vinod PK, Lipp JJ, Markova Z, Zagoriy I, Novak B, Zachariae W. Meiotic prophase requires proteolysis of M phase regulators mediated by the meiosis-specific APC/CAma1. Cell. 2012;151(3):603–618. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2012.08.044.
- Oke A, Anderson CM, Yam P, Fung JC. Controlling meiotic recombinational repair—specifying the roles of ZMMs, Sgs1 and Mus81/ Mms4 in crossover formation. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(10): e1004690. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004690.
- Padmore R, Cao L, Kleckner N. Temporal comparison of recombination and synaptonemal complex formation during meiosis in S. cerevisiae. Cell. 1991;66(6):1239–1256. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91)90046-2.
- Page SL, Hawley RS. The genetics and molecular biology of the synaptonemal complex. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2004;20(1): 525–558. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.19.111301.155141.
- Pak J, Segall J. Role of Ndt80, Sum1, and Swe1 as targets of the meiotic recombination checkpoint that control exit from pachytene and spore formation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 2002; 22(18):6430–6440. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.18.6430-6440.2002.
- Pan J, Sasaki M, Kniewel R, Murakami H, Blitzblau HG, Tischfield SE, Zhu X, Neale MJ, Jasin M, Socci ND, et al. A hierarchical combination of factors shapes the genome-wide topography of yeast meiotic recombination initiation. Cell. 2011;144(5):719–731. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.009.
- Panizza S, Mendoza MA, Berlinger M, Huang L, Nicolas A, Shirahige K, Klein F. Spo11-accessory proteins link double-strand break sites to the chromosome axis in early meiotic recombination. Cell. 2011;146(3):372–383. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.003.
- Pazhayam NM, Turcotte CA, Sekelsky J. Meiotic crossover patterning. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021;9:681123. doi:10.3389/fcell.2021.681123.
- Penkner AM, Prinz S, Ferscha S, Klein F. Mnd2, an essential antagonist of the anaphase-promoting complex during meiotic prophase. Cell. 2005;120(6):789–801. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.01.017.
- Peoples-Holst TL, Burgess SM. Multiple branches of the meiotic recombination pathway contribute independently to homolog pairing and stable juxtaposition during meiosis in budding yeast. Genes Dev. 2005;19(7):863–874. doi:10.1101/gad.1293605.
- Peoples TL, Dean E, Gonzalez O, Lambourne L, Burgess SM. Close, stable homolog juxtaposition during meiosis in budding yeast is dependent on meiotic recombination, occurs independently of synapsis, and is distinct from DSB-independent pairing contacts. Genes Dev. 2002;16(13):1682–1695. doi:10.1101/gad.983802.
- Perry J, Kleckner N, Börner GV. Bioinformatic analyses implicate the collaborating meiotic crossover/chiasma proteins Zip2, Zip3, and Spo22/Zip4 in ubiquitin labeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005; 102(49):17594–17599. doi:10.1073/pnas.0508581102.
- Petela NJ, Gligoris TG, Metson J, Lee B-G, Voulgaris M, Hu B, Kikuchi S, Chapard C, Chen W, Rajendra E, et al. Scc2 is a potent activator of

Cohesin's ATPase that promotes loading by binding Scc1 without Pds5. Mol Cell. 2018;70(6):1134–1148.e7. doi:10.1016/j.molcel. 2018.05.022.

- Petronczki M, Chwalla B, Siomos MF, Yokobayashi S, Helmhart W, Deutschbauer AM, Davis RW, Watanabe Y, Nasmyth K. Sister-chromatid cohesion mediated by the alternative RF-CCtf18/Dcc1/Ctf8, the helicase Chl1 and the polymerase-alpha-associated protein Ctf4 is essential for chromatid disjunction during meiosis II. J Cell Sci. 2004;117(16): 3547–3559. doi:10.1242/jcs.01231.
- Petronczki M, Matos J, Mori S, Gregan J, Bogdanova A, Schwickart M, Mechtler K, Shirahige K, Zachariae W, Nasmyth K. Monopolar attachment of sister kinetochores at meiosis I requires casein kinase 1. Cell. 2006;126(6):1049–1064. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07. 029.
- Pfiz S, Zimmermann J, Hilt W. The yeast kinetochore protein Slk19 is required to prevent aberrant chromosome segregation in meiosis and mitosis. Genes Cells. 2002;7(10):1033–1042. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2443.2002.00583.x.
- Phizicky DV, Berchowitz LE, Bell SP. Multiple kinases inhibit origin licensing and helicase activation to ensure reductive cell division during meiosis. eLife. 2018;7:e33309. doi:10.7554/eLife.33309.
- Pierce M, Benjamin KR, Montano SP, Georgiadis MM, Winter E, Vershon AK. Sum1 and Ndt80 proteins compete for binding to middle sporulation element sequences that control meiotic gene expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23(14):4814–4825. doi:10. 1128/MCB.23.14.4814-4825.2003.
- Plate I, Hallwyl SC, Shi I, Krejci L, Müller C, Albertsen L, Sung P, Mortensen UH. Interaction with RPA is necessary for Rad52 repair center formation and for its mediator activity. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283(43):29077–29085. doi:10.1074/jbc.M804881200.
- Prajapati HK, Agarwal M, Mittal P, Ghosh SK. Evidence of Zip1 promoting sister kinetochore mono-orientation during meiosis in budding yeast. G3 (Bethesda). 2018;8(11):3691–3701. doi:10.1534/ g3.118.200469.
- Previato de Almeida L, Evatt JM, Chuong HH, Kurdzo EL, Eyster CA, Gladstone MN, Gómez-H L, Llano E, Meyer R, Pendas AM, et al. Shugoshin protects centromere pairing and promotes segregation of nonexchange partner chromosomes in meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116(19):9417–9422. doi:10.1073/pnas.1902526116.
- Prieler S, Chen D, Huang L, Mayrhofer E, Zsoter S, Vesely M, Mbogning J, Klein F. Spo11 generates gaps through concerted cuts at sites of topological stress. Nature. 2021;594(7864): 577–582. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03632-x.
- Primig M, Williams RM, Winzeler EA, Tevzadze GG, Conway AR, Hwang SY, Davis RW, Esposito RE. The core meiotic transcriptome in budding yeasts. Nat Genet. 2000;26(4):415–423. doi:10. 1038/82539.
- Prinz S, Amon A, Klein F. Isolation of COM1, a new gene required to complete meiotic double-strand break-induced recombination in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1997;146(3):781–795. doi:10. 1093/genetics/146.3.781.
- Prugar E, Burnett C, Chen X, Hollingsworth NM. Coordination of double strand break repair and meiotic progression in yeast by a Mek1-Ndt80 negative feedback loop. Genetics. 2017;206(1): 497–512. doi:10.1534/genetics.117.199703.
- Pyatnitskaya A, Andreani J, Guerois R, De Muyt A, Borde V. The Zip4 protein directly couples meiotic crossover formation to synaptonemal complex assembly. Genes Dev. 2022;36(1-2):53–69. doi:10. 1101/gad.348973.121.
- Rabitsch KP, Petronczki M, Javerzat J-P, Genier S, Chwalla B, Schleiffer A, Tanaka TU, Nasmyth K. Kinetochore recruitment of two nucleolar proteins is required for homolog segregation in

meiosis I. Dev Cell. 2003;4(4):535–548. doi:10.1016/S1534-5807(03) 00086-8.

- Raina VB, Schoot Uiterkamp M, Vader G. Checkpoint control in meiotic prophase: idiosyncratic demands require unique characteristics. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2023;151:281–315. doi:10.1016/bs.ctdb. 2022.04.007.
- Ramesh MA, Malik S-B, Logsdon JM Jr. A phylogenomic inventory of meiotic genes; evidence for sex in Giardia and an early eukaryotic origin of meiosis. Curr Biol. 2005;15(2):185–191. doi:10.1016/j.cub. 2005.01.003.
- Ranjha L, Anand R, Cejka P. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mlh1–Mlh3 heterodimer is an endonuclease that preferentially binds to Holliday junctions. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(9):5674–5686. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M113.533810.
- Rao HB, Shinohara M, Shinohara A. Mps3 SUN domain is important for chromosome motion and juxtaposition of homologous chromosomes during meiosis. Genes Cells. 2011;16(11):1081–1096. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2443.2011.01554.x.
- Refolio E, Cavero S, Marcon E, Freire R, San-Segundo PA. The Ddc2/ ATRIP checkpoint protein monitors meiotic recombination intermediates. J Cell Sci. 2011;124(14):2488–2500. doi:10.1242/jcs. 081711.
- Reitz D, Chan Y-L, Bishop DK. How strand exchange protein function benefits from ATP hydrolysis. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2021;71: 120–128. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2021.06.016.
- Rice LM, Plakas C, Nickels JT Jr. Loss of meiotic rereplication block in Saccharomyces cerevisiae cells defective in Cdc28p regulation. Eukaryot Cell. 2005;4(1):55–62. doi:10.1128/EC.4.1.55-62.2005.
- Riedel CG, Katis VL, Katou Y, Mori S, Itoh T, Helmhart W, Gálová M, Petronczki M, Gregan J, Cetin B, *et al.* Protein phosphatase 2A protects centromeric sister chromatid cohesion during meiosis I. Nature. 2006;441(7089):53–61. doi:10.1038/nature04664.
- Robert T, Nore A, Brun C, Maffre C, Crimi B, Guichard V, Bourbon H-M, de Massy B. The TopoVIB-like protein family is required for meiotic DNA double-strand break formation. Science. 2016; 351(6276):943–949. doi:10.1126/science.aad5309.
- Rockmill B, Engebrecht JA, Scherthan H, Loidl J, Roeder GS. The yeast MER2 gene is required for chromosome synapsis and the initiation of meiotic recombination. Genetics. 1995;141(1):49–59. doi: 10.1093/genetics/141.1.49.
- Rockmill B, Lefrancois P, Voelkel-Meiman K, Oke A, Roeder GS, Fung JC. High throughput sequencing reveals alterations in the recombination signatures with diminishing Spo11 activity. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(10):e1003932. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003932.
- Rockmill B, Roeder GS. Meiosis in asynaptic yeast. Genetics. 1990; 126(3):563-574. doi:10.1093/genetics/126.3.563.
- Rockmill B, Roeder GS. The yeast med1 mutant undergoes both meiotic homolog nondisjunction and precocious separation of sister chromatids. Genetics. 1994;136(1):65–74. doi:10.1093/genetics/136.1.65.
- Rockmill B, Sym M, Scherthan H, Roeder GS. Roles for two RecA homologs in promoting meiotic chromosome synapsis. Genes Dev. 1995;9(21):2684–2695. doi:10.1101/gad.9.21.2684.
- Rog O, Kohler S, Dernburg AF. The synaptonemal complex has liquid crystalline properties and spatially regulates meiotic recombination factors. eLife. 2017;6:e21455. doi:10.7554/eLife.21455.
- Ross-Macdonald P, Roeder GS. Mutation of a meiosis-specific MutS homolog decreases crossing over but not mismatch correction. Cell. 1994;79(6):1069–1080. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90037-X.
- Ross LO, Maxfield R, Dawson D. Exchanges are not equally able to enhance meiotic chromosome segregation in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(10):4979–4983. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.10.4979.
- Rousova D, Nivsarkar V, Altmannova V, Raina VB, Funk SK, Liedtke D, Janning P, Müller F, Reichle H, Vader G, et al. Novel mechanistic

insights into the role of Mer2 as the keystone of meiotic DNA break formation. eLife. 2021;10:e72330. doi:10.7554/eLife.72330.

- Rubin-Bejerano I, Mandel S, Robzyk K, Kassir Y. Induction of meiosis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* depends on conversion of the transcriptional represssor Ume6 to a positive regulator by its regulated association with the transcriptional activator Ime1. Mol Cell Biol. 1996;16(5):2518–2526. doi:10.1128/MCB.16.5.2518.
- Salah SM, Nasmyth K. Destruction of the securin Pds1p occurs at the onset of anaphase during both meiotic divisions in yeast. Chromosoma. 2000;109(1-2):27–34. doi:10.1007/s004120050409.
- Salem L, Walter N, Malone R. Suppressor analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae gene REC104 reveals a genetic interaction with REC102. Genetics. 1999;151(4):1261–1272. doi:10.1093/genetics/151.4.1261.
- San-Segundo PA, Roeder GS. Pch2 links chromatin silencing to meiotic checkpoint control. Cell. 1999;97(3):313–324. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80741-2.
- Sanchez A, Adam C, Rauh F, Duroc Y, Ranjha L, Lombard B, Mu X, Wintrebert M, Loew D, Guarné A, et al. Exo1 recruits Cdc5 polo kinase to MutLγ to ensure efficient meiotic crossover formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020;117(48):30577–30588. doi:10.1073/ pnas.2013012117.
- Sandhu R, Monge Neria F, Monge Neria J, Chen X, Hollingsworth NM, Börner GV. DNA helicase Mph1(FANCM) ensures meiotic recombination between parental chromosomes by dissociating precocious displacement loops. Dev Cell. 2020;53(4):458–472.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2020.04.010.
- Sarangapani KK, Duro E, Deng Y, Alves Fde L, Ye Q, Opoku KN, Ceto S, Rappsilber J, Corbett KD, Biggins S, et al. Sister kinetochores are mechanically fused during meiosis I in yeast. Science. 2014; 346(6206):248–251. doi:10.1126/science.1256729.
- Sasanuma H, Hirota K, Fukuda T, Kakusho N, Kugou K, Kawasaki Y, Shibata T, Masai H, Ohta K. Cdc7-dependent phosphorylation of Mer2 facilitates initiation of yeast meiotic recombination. Genes Dev. 2008;22(3):398–410. doi:10.1101/gad.1626608.
- Sasanuma H, Tawaramoto MS, Lao JP, Hosaka H, Sanda E, Suzuki M, Yamashita E, Hunter N, Shinohara M, Nakagawa A, et al. A new protein complex promoting the assembly of Rad51 filaments. Nat Commun. 2013;4(1):1676. doi:10.1038/ncomms2678.
- Sawarynski KE, Najor NA, Kepsel AC, Brush GS. Sic1-induced DNA rereplication during meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(1): 232–237. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809731105.
- Sawyer EM, Joshi PR, Jorgensen V, Yunus J, Berchowitz LE, Ünal E. Developmental regulation of an organelle tether coordinates mitochondrial remodeling in meiosis. J Cell Biol. 2019;218(2): 559–579. doi:10.1083/jcb.201807097.
- Schalbetter SA, Fudenberg G, Baxter J, Pollard KS, Neale MJ. Principles of meiotic chromosome assembly revealed in S. *cerevisiae*. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):4795. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12629-0.
- Scherthan H, Bahler J, Kohli J. Dynamics of chromosome organization and pairing during meiotic prophase in fission yeast. J Cell Biol. 1994;127(2):273–285. doi:10.1083/jcb.127.2.273.
- Scherthan H, Wang H, Adelfalk C, White EJ, Cowan C, Cande WZ, Kaback DB. Chromosome mobility during meiotic prophase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(43): 16934–16939. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704860104.
- Schindler K, Winter E. Phosphorylation of Ime2 regulates meiotic progression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281(27):18307–18316. doi:10.1074/jbc.M602349200.
- Schwacha A, Kleckner N. Identification of double Holliday junctions as intermediates in meiotic recombination. Cell. 1995;83(5): 783–791. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90191-4.
- Schwacha A, Kleckner N. Interhomolog bias during meiotic recombination: meiotic functions promote a highly differentiated

interhomolog-only pathway. Cell. 1997;90(6):1123–1135. doi:10. 1016/S0092-8674(00)80378-5.

- Schwartz S, Agarwala SD, Mumbach MR, Jovanovic M, Mertins P, Shishkin A, Tabach Y, Mikkelsen TS, Satija R, Ruvkun G, et al. High-resolution mapping reveals a conserved, widespread, dynamic mRNA methylation program in yeast meiosis. Cell. 2013; 155(6):1409–1421. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.10.047.
- Serrentino ME, Chaplais E, Sommermeyer V, Borde V. Differential association of the conserved SUMO ligase Zip3 with meiotic doublestrand break sites reveals regional variations in the outcome of meiotic recombination. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(4):e1003416. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1003416.
- Shah JC, Clancy MJ. IME4, a gene that mediates MAT and nutritional control of meiosis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1992; 12(3):1078–1086. doi:10.1128/mcb.12.3.1078-1086.1992.
- Shah SS, Hartono S, Piazza A, Som V, Wright W, Chédin F, Heyer W-D. Rdh54/Tid1 inhibits Rad51-Rad54-mediated D-loop formation and limits D-loop length. eLife. 2020;9:e59112. doi:10.7554/eLife. 59112.
- Shah PP, Zheng X, Epshtein A, Carey JN, Bishop DK, Klein HL. Swi2/ Snf2-related translocases prevent accumulation of toxic Rad51 complexes during mitotic growth. Mol Cell. 2010;39(6):862–872. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.08.028.
- Sharon G, Simchen G. Mixed segregation of chromosomes during single-division meiosis of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1990;125(3):475–485. doi:10.1093/genetics/125.3.475.
- Shin ME, Skokotas A, Winter E. The Cdk1 and Ime2 protein kinases trigger exit from meiotic prophase in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by inhibiting the Sum1 transcriptional repressor. Mol Cell Biol. 2010;30(12):2996–3003. doi:10.1128/MCB.01682-09.
- Shinohara M, Gasior SL, Bishop DK, Shinohara A. Tid1/Rdh54 promotes colocalization of Rad51 and Dmc1 during meiotic recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(20):10814–10819. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.20.10814.
- Shinohara A, Ogawa H, Ogawa T. Rad51 protein involved in repair and recombination in S. cerevisiae is a RecA-like protein. Cell. 1992;69(3):457–470. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90447-K.
- Shinohara M, Oh SD, Hunter N, Shinohara A. Crossover assurance and crossover interference are distinctly regulated by the ZMM proteins during yeast meiosis. Nat Genet. 2008;40(3):299–309. doi:10.1038/ng.83.
- Shinohara M, Sakai K, Shinohara A, Bishop DK. Crossover interference in Saccharomyces cerevisiae requires a TID1/RDH54- and DMC1-dependent pathway. Genetics. 2003;163(4):1273–1286. doi:10.1093/genetics/163.4.1273.
- Shinohara A, Shinohara M, Ohta T, Matsuda S, Ogawa T. Rad52 forms ring structures and co-operates with RPA in single-strand DNA annealing. Genes Cells. 1998;3(3):145–156. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2443.1998.00176.x.
- Shinohara M, Shita-Yamaguchi E, Buerstedde JM, Shinagawa H, Ogawa H, Shinohara A. Characterization of the roles of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae RAD54 gene and a homologue of RAD54, RDH54/TID1, in mitosis and meiosis. Genetics. 1997;147(4): 1545–1556. doi:10.1093/genetics/147.4.1545.
- Shirk K, Jin H, Giddings TH Jr, Winey M, Yu H-G. The Aurora kinase Ipl1 is necessary for spindle pole body cohesion during budding yeast meiosis. J Cell Sci. 2011;124(17):2891–2896. doi:10.1242/jcs. 086652.
- Shonn MA, McCarroll R, Murray AW. Requirement of the spindle checkpoint for proper chromosome segregation in budding yeast meiosis. Science. 2000;289(5477):300–303. doi:10.1126/science. 289.5477.300.

- Shonn MA, McCarroll R, Murray AW. Spo13 protects meiotic cohesin at centromeres in meiosis I. Genes Dev. 2002;16(13):1659–1671. doi:10.1101/gad.975802.
- Shonn MA, Murray AL, Murray AW. Spindle checkpoint component Mad2 contributes to biorientation of homologous chromosomes. Curr Biol. 2003;13(22):1979–1984. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2003.10.057.
- Shuster EO, Byers B. Pachytene arrest and other meiotic effects of the start mutations in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1989;123(1): 29–43. doi:10.1093/genetics/123.1.29.
- Simchen G, Kassir Y. Genetic regulation of differentiation towards meiosis in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genome. 1989; 31(1):95–99. doi:10.1139/g89-018.
- Smith KN, Penkner A, Ohta K, Klein F, Nicolas A. B-type cyclins CLB5 and CLB6 control the initiation of recombination and synaptonemal complex formation in yeast meiosis. Curr Biol. 2001; 11(2):88–97. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00026-4.
- Smith AV, Roeder GS. The yeast Red1 protein localizes to the cores of meiotic chromosomes. J Cell Biol. 1997;136(5):957–967. doi:10. 1083/jcb.136.5.957.
- Snowden T, Acharya S, Butz C, Berardini M, Fishel R. hMSH4-hMSH5 recognizes Holliday Junctions and forms a meiosis-specific sliding clamp that embraces homologous chromosomes. Mol Cell. 2004;15(3):437–451. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2004.06.040.
- Sollier J, Lin W, Soustelle C, Suhre K, Nicolas A, Géli V, de La Roche Saint-André C. Set1 is required for meiotic S-phase onset, doublestrand break formation and middle gene expression. EMBO J. 2004;23(9):1957–1967. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600204.
- Sommermeyer V, Beneut C, Chaplais E, Serrentino ME, Borde V. Spp1, a member of the Set1 complex, promotes meiotic DSB formation in promoters by tethering histone H3K4 methylation sites to chromosome axes. Mol Cell. 2013;49(1):43–54. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2012.11.008.
- Song M, Zhai B, Yang X, Tan T, Wang Y, Yang X, Tan Y, Chu T, Cao Y, Song Y, et al. Interplay between Pds5 and Rec8 in regulating chromosome axis length and crossover frequency. Sci Adv. 2021;7(11):eabe7920. doi:10.1126/sciadv.abe7920.
- Sopko R, Raithatha S, Stuart D. Phosphorylation and maximal activity of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* meiosis-specific transcription factor Ndt80 is dependent on Ime2. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(20):7024–7040. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.20.7024-7040.2002.
- Sopko R, Stuart DT. Purification and characterization of the DNA binding domain of Saccharomyces cerevisiae meiosis-specific transcription factor Ndt80. Protein Expr Purif. 2004;33(1):134–144. doi:10.1016/j.pep.2003.08.025.
- Sourirajan A, Lichten M. Polo-like kinase Cdc5 drives exit from pachytene during budding yeast meiosis. Genes Dev. 2008; 22(19):2627–2632. doi:10.1101/gad.1711408.
- Steinfeld JB, Belan O, Kwon Y, Terakawa T, Al-Zain A, Smith MJ, Crickard JB, Qi Z, Zhao W, Rothstein R, et al. Defining the influence of Rad51 and Dmc1 lineage-specific amino acids on genetic recombination. Genes Dev. 2019;33(17-18):1191–1207. doi:10.1101/ gad.328062.119.
- Strich R, Mallory MJ, Jarnik M, Cooper KF. Cyclin B-Cdk activity stimulates meiotic rereplication in budding yeast. Genetics. 2004; 167(4):1621–1628. doi:10.1534/genetics.104.029223.
- Stuart D, Wittenberg C. CLB5 and CLB6 are required for premeiotic DNA replication and activation of the meiotic S/M checkpoint. Genes Dev. 1998;12(17):2698–2710. doi:10.1101/gad.12.17.2698.
- Sturtevant AH. A third group of linked genes in Drosophila ampelophila. Science. 1913;37(965):990–992. doi:10.1126/science.37.965.990.
- Subramanian VV, Hochwagen A. The meiotic checkpoint network: step-by-step through meiotic prophase. Cold Spring Harb

Perspect Biol. 2014;6(10):a016675. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a016675.

- Subramanian VV, MacQueen AJ, Vader G, Shinohara M, Sanchez A, Borde V, Shinohara A, Hochwagen A. Chromosome synapsis alleviates Mek1-dependent suppression of meiotic DNA repair. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(2):e1002369. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002369.
- Subramanian VV, Zhu X, Markowitz TE, Vale-Silva LA, San-Segundo PA, Hollingsworth NM, Keeney S, Hochwagen A. Persistent DNA-break potential near telomeres increases initiation of meiotic recombination on short chromosomes. Nat Commun. 2019; 10(1):970. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-08875-x.
- Suda Y, Nakanishi H, Mathieson EM, Neiman AM. Alternative modes of organellar segregation during sporulation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot Cell. 2007;6(11):2009–2017. doi:10.1128/EC.00238-07.
- Sullivan M, Holt L, Morgan DO. Cyclin-specific control of ribosomal DNA segregation. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(17):5328–5336. doi:10. 1128/MCB.00235-08.
- Sullivan M, Morgan DO. A novel destruction sequence targets the meiotic regulator Spo13 for anaphase-promoting complexdependent degradation in anaphase I. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(27): 19710–19715. doi:10.1074/jbc.M701507200.
- Sun X, Huang L, Markowitz TE, Blitzblau HG, Chen D, Klein F, Hochwagen A. Transcription dynamically patterns the meiotic chromosome-axis interface. eLife. 2015;4:e07424. doi:10.7554/ eLife.07424.
- Sym M, Engebrecht JA, Roeder GS. ZIP1 is a synaptonemal complex protein required for meiotic chromosome synapsis. Cell. 1993; 72(3):365–378. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90114-6.
- Sym M, Roeder GS. Crossover interference is abolished in the absence of a synaptonemal complex protein. Cell. 1994;79(2):283–292. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90197-X.
- Sym M, Roeder GS. Zip1-induced changes in synaptonemal complex structure and polycomplex assembly. J Cell Biol. 1995;128(4): 455–466. doi:10.1083/jcb.128.4.455.
- Symington LS, Rothstein R, Lisby M. Mechanisms and regulation of mitotic recombination in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 2014;198(3):795–835. doi:10.1534/genetics.114.166140.
- Szostak JW, Orr-Weaver TL, Rothstein RJ, Stahl FW. The double-strand-break repair model for recombination. Cell. 1983; 33(1):25–35. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(83)90331-8.
- Tang Z, Shu H, Qi W, Mahmood NA, Mumby MC, Yu H. PP2A is required for centromeric localization of Sgo1 and proper chromosome segregation. Dev Cell. 2006;10(5):575–585. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2006.03.010.
- Tang S, Wu MKY, Zhang R, Hunter N. Pervasive and essential roles of the Top3-Rmi1 decatenase orchestrate recombination and facilitate chromosome segregation in meiosis. Mol Cell. 2015;57(4): 607–621. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2015.01.021.
- Terakawa T, Bisht S, Eeftens JM, Dekker C, Haering CH, Greene EC. The condensin complex is a mechanochemical motor that translocates along DNA. Science. 2017;358(6363):672–676. doi:10.1126/ science.aan6516.
- Thacker D, Mohibullah N, Zhu X, Keeney S. Homologue engagement controls meiotic DNA break number and distribution. Nature. 2014;510(7504):241–246. doi:10.1038/nature13120.
- Toth A, Rabitsch KP, Galova M, Schleiffer A, Buonomo SBC, Nasmyth K. Functional genomics identifies monopolin: a kinetochore protein required for segregation of homologs during meiosis i. Cell. 2000;103(7):1155–1168. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00217-8.
- Treinin M, Simchen G. Mitochondrial activity is required for the expression of IME1, a regulator of meiosis in yeast. Curr Genet. 1993;23(3):223–227. doi:10.1007/BF00351500.

- Trelles-Sticken E, Adelfalk C, Loidl J, Scherthan H. Meiotic telomere clustering requires actin for its formation and cohesin for its resolution. J Cell Biol. 2005;170(2):213–223. doi:10.1083/jcb.200501042.
- Trelles-Sticken E, Dresser ME, Scherthan H. Meiotic telomere protein Ndj1p is required for meiosis-specific telomere distribution, bouquet formation and efficient homologue pairing. J Cell Biol. 2000; 151(1):95–106. doi:10.1083/jcb.151.1.95.
- Trelles-Sticken E, Loidl J, Scherthan H. Bouquet formation in budding yeast: initiation of recombination is not required for meiotic telomere clustering. J Cell Sci. 1999;112(Pt 5):651–658. doi:10.1242/jcs. 112.5.651.
- Tsubouchi T, Macqueen AJ, Roeder GS. Initiation of meiotic chromosome synapsis at centromeres in budding yeast. Genes Dev. 2008; 22(22):3217–3226. doi:10.1101/gad.1709408.
- Tsubouchi H, Ogawa H. Exo1 roles for repair of DNA double-strand breaks and meiotic crossing over in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Biol Cell. 2000;11(7):2221–2233. doi:10.1091/mbc.11.7.2221.
- Tsubouchi H, Roeder GS. The Mnd1 protein forms a complex with hop2 to promote homologous chromosome pairing and meiotic double-strand break repair. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(9):3078–3088. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.9.3078-3088.2002.
- Tsubouchi H, Roeder GS. The importance of genetic recombination for fidelity of chromosome pairing in meiosis. Dev Cell. 2003; 5(6):915–925. doi:10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00357-5.
- Tsubouchi H, Roeder GS. Budding yeast Hed1 down-regulates the mitotic recombination machinery when meiotic recombination is impaired. Genes Dev. 2006;20(13):1766–1775. doi:10.1101/gad. 1422506.
- Tsubouchi T, Roeder GS. A synaptonemal complex protein promotes homology-independent centromere coupling. Science. 2005; 308(5723):870–873. doi:10.1126/science.1108283.
- Tsubouchi T, Zhao H, Roeder GS. The meiosis-specific Zip4 protein regulates crossover distribution by promoting synaptonemal complex formation together with Zip2. Dev Cell. 2006;10(6): 809–819. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2006.04.003.
- Tsuchiya D, Gonzalez C, Lacefield S. The spindle checkpoint protein Mad2 regulates APC/C activity during prometaphase and metaphase of meiosis I in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Biol Cell. 2011; 22(16):2848–2861. doi:10.1091/mbc.e11-04-0378.
- Tsuchiya D, Yang Y, Lacefield S. Positive feedback of NDT80 expression ensures irreversible meiotic commitment in budding yeast. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(6):e1004398. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1004398.
- Tung KS, Hong EJ, Roeder GS. The pachytene checkpoint prevents accumulation and phosphorylation of the meiosis-specific transcription factor Ndt80. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(22): 12187–12192. doi:10.1073/pnas.220464597.
- Tung KS, Roeder GS. Meiotic chromosome morphology and behavior in zip1 mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 1998;149(2): 817–832. doi:10.1093/genetics/149.2.817.
- Unal E, Kinde B, Amon A. Gametogenesis eliminates age-induced cellular damage and resets life span in yeast. Science. 2011; 332(6037):1554–1557. doi:10.1126/science.1204349.
- Usui T, Ogawa H, Petrini JH. A DNA damage response pathway controlled by Tel1 and the Mre11 complex. Mol Cell. 2001;7(6): 1255–1266. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00270-2.
- Vader G, Blitzblau HG, Tame MA, Falk JE, Curtin L, Hochwagen A. Protection of repetitive DNA borders from self-induced meiotic instability. Nature. 2011;477(7362):115–119. doi:10.1038/nature10331.
- Valentin G, Schwob E, Della Seta F. Dual role of the Cdc7-regulatory protein Dbf4 during yeast meiosis. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(5): 2828–2834. doi:10.1074/jbc.M510626200.

- Vincenten N, Kuhl LM, Lam I, Oke A, Kerr AR, Hochwagen A, Fung J, Keeney S, Vader G, Marston AL. The kinetochore prevents centromere-proximal crossover recombination during meiosis. eLife. 2015;4:e10850. doi:10.7554/eLife.10850.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Cheng S-Y, Morehouse SJ, MacQueen AJ. Synaptonemal complex proteins of budding yeast define reciprocal roles in MutSγ-mediated crossover formation. Genetics. 2016;203(3):1091–1103. doi:10.1534/genetics.115. 182923.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Cheng S-Y, Parziale M, Morehouse SJ, Feil A, Davies OR, de Muyt A, Borde V, MacQueen AJ. Crossover recombination and synapsis are linked by adjacent regions within the N terminus of the Zip1 synaptonemal complex protein. PLoS Genet. 2019;15(6):e1008201. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1008201.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Johnston C, Thappeta Y, Subramanian VV, Hochwagen A, MacQueen AJ. Separable crossover-promoting and crossover-constraining aspects of Zip1 activity during budding yeast meiosis. PLoS Genet. 2015;11(6):e1005335. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1005335.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Moustafa SS, Lefrancois P, Villeneuve AM, MacQueen AJ. Full-length synaptonemal complex grows continuously during meiotic prophase in budding yeast. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(10):e1002993. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002993.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Oke A, Feil A, Shames A, Fung J, MacQueen AJ. A role for synaptonemal complex in meiotic mismatch repair. Genetics. 2022;220(2):iyab230. doi:10.1093/genetics/iyab230.
- Voelkel-Meiman K, Taylor LF, Mukherjee P, Humphryes N, Tsubouchi H, MacQueen AJ. SUMO localizes to the central element of synaptonemal complex and is required for the full synapsis of meiotic chromosomes in budding yeast. PLoS Genet. 2013; 9(10):e1003837. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003837.
- Vrielynck N, Chambon A, Vezon D, Pereira L, Chelysheva L, De Muyt A, Mézard C, Mayer C, Grelon M. A DNA topoisomerase VI-like complex initiates meiotic recombination. Science. 2016; 351(6276):939–943. doi:10.1126/science.aad5196.
- Wan L, Niu H, Futcher B, Zhang C, Shokat KM, Boulton SJ, Hollingsworth NM. Cdc28–Clb5 (CDK-S) and Cdc7–Dbf4 (DDK) collaborate to initiate meiotic recombination in yeast. Genes Dev. 2008;22(3):386–397. doi:10.1101/gad.1626408.
- Wanat JJ, Kim KP, Koszul R, Zanders S, Weiner B, Kleckner N, Alani E. Csm4, in collaboration with Ndj1, mediates telomere-led chromosome dynamics and recombination during yeast meiosis. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(9):e1000188. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1000188.
- Wang Y, Chang C-Y, Wu J-F, Tung K-S. Nuclear localization of the meiosis-specific transcription factor Ndt80 is regulated by the pachytene checkpoint. Mol Biol Cell. 2011;22(11):1878–1886. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e10-12-1011.
- Weidberg H, Moretto F, Spedale G, Amon A, van Werven FJ. Nutrient control of yeast gametogenesis is mediated by TORC1, PKA and energy availability. PLoS Genet. 2016;12(6):e1006075. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1006075.
- Weiner BM, Kleckner N. Chromosome pairing via multiple interstitial interactions before and during meiosis in yeast. Cell. 1994; 77(7):977–991. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90438-3.
- West SC, Blanco MG, Chan YW, Matos J, Sarbajna S, Wyatt HDM. Resolution of recombination intermediates: mechanisms and regulation. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 2015;80:103–109. doi:10.1101/sqb.2015.80.027649.
- West AMV, Komives EA, Corbett KD. Conformational dynamics of the Hop1 HORMA domain reveal a common mechanism with

the spindle checkpoint protein Mad2. Nucleic Acids Res. 2018; 46(1):279–292. doi:10.1093/nar/gkx1196.

- West AM, Rosenberg SC, Ur SN, Lehmer MK, Ye Q, Hagemann G, Caballero I, Usón I, MacQueen AJ, Herzog F, et al. A conserved filamentous assembly underlies the structure of the meiotic chromosome axis. eLife. 2019;8:e40372. doi:10.7554/eLife.40372.
- Wilkins AS, Holliday R. The evolution of meiosis from mitosis. Genetics. 2009;181(1):3–12. doi:10.1534/genetics.108.099762.
- Winey M, Morgan GP, Straight PD, Giddings TH Jr, Mastronarde DN. Three-dimensional ultrastructure of Saccharomyces cerevisiae meiotic spindles. Mol Biol Cell. 2005;16(3):1178–1188. doi:10.1091/ mbc.e04-09-0765.
- Winter E. The Sum1/Ndt80 transcriptional switch and commitment to meiosis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2012; 76(1):1–15. doi:10.1128/MMBR.05010-11.
- Woltering D, Baumgartner B, Bagchi S, Larkin B, Loidl J, de los Santos T, Hollingsworth NM. Meiotic segregation, synapsis, and recombination checkpoint functions require physical interaction between the chromosomal proteins Red1p and Hop1p. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(18):6646–6658. doi:10.1128/MCB.20.18.6646-6658. 2000.
- Woo T-T, Chuang C-N, Higashide M, Shinohara A, Wang T-F. Dual roles of yeast Rad51 N-terminal domain in repairing DNA doublestrand breaks. Nucleic Acids Res. 2020;48(15):8474–8489. doi:10. 1093/nar/gkaa587.
- Wright WD, Heyer WD. Rad54 functions as a heteroduplex DNA pump modulated by its DNA substrates and Rad51 during D loop formation. Mol Cell. 2014;53(3):420–432. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2013.12.027.
- Wu H-Y, Burgess SM. Ndj1, a telomere-associated protein, promotes meiotic recombination in budding yeast. Mol Cell Biol. 2006; 26(10):3683–3694. doi:10.1128/MCB.26.10.3683-3694.2006.
- Xaver M, Huang L, Chen D, Klein F. Smc5/6-Mms21 prevents and eliminates inappropriate recombination intermediates in meiosis. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(12):e1004067. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen. 1004067.
- Xie J, Pierce M, Gailus-Durner V, Wagner M, Winter E, Vershon AK. Sum1 and Hst1 repress middle sporulation-specific gene expression during mitosis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J. 1999; 18(22):6448–6454. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.22.6448.
- Xu L, Ajimura M, Padmore R, Klein C, Kleckner N. NDT80, a meiosisspecific gene required for exit from pachytene in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15(12):6572–6581. doi:10.1128/MCB. 15.12.6572.
- Xu Z, Cetin B, Anger M, Cho US, Helmhart W, Nasmyth K, Xu W. Structure and function of the PP2A-shugoshin interaction. Mol Cell. 2009;35(4):426–441. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2009.06.031.
- Xu L, Kleckner N. Sequence non-specific double-strand breaks and interhomolog interactions prior to double-strand break formation at a meiotic recombination hot spot in yeast. EMBO J. 1995; 14(20):5115–5128. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00194.x.
- Xu L, Weiner BM, Kleckner N. Meiotic cells monitor the status of the interhomolog recombination complex. Genes Dev. 1997;11(1): 106–118. doi:10.1101/gad.11.1.106.
- Yamashita K, Shinohara M, Shinohara A. Rad6-Bre1-mediated histone H2B ubiquitylation modulates the formation of doublestrand breaks during meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004; 101(31):11380–11385. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400078101.
- Yang X, Song M, Wang Y, Tan T, Tian Z, Zhai B, Yang X, Tan Y, Cao Y, Dai S, et al. The ubiquitin-proteasome system regulates meiotic chromosome organization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2022; 119(17):e2106902119. doi:10.1073/pnas.2106902119.

- Yisehak L, MacQueen AJ. HO endonuclease-initiated recombination in yeast meiosis fails to promote homologous centromere pairing and is not constrained to utilize the Dmc1 recombinase. G3 (Bethesda). 2018;8(11):3637–3659. doi:10.1534/g3.118.200641.
- Yu H-G, Koshland DE. Meiotic condensin is required for proper chromosome compaction, SC assembly, and resolution of recombination-dependent chromosome linkages. J Cell Biol. 2003;163(5):937–947. doi:10.1083/jcb.200308027.
- Yu H-G, Koshland D. The Aurora kinase Ipl1 maintains the centromeric localization of PP2A to protect cohesin during meiosis. J Cell Biol. 2007;176(7):911–918. doi:10.1083/jcb.200609153.
- Zakharyevich K, Ma Y, Tang S, Hwang PY-H, Boiteux S, Hunter N. Temporally and biochemically distinct activities of Exo1 during meiosis: double-strand break resection and resolution of double Holliday junctions. Mol Cell. 2010;40(6):1001–1015. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2010.11.032.
- Zakharyevich K, Tang S, Ma Y, Hunter N. Delineation of joint molecule resolution pathways in meiosis identifies a crossover-specific resolvase. Cell. 2012;149(2):334–347. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.023.
- Zeng X, Saunders WS. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae centromere protein Slk19p is required for two successive divisions during meiosis. Genetics. 2000;155(2):577–587. doi:10.1093/genetics/155.2.577.
- Zenvirth D, Loidl J, Klein S, Arbel A, Shemesh R, Simchen G. Switching yeast from meiosis to mitosis: double-strand break repair, recombination and synaptonemal complex. Genes Cells. 1997;2(8):487–498. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2443.1997.1370335.x.
- Zhang L, Kim KP, Kleckner NE, Storlazzi A. Meiotic double-strand breaks occur once per pair of (sister) chromatids and, via Mec1/

ATR and Tel1/ATM, once per quartet of chromatids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(50):20036–20041. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1117937108.

- Zhang L, Wang S, Yin S, Hong S, Kim KP, Kleckner N. Topoisomerase II mediates meiotic crossover interference. Nature. 2014; 511(7511):551–556. doi:10.1038/nature13442.
- Zhu X, Keeney S. High-resolution global analysis of the influences of Bas1 and Ino4 transcription factors on meiotic DNA break distributions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 2015;201(2):525–542. doi:10.1534/genetics.115.178293.
- Zickler D, Kleckner N. The leptotene–zygotene transition of meiosis. Annu Rev Genet. 1998;32(1):619–697. doi:10.1146/annurev.genet. 32.1.619.
- Zickler D, Kleckner N. Meiotic chromosomes: integrating structure and function. Annu Rev Genet. 1999;33(1):603–754. doi:10.1146/ annurev.genet.33.1.603.
- Zierhut C, Berlinger M, Rupp C, Shinohara A, Klein F. Mnd1 is required for meiotic interhomolog repair. Curr Biol. 2004;14(9): 752–762. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.04.030.
- Ziesel A, Weng Q, Ahuja JS, Bhattacharya A, Dutta R, Cheng E, Börner GV, Lichten M, Hollingsworth NM. Rad51-mediated interhomolog recombination during budding yeast meiosis is promoted by the meiotic recombination checkpoint and the conserved Pif1 helicase. PLoS Genet. 2022;18(12):e1010407. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1010407.

Editor: R. Rothstein